The Role of Respiration in Supporting Cell Proliferation

by

Dan Y. Gui

B.S. Biological Science and Chemistry Stanford (2009)

MASSACHUSETTS INSTITUTE				
		JUN 07 2017		
	:	LIBRARIES		
•		ARCHIVES		

Submitted to the Department of Biology in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

at the

MASSACHUSETTS INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY

May 2017



Signature of the author	Signature redacted
	Department of Biology June 5, 2017
Cartified by	Signature redacted
	Matthew G. Vander Heiden Associate Professor of Biology A Thesis Supervisor
A	Signature redacted
Accepted by	
	Amy E. Keating
	Professor of Biology
	Co-Chair, Graduate Committee

.

.

The Role of Respiration in Supporting Cell Proliferation

by

Dan Y. Gui

Submitted to the Department of Biology on May 8, 2017 in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Biology

Abstract

Compared to non-proliferating cells, proliferating cells such as cancer cells have additional metabolic requirements for generating biomass. However, despite these additional requirements the components of the mammalian metabolic network in both proliferating and non-proliferating cells are largely the same. Thus, in order to balance the competing anabolic and catabolic needs of a proliferating cell, the same metabolic networks components must take on distinct roles. Understanding how the various network components support proliferation may lead to improvements in cancer therapy. It has long been known that mitochondrial respiration is essential for proliferation. However, the precise metabolic role that is filled by respiration is not well defined. This thesis focuses on understanding the role of respiration in supporting mammalian proliferation. In non-proliferating cells respiration is considered to be primarily an ATPproducing catabolic process. We find that in proliferating cells, respiration serves a crucial anabolic role by providing access to an electron acceptor in the form of molecular oxygen. Electron acceptor availability is required for maintaining NAD+/NADH homeostasis and supporting aspartate synthesis. In conditions where alternative electron acceptors are provided such that cells can maintain NAD+/NADH homeostasis through alternative pathways, or when exogenous aspartate is provided, respiration is dispensable for proliferation. These findings highlight that metabolic dependencies can be modified by environmental conditions. Consistent with this, we find that altering NAD+/NADH homeostasis through alternative pathways or providing exogenous aspartate can modulate cellular sensitivity to respiration inhibitors such as metformin. Collectively, these studies contribute to an understanding of how metabolism supports biomass generation for proliferation and offers insight to how metabolism could be targeted for cancer therapy.

Thesis supervisor: Matthew G. Vander Heiden Title: Associate Professor of Biology

Biographical Note

Education:

Stanford University, Stanford, CA Bachelor of Science in Biological Sciences and Chemistry, conferred with Honors and with Distinction 2005-2009

Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA Doctor of Medicine, 2010- (degree in progress)

Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA Doctor of Philosophy, 2011- (degree in progress)

Research Experience:

Vander Heiden Lab, Massachusetts Institute of Technology	2011-2017
Scott Lab, Stanford University	2006-2010

Honors and Awards:

-Gene Brown-Merck Teaching Award, MIT (2014)

-J.E. Wallace Sterling Award for Scholastic Achievement, Stanford University (2009)

-Merck Index Award, for the most outstanding student in chemistry, Stanford University, Department of Chemistry (2009)

-Fox Award, for the most outstanding student in biology, Stanford University, Department of Biology (2009)

-President's Award for Academic Excellence in the Freshman Year, Stanford University (2006)

-National Merit Scholar (2005)

-US President's Scholar Award nominee (2005)

Publications:

- <u>Gui, D.</u> Y.*, Lewis, C. A.* & Vander Heiden, M. G. Allosteric regulation of PKM2 allows cellular adaptation to different physiological states. *Sci. Signal.* 6, pe7 (2013).
 *These authors contributed equally to this work
- Hartl, T. A., Ni, J., Cao, J., Suyama, K. L., Patchett, S., Bussiere, C., <u>Gui, D. Y.</u>, Tang, S., Kaplan, D. D., Fish, M., Johnson, A. W. & Scott, M. P. Regulation of ribosome biogenesis by nucleostemin 3 promotes local and systemic growth in Drosophila. *Genetics* **194**, 101–115 (2013).
- Lewis, C. A., Parker, S. J., Fiske, B. P., McCloskey, D., <u>Gui, D.</u> Y., Green, C. R., Vokes, N. I., Feist, A. M., Vander Heiden, M. G. & Metallo, C. M. Tracing compartmentalized NADPH metabolism in the cytosol and mitochondria of mammalian cells. *Mol. Cell* 55, 253–263 (2014).

- Lunt, S. Y., Muralidhar, V., Hosios, A. M., Israelsen, W. J., <u>Gui, D. Y.</u>, Newhouse, L., Ogrodzinski, M., Hecht, V., Xu, K., Acevedo, P. N. M., Hollern, D. P., Bellinger, G., Dayton, T. L., Christen, S., Elia, I., Dinh, A. T., Stephanopoulos, G., Manalis, S. R., Yaffe, M. B., Andrechek, E. R., Fendt, S.-M. & Vander Heiden, M. G. Pyruvate kinase isoform expression alters nucleotide synthesis to impact cell proliferation. *Mol. Cell* **57**, 95–107 (2015).
- Kim, D., Fiske, B. P., Birsoy, K., Freinkman, E., Kami, K., Possemato, R. L., Chudnovsky, Y., Pacold, M. E., Chen, W. W., Cantor, J. R., Shelton, L. M., <u>Gui, D.</u> <u>Y.</u>, Kwon, M., Ramkissoon, S. H., Ligon, K. L., Kang, S. W., Snuderl, M., Vander Heiden, M. G. & Sabatini, D. M. SHMT2 drives glioma cell survival in ischaemia but imposes a dependence on glycine clearance. *Nature* **520**, 363–367 (2015).
- Yang, N. J., Liu, D. V., Sklaviadis, D., Gui, D. Y., Vander Heiden, M. G. & Wittrup, K. D. Antibody-mediated neutralization of perfringolysin o for intracellular protein delivery. *Mol. Pharm.* 12, 1992–2000 (2015).
- Sullivan, L. B.*, <u>Gui, D. Y.*</u>, Hosios, A. M., Bush, L. N., Freinkman, E. & Vander Heiden, M. G. Supporting Aspartate Biosynthesis Is an Essential Function of Respiration in Proliferating Cells. *Cell* 162, 552–563 (2015).
 *These authors contributed equally to this work
- 8. Hosios, A. M., Fiske, B. P., <u>Gui, D. Y.</u> & Vander Heiden, M. G. Lack of Evidence for PKM2 Protein Kinase Activity. *Mol. Cell* **59**, 850–857 (2015).
- Davidson, S. M., Papagiannakopoulos, T., Olenchock, B. A., Heyman, J. E., Keibler, M. A., Luengo, A., Bauer, M. R., Jha, A. K., O'Brien, J. P., Pierce, K. A., Gui, D. Y., Sullivan, L. B., Wasylenko, T. M., Subbaraj, L., Chin, C. R., Stephanopolous, G., Mott, B. T., Jacks, T., Clish, C. B. & Vander Heiden, M. G. Environment Impacts the Metabolic Dependencies of Ras-Driven Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. *Cell Metab.* 23, 517–528 (2016).
- <u>Gui, D.</u>Y.*, Sullivan, L. B.*, Luengo, A., Hosios, A. M., Bush, L. N., Gitego, N., Davidson, S. M., Freinkman, E., Thomas, C. J. & Vander Heiden, M. G. Environment Dictates Dependence on Mitochondrial Complex I for NAD+ and Aspartate Production and Determines Cancer Cell Sensitivity to Metformin. *Cell Metab.* 24, 716–727 (2016).

*These authors contributed equally to this work

11. Sullivan, L. B., <u>Gui</u>, <u>D.</u> Y. & Vander Heiden, M. G. Altered metabolite levels in cancer: implications for tumour biology and cancer therapy. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 16, 680–693 (2016).

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank all the people who have supported me during my studies. In particular I would like to thank my advisor, Matthew Vander Heiden, and all of the past and present members of the Vander Heiden lab. I would like to thank my committee members as well as all my many collaborators. Finally, I would like to dedicate this work to my parents, my aunt and uncle, and my wife.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	
BIOGRAPHICAL NOTE	4
CHAPTER 1: IDENTIFYING AND TARGETING METABOLIC REQUI	REMENTS
OF PROLIFERATION	
INTRODUCTION	11
ALTERED METABOLIC ENZYME EXPRESSION	15
Oncogenic mutations in isocitrate dehydrogenase	15
Glutamine metabolism is upregulated in some cancers	
Increased serine synthesis is a feature of many cancers	
FH and SDH loss in heritable cancer predispositions syndromes	22
Arginosuccinate synthase 1 expression changes	24
Metabolic collateral lethality	25
EMERGING METABOLIC TARGETS	27
Targeting de novo lipid synthesis	28
Differential requirements for NAD+/NADH homeostasis	30
Increased requirement for detoxification of reactive metabolites	33
LINEAGE AND ENVIRONMENT SPECIFIC VULNERABILITIES:	35
Differential utilization of amino acids	35
Asparagine auxotrophy in acute lymphoblastic leukemia	36
Inducing differentiation in myeloid cells	37
Non-tumor cells can influence tumor cell metabolism	38
Metabolic dependencies can be modulated by environment	39
WHAT DICTATES METABOLIC DEPENDENCIES:	40
REFERENCES	42
CHAPTER 2: SUPPORTING ASPARTATE BIOSYNTHESIS IS AN ES	SENTIAL
FUNCTION OF RESPIRATION IN PROLIFERATING CELLS	59
SUMMARY	60
GRADHICAL SUMMARY	61

RESULTS	64
Alpha-ketobutyrate can substitute for pyruvate to support proliferation in respi	iration-
incompetent cells	65
Inhibition of respiration causes auxotrophy for electron acceptors	69
Electron acceptor insufficiency causes inhibition of nucleotide biosynthesis	75
Aspartate synthesis is inhibited by electron acceptor insufficiency	
Aspartate restores proliferation in cells with electron acceptor insufficiency	81
EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURES	88
SUPPLEMENTAL FIGURES	94
REFERENCES	99
CHAPTER 3: ENVIRONMENT DICTATES DEPENDENCE ON	
MITOCHONDRIAL COMPLEX I FOR NAD+ AND ASPARTATE PRODUC	TION
AND DETERMINES CANCER CELL SENSITIVITY TO METFORMIN	104
SUMMARY	106
GRAPHICAL SUMMARY	107
INTRODUCTION	108
RESULTS	110
Pyruvate suppresses the anti-proliferative effects of complex I inhibition	110
Pyruvate modulates complex I dependency by providing an alternative pathw	ay for
NAD+ regeneration	114
Modulating pathways that alter NAD+/NADH homeostasis changes complex	1
dependency	119
Changes in NAD+/NADH ratio correlate with the anti-proliferative effects of	
metformin	123
Metformin treatment decreases NAD+ and aspartate levels in tumors and slo	ws
tumor growth	129
DISCUSSION	131
EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURES	134
SUPPLEMENTAL FIGURES	140
References	146
CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS	152
DISCUSSION	152

FUTURE DIRECTIONS		
Targeting respiration to limit electron acceptor and aspartate availability in vivo 154		
Interactions between de novo fatty acid synthesis, access to electron acceptors,		
and aspartate availability156		
Revisiting the Warburg Effect158		
CLOSING THOUGHTS		
REFERENCES		

Chapter 1: Identifying and targeting metabolic requirements of proliferation

Authors:

Dan Y. Gui^{1,3}, Alba Luengo^{1,3}, Matthew G. Vander Heiden^{1,2}

Affiliations:

¹The Koch Institute for Integrative Cancer Research and Department of Biology, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA 02139, USA ²Dana-Farber Cancer Institute, Boston, MA 02115, USA

³Co-first authors

This chapter is in submission at Cell Chemistry and Biology under the working title: Targeting Metabolism for Cancer Therapy

Introduction

In 1947, Sidney Farber, one of the fathers of modern chemotherapy, discovered that aminopterin could cause disease remission in children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia (Farber and Diamond, 1948). Aminopterin was the precursor of the currently used drugs methotrexate and pemetrexed, all of which are folate analogues that inhibit one-carbon transfer reactions required for de novo nucleotides synthesis. The early clinical success of antifolate drugs led to the development of an entire class of drugs termed 'antimetabolites.' These compounds are small molecules that resemble nucleotide metabolites and inhibit the activity of enzymes involved in nucleotide base synthesis. Notable examples include the purine analogues 6-mercaptopurine and 6thioguanine, which inhibit PRPP amidotransferase, the first enzyme in de novo purine biosynthesis, and have been successful in treating many cancers including childhood leukemia (Elion, 1989). The antipyrimidine 5-fluoruracil (5-FU) is a synthetic analogue of uridine and inhibits thymidylate synthase activity, limiting the availability of thymidine nucleotides. 5-FU and the related 5-FU prodrug capecitabine are among of the most widely used chemotherapies today and remain standard-of-care therapies for gastrointestinal cancers (Heidelberger et al., 1957; Wagner et al., 2006). Finally, the antimetabolite nucleoside analogues, including gemcitabine and cytarabine, are incorporated into DNA, inhibit DNA polymerases and are also commonly used as first line agents for treating select cancers.

The clinical success of antimetabolites for treating cancer is a result of the increased metabolic demand of neoplastic cells for nucleotide biosynthesis and DNA replication. However, nucleotide metabolism is only one of many metabolic dependencies altered to

support cancer proliferation. Indeed, more than thirty years preceding Farber's work on antifolates, Otto Warburg discovered that cancer cells consume tremendous amounts of glucose and metabolize the majority of the glucose into lactate, even in the presence of oxygen. This phenomenon is now referred to as aerobic glycolysis or the Warburg effect and is one of the most widely observed examples of the metabolic differences between cancer cells and normal non-proliferating tissue.

Proliferating cells have different metabolic requirements than non-proliferating cells. While non-proliferating cells have primarily catabolic demands to maintain cellular homeostasis, proliferating cells must balance the divergent catabolic and anabolic demands of sustaining cellular homeostasis while duplicating cell mass. To satisfy the metabolic requirements of macromolecule synthesis, the metabolism of cancer cells must be rewired from what is observed in the normal tissue from which cancer arises.

From a therapeutic perspective, the aberrant metabolism of proliferating cancer cells presents numerous potential opportunities, and there has been a growing interest in studying how best to target the metabolism of cancer (Galluzzi et al., 2013; Martinez-Outschoorn et al., 2017; Vander Heiden, 2011). Given that the Warburg effect represents one of the most striking metabolic difference of cancer relative to many normal tissues, substantial work has been dedicated to develop ways to target increased glycolysis, including efforts to inhibit lactate production and excretion. One example of a compound that can block glucose metabolism is 2-deoxyglucose. 2-deoxyglucose is phosphorylated by hexokinase, and because downstream glucose metabolism enzymes cannot metabolize the resulting product 2-deoxyglucose-6-phosphate, it accumulates in the cell and competitively inhibits hexokinase to slow glucose uptake. Numerous

preclinical studies have demonstrated the anti-proliferative effects of 2-deoxyglucose (Zhang et al., 2014). In fact, early clinical use of 2-deoxyglucose yielded responses in some patients, although the use this drug was limited by significant hypoglycemia symptoms (Landau et al., 1958). Use of 2-deoxyglucose at more tolerable doses was revisited in several more recent Phase I/II studies, however at lower doses, patients continued to have progressive disease. Unfortunately, the relative lack of success of 2-deoxyglucose has been echoed by most other attempts at directly targeting glucose to lactate conversion. Efforts to target glucose uptake or lactate production have found various levels of success in preclinical studies, but to-date, clinical success has been far more limited (Vander Heiden and DeBerardinis, 2017).

One area where high glucose uptake by cancer has been exploited for patient care is the use of fluro-deoxyglucose positron-emission-tomography (FDG-PET) imaging to stage cancers and assess response to therapy. Notably, many non-cancerous tissues including the brain are also FDG-PET avid, illustrating that high glucose uptake is not a unique feature of cancer tissue and offering a potential explanation for the relative lack of success of targeting glucose metabolism for cancer treatment. Doses of 2-deoxyglucose that are needed to limit cancer growth are not tolerated due to disruption of glucose metabolism in normal tissues dependent on high rates of glucose uptake to carry out their normal function. Indeed, dose limiting toxicities of 2-deoxyglucose treatment include hypoglycemia and cardiac conduction anomalies.

Unlike glycolysis, other metabolic pathways offer potentially more specific targets for proliferating cells. However, even specifically targeting only proliferative metabolism may not offer an adequate therapeutic window, since many nonmalignant cells, including

those in bone marrow, intestinal crypts, and hair follicles, are rapidly proliferating. Furthermore, the normal physiological proliferation rate of myeloid and gut cells in most cases is far more rapid than the proliferation rate of cancer cells (Vander Heiden and DeBerardinis, 2017). Prominent side effects of anti-metabolite chemotherapy are thought to be due to the destruction of normal proliferating cells, and myeloid suppression or GI toxicity are often the dose limiting toxicity for these drugs. In spite of this, antimetabolites are standard in many modern chemotherapy regimens that increase patient survival and, in some cases, help cure disease.

Altered response pathways to DNA damage is one explanation for why a therapeutic window exists for these antimetabolite drugs, despite the fact that cancer cells proliferate more slowly than cells in certain normal tissues. However, these drugs are only effective against a subset of cancer types. Many of the resistant cancers have the same mutational spectrum as sensitive cancers, and defining genetic predictors of chemotherapy response for most malignancies has been elusive. Thus, the fact that chemotherapies are clinically effective strongly suggests that there exists a metabolic therapeutic window beyond proliferation rate and response to DNA damage. While the precise mechanisms underlying the differential efficacies of existing antimetabolite therapies are unknown, it is clear that a better understanding of these and other metabolic therapeutic windows may lead to the development of more effective and selective cancer treatments. Here we discuss recent advances in cancer metabolism that have identified metabolic targets, which might be exploited for improved cancer therapy with enhanced therapeutic window.

Altered Metabolic Enzyme Expression

The expression of metabolic genes is frequently altered in cancer. Some changes in metabolic enzyme expression are the result of gene amplification or deletion, while others are downstream of growth signaling pathways or the consequence of epigenetic changes. The activity of some metabolic enzymes can also be affected by mutations that impair or alter metabolic enzyme function. Regardless of the underlying mechanism, alterations in metabolic enzyme activity present potential vulnerabilities that can be targeted for cancer therapy.

Oncogenic mutations in isocitrate dehydrogenase

Recurrent somatic point mutations in the genes coding for isocitrate dehydrogenase 1 and 2 (IDH1, IDH2) are found in a wide variety of cancers, including glioblastoma multiforme (GBM) (Yan et al., 2009) and acute myeloid leukemia (AML; Dang et al., 2016; Mardis et al., 2009). Cancers expressing mutant IDH represent a unique case in which a metabolic enzyme can act as an oncogene and contribute to tumor development. Wild-type IDH1 and IDH2 catalyze the reversible oxidative decarboxylation of isocitrate to alpha-ketoglutarate (α KG) and CO₂. However, cancer associated mutations in IDH1 and IDH2 confer a neomorphic catalytic activity to the enzyme that favors reduction of α KG to (D)-2-hydroxyglutarate (D-2HG) (Dang et al., 2009; Ward et al., 2010). Though D-2HG is found at low levels in normal cells, D-2HG can accumulate to millimolar levels in cancer cells that express mutant IDH. At these high concentrations, D-2HG can inhibit α KG-dependent dioxygenases, including enzymes involved in histone and DNA demethylation (Chowdhury et al., 2011; Koivunen et al., 2012; Xu et al., 2011).

Thus, D-2HG accumulation in cancer cells expressing mutant IDH results in hypermethylation of histones and CpG islands in DNA (Figueroa et al., 2010; Lu et al., 2012; Turcan et al., 2012). These epigenetic changes caused by D-2HG accumulation contribute to cancer phenotypes (Losman et al., 2013; Rohle et al., 2013; Saha et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2013), and have been proposed to promote oncogenesis by preventing normal cellular differentiation (Losman and Kaelin, 2013).

Pharmacological agents that inhibit mutant IDH1 and IDH2 enzyme activity are being developed. One of the first compounds reported is AGI-5198, which targets mutant IDH1. AGI-5198 reduces intratumoral D-2HG levels, induces expression of genes involved in glial cell differentiation and suppresses growth of IDH1-mutant human glioma cells in a xenograft model (Rohle et al., 2013). A specific inhibitor of mutant IDH2, AG-221, confers significant survival benefit in a mouse model of IDH2-mutant AML (Yen et al., 2017) and in 2014 became the first compound targeting mutant IDH to enter Phase I clinical trials. Early results in patients with IDH2-mutant AML have suggested AG-221 can provide clinical benefit (DiNardo et al., 2015), and this drug is also being evaluated in solid tumors. The mutant IDH1 inhibitors AG-120 and IDH305, as well as the panmutant IDH inhibitor AG-881 are also currently in Phase I/Phase II clinical trials to treat both hematologic malignancies and solid tumors and will further inform whether targeting mutant IDH is a successful strategy for controlling disease where mutations in IDH are prevalent.

Despite the preliminary success in some preclinical models and in patients with AML, IDH inhibitors may not be effective as single agents in all IDH-mutant cancers. For example, these drugs are unable to reverse epigenetic changes or inhibit tumor

proliferation in many models of IDH mutant glioma, despite a robust ability to lower 2-HG in cells and tumors (Tateishi et al., 2015; Turcan et al., 2013)). IDH1 mutations are early events in the development of glial cancer Watanabe 19246647, and accumulation of additional oncogenic mutations in glioblastoma may cause these tumors to be less dependent on mutant IDH1(Johnson et al., 2014; Wakimoto et al., 2014)). This has raised the possibility that in some cancers IDH mutations are more important for tumor initiation or early stage disease and not constitutively required for proliferation. Nevertheless, the presence of an IDH mutation and high levels of 2-HG might still drive dependencies on some pathways and introduce therapeutic vulnerability. For example, harboring an IDH mutation may render cells more sensitive to hypomethylation agents (Turcan et al., 2013), electron transport chain inhibitors (Grassian et al., 2014), depletion of the coenzyme NAD+ (Tateishi et al., 2015), and chemoradiotherapy (Cairncross et al., 2014). Other evidence suggests that targeting IDH mutational status may confer resistance to conventional therapy. For example, it has been shown that inhibition of mutant IDH1 might antagonize the effects of radiation therapy in glioma (Molenaar et al., 2015). Thus, testing whether combination therapies are synergistic or antagonistic with inhibition of mutant enzyme function will be important. Additionally, further efforts to identify synthetic lethal targets with IDH mutations are ongoing and can serve as an alternative therapy to direct targeting of mutant IDH.

Glutamine metabolism is upregulated in some cancers

Glutamine is a non-essential amino acid, and yet cancer cells proliferating *in vitro* consume glutamine far in excess of any other amino acid and are often dependent on

extracellular glutamine for survival (Jain et al., 2012). Glutamine is an important nitrogen donor for amino acids and nucleotides (Hosios et al., 2016), but glutamine uptake can exceed the nitrogen requirement of some cancer cells (DeBerardinis et al., 2007). Glutamine carbon has been found to contribute to aspartate, glutamate and TCA cycle metabolites via a process termed glutaminolysis (Altman et al., 2016). High rates of glutaminolysis have been proposed to support rapid proliferation by supplying precursors to low-flux biosynthetic pathways (Newsholme et al., 1985). Providing cells with α KG, oxaloacetate, or pyruvate is sufficient to rescue cancer cell proliferation and/or in conditions of glutamine starvation, confirming that glutamine supports proliferation by replenishing depleted TCA cycle intermediates (Altman et al., 2016; Yuneva et al., 2007).

Glutamine metabolism is upregulated downstream of various oncogenic signaling pathways (Altman et al., 2016). Among them, the MYC oncogene signaling pathway has one of the most-well characterized associations with increased glutamine metabolism. In certain contexts, MYC-transformed cancers become glutamine dependent and undergo apoptosis in the absence of glutamine (Yuneva et al., 2007). MYC has been found to increase mRNA and protein levels of glutamine transporters as well as expression of the enzyme glutaminase, which catalyzes the cleavage of glutamine to form glutamate, the first step in glutaminolysis (Gao et al., 2009; Wise et al., 2008). Glutamate is further converted to α KG, an anaplerotic TCA cycle intermediate (Moreadith and Lehninger, 1984). Importantly, inhibiting glutamine entry into the TCA cycle and was found to blunt tumor progression in a MYC-driven cancer model of hepatocellular carcinoma (Le et al., 2012; Gross et al., 2014; Xiang et al., 2015).

The dependence of cancer cells on glutamine has made glutaminolysis an attractive cancer therapy target (Altman et al., 2016; Vander Heiden, 2011). Clinical trials using glutamine analogues to treat cancers were initiated decades ago, but those trials were abandoned due to lack of efficacy and/or severe patient toxicity (Livingston et al., 1970). The absence of a therapeutic window for these studies can likely be attributed to fact that the drugs used were relatively non-specific and there is a panoply of glutamine utilizing enzymes that were likely affected. Current attempts to target glutaminolysis clinically have largely focused on inhibiting glutaminase. Mammals have two glutaminase genes, GLS and GLS2 and targeting the enzymes encoded by these genes with chemical inhibitors has been found to decrease cancer cell proliferation in both in vitro and in vivo models (Gross et al., 2014; Jacque et al., 2015; Xiang et al., 2015). One highly potent glutaminase inhibitor, CB-839, is currently in being evaluated in cancer trials in patients, although the exact disease context where glutaminase inhibition will be most effective remains an area of active investigation. There is also data that GLS2 activity can be tumor suppressive (Hu et al., 2010), underscoring the importance of defining the right patient population that is likely to benefit from glutaminase inhibition.

Increased serine synthesis is a feature of many cancers

Increased activity of de novo serine synthesis enzymes in cancer has been known for more than 30 years (Snell 1984, Snell 1988). More recently it was discovered that in some cancers increased expression of the serine synthesis enzyme phosphoglycerate dehydrogenase (PHGDH) is the result of copy number gain of a genetic region on

chromosome 1p (Beroukhim et al., 2010; Locasale et al., 2011; Possemato et al., 2011). Additionally, PHGDH can be overexpressed in certain tumors as a consequence of aberrant NRF2 or ATF4 signaling (DeNicola et al., 2015).

The PHGDH gene encodes the enzyme that catalyzes conversion of the glycolytic intermediate 3-phosphoglycerate into 3-phosphohydroxypyruvate, and 3-phosphohydroxypyruvate is converted to serine via two subsequent reactions. Increased *PHGDH* gene expression leads to increased production of serine from glucose and is associated with specific subsets of breast cancer and melanoma (Locasale et al., 2011; Possemato et al., 2011). While serine is present in plasma and can be taken up by cells via amino acid transporters, expression of PHGDH and increased serine biosynthesis have been shown to be important for supporting cancer cell proliferation and survival in both in vitro and in vivo settings (Locasale et al., 2011; Possemato et al., 2011).

Why some cancers are dependent on increased serine synthesis is unknown, but increased flux through this pathway may serve to maintain adequate intracellular serine levels. Serine is an amino acid, and thus is required for protein synthesis, but serine can also support many other important critical metabolic processes including synthesis of glycine, glutathione, and phospholipids. With respect to proliferating cells such as cancer, serine is the primary carbon donor to the tetrahydrofolate (THF) cycle, which is required for both purine and pyrimidine nucleotide biosynthesis. Serine can also contribute to NADPH production via the folate cycle, which serves to maintain redox homeostasis and support reductive anabolic reactions (Fan et al., 2014; Lewis et al., 2014). Additionally, emerging work suggests that serine synthesis may

be particularly important for maintenance of redox homeostasis during metastasis (Piskounova et al., 2015).

Given the requirements of cancer cells for high levels of intracellular serine, there have been efforts to target de novo serine synthesis for cancer therapy. Functional PHGDH loss is selectively toxic to tumor cells with PHGDH amplification or high serine biosynthetic flux (Possemato et al., 2011; Locasale et al., 2011; Mattaini et al., 2015), and small-molecule inhibitors targeting PHGHDH have been shown to inhibit serine synthesis and tumor proliferation in xenograft cancer models (Pacold et al., 2016). However, de novo serine synthesis also has an important physiological role in the central nervous system (Hirabayashi and Furuya, 2008). Thus, compounds that with decreased distribution in the brain may have a better therapeutic index.

While some tumors exhibit high rates of serine synthesis, others are dependent on uptake of environmental serine (Jain et al., 2012; Maddocks et al., 2013), and limiting plasma serine availability can be beneficial for patients with these cancers. Removing serine from culture media limits incorporation of one-carbon units into nucleotides and impairs proliferation (Labuschagne et al., 2014). Additionally, serine deprivation by dietary restriction is sufficient to slow growth of both xenograft (Maddocks et al., 2013; Gravel et al., 2014), and autochthonous models of cancer, although efficacy of serine deprivation appears to be influence by both the oncogenic driver mutation and tissue context. Combining serine restriction with other drugs might also potentiate antitumor responses (Gravel et al., 2014; Maddocks et al., 2013). Further understanding the roles of de novo serine synthesis and serine uptake in different tumor contexts can yield important insights into how to target serine metabolism for the benefit of cancer patients.

FH and SDH loss in heritable cancer predispositions syndromes

In addition to genetic events that increase metabolic enzyme expression, some cancers select for deletion of metabolic enzymes that promote tumor growth. Familial cancer syndromes are caused by deletion of fumarate hydratase (FH) or succinate dehydrogenase (SDH), suggesting that these TCA enzymes can behave as classical tumor suppressors. Affected families inherit one defective copy of either FH or SDH, and develop an aggressive form of cancer upon loss of heterozygosity (Baysal et al., 2000; Tomlinson et al., 2002). Loss of FH activity and SDH activity results in disruption of the TCA cycle and accumulation of very high concentrations of fumarate or succinate, respectively. Like D-2HG, further and succinate accumulation can inhibit select α KGdependent dioxygenases resulting in hypermethylation of DNA and histones in tumors with loss of FH or SDH (Hoekstra et al., 2015; Letouze et al., 2013; Xiao et al., 2012). Additionally, succinate and fumarate inhibit the prolyl hydroxylase domain-containing (PHD) enzymes that regulate stability of hypoxia-inducible factors (HIFs), such that the hypoxic gene expression program is active in FH and SDH deficient cancers even under normoxic conditions (Hewitson et al., 2007; Pollard et al., 2005; Selak et al., 2005). Both the epigenetic changes and HIF activation can contribute to tumor initiation and progression in these cancers.

Loss of FH and SDH results in changes in cell metabolism that introduces vulnerabilities that may be amenable to therapeutic targeting. *In silico* modeling of metabolic networks suggests that FH-null cells can upregulate heme metabolism to enable their survival (Frezza et al., 2011). The heme biosynthesis pathway uses succinyl-CoA to generate

heme, which can be degraded to bilirubin and excreted from cells, allowing cells to dispose of excess TCA cycle carbon. Thus, FH-null cells may upregulate heme metabolism as a mechanism to generate NADH and deplete TCA intermediates that accumulate upon FH loss. Consequently, FH deletion renders mouse and human cells more sensitive to genetic and pharmacological inhibition of heme oxygenase 1 (Hmox1), an enzyme involved in heme degradation.

Another potentially targetable metabolic liability of renal cell cancers (RCC) that have lost FH expression is a dependence on exogenous arginine. The high levels of fumarate resulting from FH deficiency drives arginosuccinate lyase (ASL) and arginosuccinate synthase (ASS1) in a direction that reverses the arginine synthesis pathways and consumes arginine. Depletion of intracellular arginine causes these cells to become arginine auxotrophs (Adam et al., 2013; Zheng et al., 2013), and therapies that deplete exogenous arginine may be effective against malignancies where FH is lost (Phillips et al., 2013).

Loss of SDH also results in TCA cycle dysfunction, leading to the accumulation of succinate and depletion of aspartate, fumarate, citrate, and malate. In this context, aspartate cannot be synthesized from glutamine or other sources of aKG, and aspartate production is dependent on pyruvate carboxylase (PC) activity. PC catalyzes carboxylation of pyruvate to oxaloacetate, which can then undergo transamination to form aspartate. To cope with TCA cycle truncation and synthesize aspartate, SDH defective cells upregulate PC protein expression in culture and in tumors to synthesize aspartate from glucose (Cardaci et al., 2015; Lussey-Lepoutre et al., 2015). Ablation of

PC impairs the ability of SDH-deficient cells to proliferate and to form tumors, and thus targeting PC might be a liability that can be exploited to treat these types of cancers.

Arginosuccinate synthase 1 expression changes

Somatic loss of metabolic enzyme expression may be selected for in other tumor types. For example, some melanoma, lymphoma, glioma, and prostate cancers reduce or lose the expression of the urea cycle enzyme arginosuccinate synthase 1 (ASS1) (Delage et al., 2010). As noted above, ASS1 is involved in arginine synthesis, catalyzing the conversion of citrulline and aspartate to arginine and urea. One advantage to genetic or epigenetic silencing of ASS1 expression in tumor cells is conservation of aspartate (Rabinovich et al., 2015) which can be a critical output of the TCA cycle to support *de novo* nucleotide synthesis and cell proliferation (Sullivan et al., 2015).

A potential liability of ASS1 deficient cancers is that, like FH null cancers, they are unable to synthesize arginine de novo. As functional arginine auxotrophs, these cells are reliant on exogenous arginine for proliferation and survival and may be sensitive to therapies that lower arginine availability. Arginine deiminase (ADI) is a microbial enzyme that catabolizes arginine and can be used deplete extracellular arginine levels. Recombinant pegylated arginine deiminiase (ADI-PEG20) has been tested in phase I/II clinical trials to treat melanoma and hepatocellular carcinoma with some therapeutic benefit (Ascierto et al., 2005; Izzo et al., 2004; Szlosarek et al., 2013; Ott et al., 2013; Yang et al., 2010). However, the use of arginine-catabolizing enzymes may not be an effective therapeutic strategy against all ASS1-deficient cancer, as some ADI-treated

tumors have been found to re-express ASS1 (Feun et al., 2012; Long et al., 2013; Shen et al., 2003). Whether some tumors are more dependent on loss of ASS1 expression to proliferate is an area of active investigation as these may be more responsive to arginine depleting drugs. The combination of arginine depletion with other therapies might also limit resistance, and the identification of synthetic lethality targets with ASS1-loss is another approach being evaluated to increase the clinical efficacy of therapies that lower circulating levels of arginine (Bean et al., 2016; Locke et al., 2016; Kremer et al., 2017).

Metabolic collateral lethality

Loss of metabolic enzyme expression can also occur as a passenger event. For example, genomic deletions leading to loss of tumor suppressor genes can also lead to loss of adjacent non-essential metabolic genes. Because cells often exhibit redundancy in essential pathways, this phenomenon can limit redundancy in cancer cells and present a therapeutic opportunity. This loss of redundancy leading to a vulnerability has been termed collateral lethality (Muller et al., 2015). Recently, it has been determined that pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC) cells exhibiting homozygous deletion of the tumor suppressor SMAD4 often lose malic enzyme 2 (ME2) expression due to the chromosomal proximity of the two genes. Targeting the malic enzyme 3 (ME3) isoform was found to impair tumor proliferation of PDAC xenografts that lacked ME2 expression, but had no effect on tumors with intact ME2 (Dey et al., 2017) . Similarly, the gene encoding enolase 1 (ENO1) is on the tumor-suppressor locus 1p36, and is homozygously deleted in 1-5% of glioblastoma cancers (GBM). Knockdown of enolase 2 (ENO2) in ENO1-null GBM cells resulted in significant inhibition of proliferation and intracranial tumorigenesis, whereas ENO1 expressing cancer cells were insensitive to

ENO2 ablation. Furthermore, ENO1 loss results in extreme sensitivity to the pan-enolase inhibitor phonoactohydroxamate (PHAH) (Muller et al., 2012). In both examples, decreased metabolic enzyme redundancy rendered the cells dependent on a specific isoform of an enzyme that could be selectively targeted. It also decreases the basal enzyme activity to catalyze a specific step in a metabolic pathway, thereby lowering the threshold for toxicity to targeting that enzyme.

Passenger deletion of metabolic genes can introduce vulnerabilities involving other pathways as well. Deletion of the tumor suppressor CDKN2A results in concomitant deletion of the methionine salvage pathway enzyme methylthioadenosine phosphorylase (MTAP) in many cancers, including 53% of glioblastomas and 26% of pancreatic cancers (Mavrakis et al., 2016). MTAP cleaves methylthioadenosine (MTA), a product of polyamine biosynthesis, into 5-methylthioribose-1-phosphate and adenine, which are further metabolized to methionine and adenosine monophosphate (AMP), respectively. MTAP deficient cells are more reliant on *de novo* purine biosynthesis to generate AMP. since they are unable to cleave MTA to salvage adenine, and MTAP loss makes cells more susceptible to inhibitors of purine biosynthesis as well as to methionine depletion (Hori et al., 1996). Co-administration of MTA with toxic adenosine analogues has been shown to be selectively lethal to MTAP deficient cancer cells, since MTAP expressing normal tissues are able to convert MTA to adenine to competitively inhibit the effects of toxic adenine analogues (Lubin and Lubin, 2009). L-alanosine inhibits conversion of inosine monophosphate (IMP) to AMP and has shown selective toxicity towards MTAPnull cancer cells (Batova et al., 1999; Efferth et al., 2002; Harasawa et al., 2002), but was found in a phase II trial to be clinically ineffective in patients with advanced MTAPdeficient tumors (Kindler et al., 2009). Pharmacokinetic analyses confirming successful

purine biosynthesis inhibition by doses of L-analosine used in the study were not reported, so further exploration of why this approach failed my yield insight into how to exploit MTAP deficiency to treat cancer.

Loss of MTAP expression can result in another vulnerability for cancer cells because the MTA that accumulates following MTAP loss can act as a potent and selective inhibitor of the enzyme arginine methyltransferase 5 (PRMT5). MTAP loss results in reduced PRMT5 activity and makes MTAP-null cancer cell more sensitive to PRMT5 depletion than isogenic counterparts that express MTAP (Kryukov et al., 2016; Marjon et al., 2016; Mavrakis et al., 2016). Additionally, ablation of methionine adenosyltransferase II alpha (MAT2A), the enzyme that produces the canonical and high-affinity PRMT5 substrate, S-adenosylmethionine (SAM), also reduces PRMT5-dependent methylation and proliferation in MTAP-deleted cancer cells (Marjon et al., 2016). However, PRMT5 inhibitors that are in current clinical trials are not effective in MTAP null cancers, in part because the high levels of MTA in these cells compete for binding of the inhibitors to the enzyme. Future studies will better define whether reducing PRMT5 activity using drugs that act via a different mechanism could be used as effective treatments in tumors where MTAP is co-deleted with CDKN2A.

Emerging Metabolic Targets

Numerous metabolic differences between cancer cells and normal cells have been described, and many present opportunities for therapeutic intervention. Some recent examples to illustrate how metabolism might be exploited for therapy are highlighted, but many other targets have been proposed and are discussed elsewhere (Galluzzi et al., 2013; Martinez-Outschoorn et al., 2017).

Targeting de novo lipid synthesis

Several lines of evidence suggest that targeting de novo fatty acid synthesis might be effective in some cancers. Fatty acids are a key component of cell membranes and can also act as energy storage or signaling molecules. Medes et al. first discovered in the 1950s that tumors are able to synthesize lipids, and a subsequent study determined that the large majority of lipids in tumors cells are synthesized de novo, rather than generated by other lipogenic tissues and transported to the cancer (Medes et al., 1953; Ookhtens et al., 1984). Since then, numerous studies have identified de novo fatty acid biosynthesis as a key metabolic requirement for some cancers, and it has been dubbed by some as a distinct metabolic "hallmark of the transformed phenotype." Under normal physiological conditions, adult tissues other than the liver, adipose tissue, and lactating breast generally do not de novo synthesize fatty acids. Thus, inhibition of de novo fatty acid synthesis might have relatively minimal effects on normal tissues, since most tissues do not rely on this pathway.

Fatty acid synthesis is a multi-step process that primarily occurs in the cytosolic compartment of the cell. First, acetyl-CoA groups are converted to malonyl-CoA via the enzyme acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACC). Next, the multidomain enzyme fatty acid

synthase (FASN) generates a fatty acid chain by catalyzing the serial condensation of malonyl-CoA followed by desaturation of the double bonds to produce fatty acids, primarily palmitate. Of note, while synthesis of the fatty acid chain occurs in the cytosol, production of cytosolic acetyl-CoA from glucose involves first producing citrate in the mitochondria, which must be exported out of the mitochondria and cleaved by cytosolic ATP-citrate lyase (ACLY) to regenerate acetyl-CoA and oxaloacetate. Recent work suggests that under certain contexts some cancers may also be able to generate acetyl-CoA from free cytosolic acetate (Kamphorst et al., 2014; Mashimo et al., 2014; Gao et al., 2016), however, acetate is not always abundant in blood and in some cells acetate is not the predominate source of acetyl-CoA used for bulk fatty acid synthesis (Hosios and Vander Heiden, 2014). Nevertheless, some cancers are dependent on expression of ACSS2, the enzyme that allows cells to scavenge acetyl-coA from acetate, and this represents a potential therapeutic target for some cancers.

Numerous strategies for targeting fatty acid synthesis have been attempted. The primary approaches have focused on limiting the availability of cytosolic acetyl-CoA via inhibition of ACLY as well as direct targeting of the enzymes ACC and FASN that are used in fatty acid synthesis. Targeting ACLY genetically or chemically prevents xenograft tumor formation and proliferation (Bauer et al., 2005), (Hatzivassiliou et al., 2005). Genetic knockdown of ACC induces apoptosis in cancer cell lines (Brusselmans et al., 2005; Chajes et al., 2006), and a recently identified allosteric inhibitor of ACC, ND-646, has shown antitumor efficacy in autochthonous lung tumor mouse models (Svensson et al., 2016). The compound TVB-2640 is the first compound targeting FASN to enter clinical trials, and when combined with paclitaxel, treatment resulted in some cases of partial responses or prolonged stable disease.

Differential requirements for NAD+/NADH homeostasis

Warburg's observation that cancer cells have dramatically increased glucose consumption and lactate production, even in the presence of oxygen, led him to initially hypothesize that cancer cells have diminished mitochondrial function (Warburg et al., 1956). However, subsequent work found that despite engaging in aerobic glycolysis, cancer cells consume oxygen at levels comparable to normal tissue (Weinhouse et al., 1956; Zu et al., 2004). Moreover, exposing cancer cells to respiration inhibitors blocks proliferation, suggesting that most cancer cells require respiration in order to proliferate (Harris et al., 1980; Howeli and Sager, 1979; Kroll et al., 1983; Loffer et al., 1982). Respiration is also needed to form tumors, as tumor cells with genetic impairment of oxidative phosphorylation due to depletion of mitochondrial DNA exhibit increased tumor latency upon subcutaneous transplantation. In fact, cells derived from these tumors acquire host mtDNA to regain the ability to do respiration, providing compelling evidence that respiration is required and strongly selected for tumorigenesis (Tan et al., 2015a).

Despite the ability of respiration inhibitors to block proliferation, on the surface respiration would not appear to be a promising therapeutic target. Because most cells in the body generate ATP via respiration targeting respiration might be expected to be highly toxic with a limited therapeutic window. However, metformin, one of the commonly prescribed drugs in the clinic for treating type II diabetes is very safe and acts as a mitochondrial complex I inhibitor blocking respiration (Bridges et al., 2014; El-Mir et al., 2014; Owen et al., 2000; Wheaton et al., 2014). Furthermore, retrospective clinical studies have revealed that metformin use is associated with improved cancer outcomes, with

reductions in cancer incidence and decreased cancer mortality (Evans et al., 2005; Gandini et al., 2014; Lee et al., 2012). Additionally, metformin can cooperate with neoadjuvant chemotherapy to increase pathological complete responses in patients undergoing surgery for breast cancer (Jiralerspong et al., 2009). The anti-tumorigenic properties of metformin and other biguanides have since been modeled in various mouse models of cancer (Buzzai et al., 2007; Huang et al., 2008; Shackelford et al., 2013; Wheaton et al., 2014), although the precise mechanism of metformin remains controversial (Luengo et al., 2014), recent work has further shown that the antitumorigenic effect of metformin can at least be partially accounted for by its action at complex I inhibiting (Wheaton et al., 2014; Gui et al., 2016). Consistent with complex I being a viable anti-tumor target, other complex I inhibitors have shown efficacy as antitumor agents (Schockel et al., 2015), and may show selective toxicity against oncogeneablation resistant cells (Viale et al., 2014) and cancer stem cells (Sancho et al., 2015). Due to the promising early clinical results from metformin, developing other complex I inhibitors is currently an area of active research (Bastian et al., 2017). Other compounds targeting respiration or mitochondrial metabolism, including the lipoic acid derivative CPI-613, are also being assessed in clinical trials (Lycan et al., 2016; Pardee et al., 2014).

Recent work studying the role of respiration in supporting proliferation has shed some light as to why there may exist a potential therapeutic window in treating tumors with respiration inhibitors. Mitochondria are typically viewed as the powerhouse of the cell, and respiration is typically considered primarily an ATP-producing catabolic process. However, in proliferating cells the ATP-producing function of respiration appears dispensable for supporting proliferation (Sullivan et al., 2015; Birsoy et al., 2015; Titov et al., 2016). Instead, respiration serves an alternative anabolic role for proliferating cells by

providing access to electron acceptors in order to regenerate the oxidized form of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD+), from the reduced form (NADH) (Sullivan et al., 2015; Birsoy et al., 2015; Titov et al., 2016). The specific of this topic investigated in depth in chapter 2 of this thesis. Maintenance of intracellular NAD+ is required for many cellular processes, including protein deacetylation, ADP ribosylation and calcium signalling (Chiarugi et al., 2012). Additionally, NAD+ serves as a critical redox cofactor required to generate oxidized molecules, such as nucleotides, for biomass accumulation. Proliferating cells often require a high NAD+/NADH ratio in order to support anabolic reactions, and in some contexts the NAD+/NADH ratio directly correlates with proliferation rate (Gui et al., 2016). Importantly, for catabolic ATP production the NAD+/NADH ratio inversely correlates with energy charge, meaning low NAD+/NADH ratio favors ATP production. Thus, one possible explanation for the potential therapeutic window of respiration inhibitors in targeting cancer is that the NAD+/NADH ratio regime required for proliferation is distinct from that which is required to maintain ATP production.

Targeting NAD+ synthesis could be another mechanism to limit NAD+ pools and target proliferative metabolism. NAD+ is produced via multiple synthesis and salvage pathways and can utilize nicotinamide, nicotinic acid, or tryptophan as a nutrient precursor. A major source of NAD+ in proliferating cells is salvage from nicotinamide, and the rate-limiting enzyme in this pathway is NAMPT. NAMPT has been found to be highly expressed in tumors arising in diverse tissues, and small-molecules targeting NAMPT have been effective anti-tumor agents in vitro and in xenograft models of cancer (Nahimana et al., 2009; Tan et al., 2015b; Watson et al., 2009). In clinical trials, use of these inhibitors as single agents has not resulted tumor remission (von Heideman et al., 2010), but

additional studies may uncover how best to safely use these drugs and help patients. For example, NAMPT inhibitors may be more effective in contexts of MYCN-amplified glioblastoma (Tateishi et al., 2016) or when used in combination with other drugs known to deplete NAD+ pools (Bajrami et al., 2012; Chan et al., 2014).

Increased requirement for detoxification of reactive metabolites

Beyond their well-characterized canonical activity, some metabolic enzymes can generate so-called by-products or error products of metabolism. These metabolites can be formed enzymatically or by non-enzymatic chemical reactions due to the intrinsic reactivity of certain metabolic intermediates. Some of these by-products, including reactive oxygen species and methylglyoxal, are themselves chemically unstable and, thus, have been described as "reactive metabolites". Reactive metabolites can covalently modify both amino acids and nucleic acids. At high levels, these reactive metabolites become toxic and can eventually kill cells due to the resulting accumulated damage to the proteome and genome. In order to prevent the accumulation of excess reactive metabolites, cells rely on several pathways to prevent damage.

Glutathione, a cysteine containing tripeptide, plays a crucial role in many of these detoxification pathways. Glutathione is one of the most abundant metabolites in the cell and is able to buffer the level of reactive metabolites by serving as an abundant substrate for electrophilic attack with its nucleophilic sulfhydryl group. These reactions typically result in the formation of a glutathione dimer or a glutathione adduct. These

initial products generally then serve as substrates for various detoxification enzymes, which cleave the adducts to yield less reactive byproducts and regenerate glutathione. For example, methylglyoxal can be generated from intermediates in glucose or glycine metabolism, and accumulation of methylglyoxal can be a liability for glioma progression (Kim et al., 2015). In the methylglyoxal detoxification pathway, methylglyoxal spontaneously reacts with glutathione to form glutathione-methylglyoxal hemiacetal. Subsequently, glyoxylase 1 (GLO1) isomerizes the initial glutathione adduct to form S-D-lactoyl-glutathione, which is then cleaved by glyoxylase 2 (GLO2), to produce D-lactate and regenerate glutathione (Sousa Silva et al., 2013). Glo1 has been described as a metabolic oncogene (Hosoda et al., 2015), and chemical inhibition of GLO1 has been shown to inhibit cancer cell proliferation in both in vitro and in vivo models (Sakamoto et al., 2001).

Cancer cells generally have increased levels of reactive metabolites (Sullivan et al., 2016; DeBerardinis et al., 2016). While the increased levels of reactive metabolites have been described to support oncogenesis in certain contexts, it also leads to a greater dependence on reactive metabolite detoxification pathways to prevent accumulation of excess cellular damage. Disruption of these detoxification pathways is predicted to have a more deleterious effect on cancer cells than normal cells, and thus serves as a potential targetable metabolic liability.

Detoxification pathways can be disrupted by selective inhibition of enzymes that are involved in the detoxification of specific reactive metabolites. An alternative strategy for disrupting detoxification pathways is to target the synthesis or utilization of glutathione itself. Several small-molecule screens for drugs that selectively kill transformed cells

have identified compounds, which decrease glutathione levels. Additionally, most cancer cells are auxotrophic for cysteine, the key reactive residue of glutathione. Thus, lowering whole body cysteine levels with bacterial cysteineases is another potential approach to inhibiting glutathione synthesis that is currently in clinical trial.

Lineage and Environment Specific Vulnerabilities:

Analysis of human metabolic gene expression across different cancer types found that metabolic enzymes are heterogeneous across tumors, and there is no universal metabolic transformation common to all cancers. In fact, tumors retain many features that correspond to their parental normal tissue (Gaude and Frezza, 2016; Hu et al., 2013). It is not known whether this effect is a result of the rigidity of lineage specific metabolic expression programs or the similar local microenvironment experienced by the tumor and normal tissue. In any event, these analyses suggest that metabolic vulnerabilities may not be universal across all cancers. Importantly, this highlights the possibility that some metabolic dependencies of cancer may be modulated by the environment or defined by tumor lineage.

Differential utilization of amino acids

Acquisition of amino acids is an important biosynthetic requirement for cancer cells to support their rapid proliferation (Hosios et al., 2016). How cells acquire amino acids can vary according to cell type and environment (Mayers et al., 2016), and therefore targeting amino acid metabolism could potentially offer a large therapeutic window for

cancer treatment. Recently, it has been determined that mouse lung and pancreatic tumors exhibit differences in amino acid metabolism, even when harboring the same genetic lesion (Mayers et al., 2016). Lung tumors support their nitrogen requirement by catabolizing free branch chain amino acids (BCAA), whereas pancreatic tumors expressing the same driver mutation do not. Interestingly, targeting BCAA transaminases inhibits xenograft tumor formation of cell lines derived from lung tumors but not of those derived from pancreatic tumors, suggesting that the dependence branch chain amino acid catabolism is determined by cell lineage rather than tumor site (Mayers et al., 2016). These observations suggest that tissue of origin can have important implications for metabolic requirements and vulnerabilities.

Asparagine auxotrophy in acute lymphoblastic leukemia

Though non-essential amino acids are often synthesized in excess of biosynthetic demand, in some contexts depletion of these nutrients results in impaired proliferation. Acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) and related lymphomas are auxotrophic for asparagine. Bacterial L-asparaginase deamidates asparagine to aspartic acid, thereby limiting the availability of asparagine for cancer cells. L-asparaginase and has been found to be highly effective in the treatment of ALL and is now a standard part of the chemotherapy regimen for this disease.

Though the mechanism of asparagine auxotrophy in ALL cells was assumed to be genetically defined, studies have shown that clinical response to L-asparaginase treatment is independent of expression levels of asparagine synthase (ASNS), the enzyme that converts glutamine to asparagine (Stams et al., 2003; Appel et al., 2006). In
fact, genome-wide analysis has shown that there is no consistent expression pattern that dictates sensitivity to L-asparaginase (Fine et al., 2005). The absence of a genetic driver for asparagine auxotrophy, combined with the fact that L-asparaginase has had little clinical utility outside of the context of ALL, suggests that this metabolic vulnerability may be lineage dependent.

Inducing differentiation in myeloid cells

A common feature of acute myeloid leukemia (AML) is that leukemic myeloblasts arrest at an immature stage of differentiation. This differentiation blockade is a hallmark of AML even though there are multiple driver mutations for this disease. Inhibitors of mutant IDH1 or IDH2 have been shown to induce differentiation in AML cells harboring mutant IDH (Okoye-Okafor et al., 2015). The transcription factor HoxA9 is overexpressed in 70% of AML cases, and overexpression of this transcription factor alone is sufficient to immortalize myeloid cells in derived from murine bone marrow (Ayton and Cleary, 2003) (Golub et al., 1999; Kroon et al., 1998). Recently, a phenotypic screen performed myeloid cells with HoxA9-enforced differentiation arrest found that compounds targeting dihydroorotate dehydrogenase (DHODH), an enzyme in the pyrimidine biosynthesis pathway, were able to induce differentiation (Sykes et al., 2016). Inhibition of DHODH renders cells unable to synthesize uridine de novo, and results in depletion of uridine and downstream metabolites. Providing immortalized bone marrow cells with extracellular uridine permits uridine salvage and is sufficient to maintain myeloid arrest, even in the presence of compounds targeting DHODH. Treatment with brequinar sodium (BRQ), an inhibitor of DHODH that is approved to treat autoimmune disease, is able to overcome myeloid differentiation blockade, and reduces leukemic cell burden in patient-

derived xenografts and syngeneic mouse models of diverse genetic subtypes. BRQ has previously been evaluated to treat advanced solid tumors but was not shown to be effective in clinical trials (Arteaga et al., 1989; Noe et al., 1990; Peters et al., 1990)). However, the effect of BRQ on patients with hematologic malignancies has not yet been evaluated. Future trials will determine whether targeting DHODH could exploit a cell lineage-dependent liability in myeloid-derived cancers.

Non-tumor cells can influence tumor cell metabolism

Metabolic symbiosis likely exists between tumor cells and the surrounding stroma, and this interaction could also contribute to tumor growth and proliferation in a way that might be exploited for therapy. Typically, lactate is excreted at high rates by tumor cells, but lactate has also been described as an oxidative substrate for some cancers. It has been reported that lactate produced by cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs) can enter the TCA cycle of cancer cells(Bonuccelli et al., 2014), and lactate produced in hypoxic regions of a tumor can fuel respiration in well-oxygenated tumor cells (Sonveaux et al., 2008; Kennedy et al., 2013). Intraoperative isotopically-labeled glucose infusions performed on non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) patients revealed higher labeled carbon in TCA intermediates than glycolytic intermediates in tumors, but not in normal lung, leading the authors to conclude that lactate could serve as an anaplerotic substrate in this context as well (Hensley et al., 2016). Lactate utilization by tumors is dependent on monocarboxylate transporters (MCTs), which are highly expressed in a wide variety of tumors (Pinheiro et al., 2012), and compounds targeting MCT are currently being evaluated for antitumor efficacy (Marchig and Pouyssegur, 2016).

Alanine is rarely limiting for proliferation, as cancer cells typically excrete alanine, rather than consume it (DeBerardinis et al., 2007; Jain et al., 2012: Hosios et al., 2016). However, in some contexts alanine may not be synthesized in excess of the proliferation requirements of cells. Pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC) cells can consume alanine produced by pancreatic stellate cells *in vitro*, and the secreted alanine appears to help promote tumor cell proliferation and survival under nutrient-limited conditions (Sousa et al., 2016). An improved understanding of the interaction between PDAC tumors and stroma can help determine what the metabolic limitations of pancreatic tumor growth are and guide target selection to exploit this symbiotic relationship for therapy.

Metabolic dependencies can be modulated by environment

The ability of a given drug to inhibit its protein target is often used as a proxy for the efficacy and potency of the drug to treat disease. However, when targeting metabolism, it is important to recognize that metabolic dependencies of cells can be influenced by environment and differences in nutrient availability may contribute to sensitivity and resistance of cancer cells to some drugs. For example, while the glutaminase protein is expressed in most cancers, targeting glutaminase is not an effective cancer therapy in all contexts. Glutamine tracing studies have demonstrated that in some tumor tissues, glutamine contributes minimally to TCA cycle intermediates and those cancers can be resistant to glutaminolysis inhibition (Marin-Valencia et al., 2012). Importantly, cell lines derived from resistant lung tumors become sensitive to glutaminase inhibition in vitro, highlighting that environment must be a contributor to glutaminase sensitivity (Davidson et al., 2016). What factors determine the differential use of glutamine in different

environments remains an active question, but at least one factor that influences glutamine utilization appears to be environmental amino acid levels.

Another example where inhibition of the metabolic protein target fails to predict biologic efficacy is targeting redox homeostasis with the drug metformin. Recently, it has been shown that the environmental context can decouple the biological effect of decreased proliferation from inhibition of complex I (Gui et al., 2016). In fact, despite evidence arguing complex I is the relevant target of metformin to inhibit tumor growth (Wheaton et al., 2014), inhibition of complex I activity can be a poor predictor of the anti-proliferative effects of metformin (Gui et al., 2016). Furthermore, altering the culture media conditions is sufficient to change the effective anti-proliferative effect of metformin, again highlighting the importance of environment in modulating metabolic dependencies. A detailed investigation of how metformin sensitivity is modulated by the environment is described in chapter 3 of this thesis.

What Dictates Metabolic Dependencies:

One of the biggest hurdles for drug development is identifying the patients who are most likely to respond to a given therapy. With the recent success of some targeted cancer therapies, it has become conventional wisdom that sensitivity of cancer cells to drug is a genetically encoded intrinsic property. This is based on the fact that sensitivity to drugs targeting oncogenic signaling proteins is predicated on expression of the oncogene or the increased activity of the downstream signaling pathway. Thus, patient selection can be based on the presence of mutations or evidence of activated signaling within the cancer cell.

While for many cases this target expression based strategy has been very powerful in identifying patients likely to respond, the same approach may not identify responders for all metabolic cancer therapies. Indeed, response to chemotherapies that target metabolism has not been well predicted by this approach. The protein targets of 5-FU and methotrexate are present in almost all cancers, but the efficacy of these drugs varies dramatically across malignancies. Many of the emerging metabolic targets discussed in this review are also expressed widely in cancer, but dependency on these metabolic pathways is not always universal. For example, while targeting ACC to limit fatty synthesis can suppress lung tumor progression in some models (Svensson et al., 2016), in other cancer models loss of ACC activity accelerates tumor growth. Even for cancers with mutant IDH where altered metabolic enzyme activity is a driver event, sensitivity to IDH inhibitors appears to differ between leukemia and solid tumor models.

There is growing evidence that metabolic dependencies in cancer are influenced by tissue environment and cancer lineage as well as genetic events. Cancer tissue-of-origin has served as a successful way to select patients for chemotherapies targeting metabolism for decades, and cancer cell dependency on some investigational targets such as DHODH, mitochondrial complex I, and glutaminase is also influenced by cancer cell lineage and environment. Unraveling the complexity for how lineage, environment and genetics interact will be a challenge, but offers a path to exploit metabolism in a way that can be transformative for patients. Many drugs targeting metabolism are among the most active drugs in the clinic for particular diseases, and many newer metabolic

therapies are limited more by toxicities than by their ability to kill cancer cells. A better

understanding of the factors that constrain metabolism in specific cancer holds the key

for defining the aspects of metabolism most limiting for tumor growth and finding a

therapeutic window to exploit those vulnerabilities for better cancer treatment.

References

Adam, J., Yang, M., Bauerschmidt, C., Kitagawa, M., O'Flaherty, L., Maheswaran, P., Ozkan, G., Sahgal, N., Baban, D., Kato, K., *et al.* (2013). A role for cytosolic fumarate hydratase in urea cycle metabolism and renal neoplasia. Cell Rep *3*, 1440-1448.

Altman, B.J., Stine, Z.E., and Dang, C.V. (2016). From Krebs to clinic: glutamine metabolism to cancer therapy. Nat Rev Cancer *16*, 619-634.

Appel, I.M., den Boer, M.L., Meijerink, J.P., Veerman, A.J., Reniers, N.C., and Pieters, R. (2006). Up-regulation of asparagine synthetase expression is not linked to the clinical response L-asparaginase in pediatric acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood *107*, 4244-4249.

Arteaga, C.L., Brown, T.D., Kuhn, J.G., Shen, H.S., O'Rourke, T.J., Beougher, K., Brentzel, H.J., Von Hoff, D.D., and Weiss, G.R. (1989). Phase I clinical and pharmacokinetic trial of Brequinar sodium (DuP 785; NSC 368390). Cancer Res *49*, 4648-4653.

Ascierto, P.A., Scala, S., Castello, G., Daponte, A., Simeone, E., Ottaiano, A., Beneduce, G., De Rosa, V., Izzo, F., Melucci, M.T., *et al.* (2005). Pegylated arginine deiminase treatment of patients with metastatic melanoma: results from phase I and II studies. J Clin Oncol *23*, 7660-7668.

Ayton, P.M., and Cleary, M.L. (2003). Transformation of myeloid progenitors by MLL oncoproteins is dependent on Hoxa7 and Hoxa9. Genes Dev *17*, 2298-2307.

Bajrami, I., Kigozi, A., Van Weverwijk, A., Brough, R., Frankum, J., Lord, C.J., and Ashworth, A. (2012). Synthetic lethality of PARP and NAMPT inhibition in triple-negative breast cancer cells. EMBO Mol Med *4*, 1087-1096.

Bastian, A., Matsuzaki, S., Humphries, K.M., Pharaoh, G.A., Doshi, A., Zaware, N., Gangjee, A., and Ihnat, M.A. (2017). AG311, a small molecule inhibitor of complex I and hypoxia-induced HIF-1alpha stabilization. Cancer Lett *388*, 149-157.

Batova, A., Diccianni, M.B., Omura-Minamisawa, M., Yu, J., Carrera, C.J., Bridgeman, L.J., Kung, F.H., Pullen, J., Amylon, M.D., and Yu, A.L. (1999). Use of alanosine as a methylthioadenosine phosphorylase-selective therapy for T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia in vitro. Cancer Res *59*, 1492-1497.

Bauer, D.E., Hatzivassiliou, G., Zhao, F., Andreadis, C., and Thompson, C.B. (2005). ATP citrate lyase is an important component of cell growth and transformation. Oncogene *24*, 6314-6322.

Baysal, B.E., Ferrell, R.E., Willett-Brozick, J.E., Lawrence, E.C., Myssiorek, D., Bosch, A., van der Mey, A., Taschner, P.E., Rubinstein, W.S., Myers, E.N., *et al.* (2000). Mutations in SDHD, a mitochondrial complex II gene, in hereditary paraganglioma. Science *287*, 848-851.

Bean, G.R., Kremer, J.C., Prudner, B.C., Schenone, A.D., Yao, J.C., Schultze, M.B., Chen, D.Y., Tanas, M.R., Adkins, D.R., Bomalaski, J., *et al.* (2016). A metabolic synthetic lethal strategy with arginine deprivation and chloroquine leads to cell death in ASS1-deficient sarcomas. Cell Death Dis *7*, e2406.

Beroukhim, R., Mermel, C.H., Porter, D., Wei, G., Raychaudhuri, S., Donovan, J., Barretina, J., Boehm, J.S., Dobson, J., Urashima, M., *et al.* (2010). The landscape of somatic copy-number alteration across human cancers. Nature *463*, 899-905.

Birsoy, K., Wang, T., Chen, W.W., Freinkman, E., Abu-Remaileh, M., and Sabatini, D.M. (2015). An Essential Role of the Mitochondrial Electron Transport Chain in Cell Proliferation Is to Enable Aspartate Synthesis. Cell *162*, 540-551.

Bonuccelli, G., Avnet, S., Grisendi, G., Salerno, M., Granchi, D., Dominici, M., Kusuzaki, K., and Baldini, N. (2014). Role of mesenchymal stem cells in osteosarcoma and metabolic reprogramming of tumor cells. Oncotarget *5*, 7575-7588.

Bridges, H.R., Jones, A.J., Pollak, M.N., and Hirst, J. (2014). Effects of metformin and other biguanides on oxidative phosphorylation in mitochondria. The Biochemical journal *462*, 475-487.

Brusselmans, K., De Schrijver, E., Verhoeven, G., and Swinnen, J.V. (2005). RNA interference-mediated silencing of the acetyl-CoA-carboxylase-alpha gene induces growth inhibition and apoptosis of prostate cancer cells. Cancer Res *65*, 6719-6725.

Buzzai, M., Jones, R.G., Amaravadi, R.K., Lum, J.J., DeBerardinis, R.J., Zhao, F., Viollet, B., and Thompson, C.B. (2007). Systemic treatment with the antidiabetic drug metformin selectively impairs p53-deficient tumor cell growth. Cancer research *67*, 6745-6752.

Cairncross, J.G., Wang, M., Jenkins, R.B., Shaw, E.G., Giannini, C., Brachman, D.G., Buckner, J.C., Fink, K.L., Souhami, L., Laperriere, N.J., *et al.* (2014). Benefit from procarbazine, lomustine, and vincristine in oligodendroglial tumors is associated with mutation of IDH. J Clin Oncol *32*, 783-790.

Cardaci, S., Zheng, L., MacKay, G., van den Broek, N.J., MacKenzie, E.D., Nixon, C., Stevenson, D., Tumanov, S., Bulusu, V., Kamphorst, J.J., *et al.* (2015). Pyruvate carboxylation enables growth of SDH-deficient cells by supporting aspartate biosynthesis. Nat Cell Biol *17*, 1317-1326.

Chajes, V., Cambot, M., Moreau, K., Lenoir, G.M., and Joulin, V. (2006). Acetyl-CoA carboxylase alpha is essential to breast cancer cell survival. Cancer Res *66*, 5287-5294. Chan, M., Gravel, M., Bramoulle, A., Bridon, G., Avizonis, D., Shore, G.C., and Roulston, A. (2014). Synergy between the NAMPT inhibitor GMX1777(8) and pemetrexed in non-small cell lung cancer cells is mediated by PARP activation and enhanced NAD consumption. Cancer Res *74*, 5948-5954.

Chowdhury, R., Yeoh, K.K., Tian, Y.M., Hillringhaus, L., Bagg, E.A., Rose, N.R., Leung, I.K., Li, X.S., Woon, E.C., Yang, M., *et al.* (2011). The oncometabolite 2-hydroxyglutarate inhibits histone lysine demethylases. EMBO Rep *12*, 463-469.

Dang, L., White, D.W., Gross, S., Bennett, B.D., Bittinger, M.A., Driggers, E.M., Fantin, V.R., Jang, H.G., Jin, S., Keenan, M.C., *et al.* (2009). Cancer-associated IDH1 mutations produce 2-hydroxyglutarate. Nature *462*, 739-744.

Dang, L., Yen, K., and Attar, E.C. (2016). IDH mutations in cancer and progress toward development of targeted therapeutics. Ann Oncol *27*, 599-608.

DeBerardinis, R.J., Mancuso, A., Daikhin, E., Nissim, I., Yudkoff, M., Wehrli, S., and Thompson, C.B. (2007). Beyond aerobic glycolysis: transformed cells can engage in glutamine metabolism that exceeds the requirement for protein and nucleotide synthesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *104*, 19345-19350.

DeBerardinis, R.J., and Chandel, N.S. (2016). Fundamentals of cancer metabolism. Sci. Adv. 2, e1600200.

Delage, B., Fennell, D.A., Nicholson, L., McNeish, I., Lemoine, N.R., Crook, T., and Szlosarek, P.W. (2010). Arginine deprivation and argininosuccinate synthetase expression in the treatment of cancer. Int J Cancer *126*, 2762-2772.

DeNicola, G.M., Chen, P.H., Mullarky, E., Sudderth, J.A., Hu, Z., Wu, D., Tang, H., Xie, Y., Asara, J.M., Huffman, K.E., *et al.* (2015). NRF2 regulates serine biosynthesis in non-small cell lung cancer. Nat Genet *47*, 1475-1481.

Dey, P., Baddour, J., Muller, F., Wu, C.C., Wang, H., Liao, W.T., Lan, Z., Chen, A., Gutschner, T., Kang, Y., *et al.* (2017). Genomic deletion of malic enzyme 2 confers collateral lethality in pancreatic cancer. Nature *542*, 119-123.

DiNardo, C.D., Ravandi, F., Agresta, S., Konopleva, M., Takahashi, K., Kadia, T., Routbort, M., Patel, K.P., Mark, B., Pierce, S., *et al.* (2015). Characteristics, clinical outcome, and prognostic significance of IDH mutations in AML. Am J Hematol *90*, 732-736.

Efferth, T., Olbrich, A., and Bauer, R. (2002). mRNA expression profiles for the response of human tumor cell lines to the antimalarial drugs artesunate, arteether, and artemether. Biochem Pharmacol *64*, 617-623.

El-Mir, M.Y., Nogueira, V., Fontaine, E., Averet, N., Rigoulet, M., and Leverve, X. (2000). Dimethylbiguanide inhibits cell respiration via an indirect effect targeted on the respiratory chain complex I. The Journal of biological chemistry *275*, 223-228.

Elion, G.B. (1989). The purine path to chemotherapy. Science 244, 41-47.

Evans, J.M., Donnelly, L.A., Emslie-Smith, A.M., Alessi, D.R., and Morris, A.D. (2005). Metformin and reduced risk of cancer in diabetic patients. Bmj *330*, 1304-1305.

Fan, J., Ye, J., Kamphorst, J.J., Shlomi, T., Thompson, C.B., and Rabinowitz, J.D. (2014). Quantitative flux analysis reveals folate-dependent NADPH production. Nature *510*, 298-302.

Farber, S., and Diamond, L.K. (1948). Temporary remissions in acute leukemia in children produced by folic acid antagonist, 4-aminopteroyl-glutamic acid. N Engl J Med *238*, 787-793.

Feun, L.G., Marini, A., Walker, G., Elgart, G., Moffat, F., Rodgers, S.E., Wu, C.J., You, M., Wangpaichitr, M., Kuo, M.T., *et al.* (2012). Negative argininosuccinate synthetase expression in melanoma tumours may predict clinical benefit from arginine-depleting therapy with pegylated arginine deiminase. Br J Cancer *106*, 1481-1485.

Figueroa, M.E., Abdel-Wahab, O., Lu, C., Ward, P.S., Patel, J., Shih, A., Li, Y., Bhagwat, N., Vasanthakumar, A., Fernandez, H.F., *et al.* (2010). Leukemic IDH1 and IDH2 mutations result in a hypermethylation phenotype, disrupt TET2 function, and impair hematopoietic differentiation. Cancer Cell *18*, 553-567.

Fine, B.M., Kaspers, G.J., Ho, M., Loonen, A.H., and Boxer, L.M. (2005). A genomewide view of the in vitro response to l-asparaginase in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Cancer Res *65*, 291-299.

Frezza, C., Zheng, L., Folger, O., Rajagopalan, K.N., MacKenzie, E.D., Jerby, L., Micaroni, M., Chaneton, B., Adam, J., Hedley, A., *et al.* (2011). Haem oxygenase is synthetically lethal with the tumour suppressor fumarate hydratase. Nature *477*, 225-228.

Galluzzi, L., Kepp, O., Vander Heiden, M.G., and Kroemer, G. (2013). Metabolic targets for cancer therapy. Nat Rev Drug Discov *12*, 829-846.

Gandini, S., Puntoni, M., Heckman-Stoddard, B.M., Dunn, B.K., Ford, L., DeCensi, A., and Szabo, E. (2014). Metformin and cancer risk and mortality: a systematic review and meta-analysis taking into account biases and confounders. Cancer prevention research *7*, 867-885.

Gao, M., Tashiro, Y., Wang, Q., Sakai, K., and Sonomoto, K. (2016). High acetonebutanol-ethanol production in pH-stat co-feeding of acetate and glucose. J Biosci Bioeng *122*, 176-182.

Gao, P., Tchernyshyov, I., Chang, T.C., Lee, Y.S., Kita, K., Ochi, T., Zeller, K.I., De Marzo, A.M., Van Eyk, J.E., Mendell, J.T., *et al.* (2009). c-Myc suppression of miR-23a/b enhances mitochondrial glutaminase expression and glutamine metabolism. Nature *458*, 762-765.

Gaude, E., and Frezza, C. (2016). Tissue-specific and convergent metabolic transformation of cancer correlates with metastatic potential and patient survival. Nat Commun *7*, 13041.

Golub, T.R., Slonim, D.K., Tamayo, P., Huard, C., Gaasenbeek, M., Mesirov, J.P., Coller, H., Loh, M.L., Downing, J.R., Caligiuri, M.A., *et al.* (1999). Molecular classification of cancer: class discovery and class prediction by gene expression monitoring. Science *286*, 531-537.

Grassian, A.R., Parker, S.J., Davidson, S.M., Divakaruni, A.S., Green, C.R., Zhang, X., Slocum, K.L., Pu, M., Lin, F., Vickers, C., *et al.* (2014). IDH1 mutations alter citric acid cycle metabolism and increase dependence on oxidative mitochondrial metabolism. Cancer Res *74*, 3317-3331.

Gravel, S.P., Hulea, L., Toban, N., Birman, E., Blouin, M.J., Zakikhani, M., Zhao, Y., Topisirovic, I., St-Pierre, J., and Pollak, M. (2014). Serine deprivation enhances antineoplastic activity of biguanides. Cancer Res *74*, 7521-7533.

Gross, M.I., Demo, S.D., Dennison, J.B., Chen, L., Chernov-Rogan, T., Goyal, B., Janes, J.R., Laidig, G.J., Lewis, E.R., Li, J., *et al.* (2014). Antitumor activity of the glutaminase inhibitor CB-839 in triple-negative breast cancer. Mol Cancer Ther *13*, 890-901.

Gui, D. Y., Sullivan, L. B., Luengo, A., Hosios, A. M., Bush, L. N., Gitego, N., Davidson, S. M., Freinkman, E., Thomas, C. J. & Vander Heiden, M. G. (2016) Environment Dictates Dependence on Mitochondrial Complex I for NAD+ and Aspartate Production and Determines Cancer Cell Sensitivity to Metformin. *Cell Metab.* 24, 716–727

Harasawa, H., Yamada, Y., Kudoh, M., Sugahara, K., Soda, H., Hirakata, Y., Sasaki, H., Ikeda, S., Matsuo, T., Tomonaga, M., *et al.* (2002). Chemotherapy targeting methylthioadenosine phosphorylase (MTAP) deficiency in adult T cell leukemia (ATL). Leukemia *16*, 1799-1807.

Harris, M. (1980). Pyruvate blocks expression of sensitivity to antimycin A and chloramphenicol. Somatic cell genetics *6*, 699-708.

Hatzivassiliou, G., Zhao, F., Bauer, D.E., Andreadis, C., Shaw, A.N., Dhanak, D., Hingorani, S.R., Tuveson, D.A., and Thompson, C.B. (2005). ATP citrate lyase inhibition can suppress tumor cell growth. Cancer Cell *8*, 311-321. Heidelberger, C., Chaudhuri, N.K., Danneberg, P., Mooren, D., Griesbach, L., Duschinsky, R., Schnitzer, R.J., Pleven, E., and Scheiner, J. (1957). Fluorinated pyrimidines, a new class of tumour-inhibitory compounds. Nature *179*, 663-666.

Hensley, C.T., Faubert, B., Yuan, Q., Lev-Cohain, N., Jin, E., Kim, J., Jiang, L., Ko, B., Skelton, R., Loudat, L., *et al.* (2016). Metabolic Heterogeneity in Human Lung Tumors. Cell *164*, 681-694.

Hewitson, K.S., Lienard, B.M., McDonough, M.A., Clifton, I.J., Butler, D., Soares, A.S., Oldham, N.J., McNeill, L.A., and Schofield, C.J. (2007). Structural and mechanistic studies on the inhibition of the hypoxia-inducible transcription factor hydroxylases by tricarboxylic acid cycle intermediates. J Biol Chem *282*, 3293-3301.

Hirabayashi, Y., and Furuya, S. (2008). Roles of I-serine and sphingolipid synthesis in brain development and neuronal survival. Prog Lipid Res *47*, 188-203.

Hoekstra, A.S., de Graaff, M.A., Briaire-de Bruijn, I.H., Ras, C., Seifar, R.M., van Minderhout, I., Cornelisse, C.J., Hogendoorn, P.C., Breuning, M.H., Suijker, J., *et al.* (2015). Inactivation of SDH and FH cause loss of 5hmC and increased H3K9me3 in paraganglioma/pheochromocytoma and smooth muscle tumors. Oncotarget *6*, 38777-38788.

Hori, H., Tran, P., Carrera, C.J., Hori, Y., Rosenbach, M.D., Carson, D.A., and Nobori, T. (1996). Methylthioadenosine phosphorylase cDNA transfection alters sensitivity to depletion of purine and methionine in A549 lung cancer cells. Cancer Res *56*, 5653-5658.

Hosios, A.M., Hecht, V.C., Danai, L.V., Johnson, M.O., Rathmell, J.C., Steinhauser, M.L., Manalis, S.R., and Vander Heiden, M.G. (2016). Amino Acids Rather than Glucose Account for the Majority of Cell Mass in Proliferating Mammalian Cells. Dev Cell *36*, 540-549.

Hosios, A.M., and Vander Heiden, M.G. (2014). Acetate metabolism in cancer cells. Cancer Metab *2*, 27.

Hosoda, F., Arai, Y., Okada, N., Shimizu, H., Miyamoto, M., Kitagawa, N., Katai, H., Taniguchi, H., Yanagihara, K., Imoto, I., et al. (2015). Integrated genomic and functional analyses reveal glyoxalase I as a novel metabolic oncogene in human gastric cancer. Oncogene *34*, 1196–1206.

Howell, N., and Sager, R. (1979). Cytoplasmic genetics of mammalian cells: conditional sensitivity to mitochondrial inhibitors and isolation of new mutant phenotypes. Somatic cell genetics *5*, 833-845.

Hu, J., Locasale, J.W., Bielas, J.H., O'Sullivan, J., Sheahan, K., Cantley, L.C., Vander Heiden, M.G., and Vitkup, D. (2013). Heterogeneity of tumor-induced gene expression changes in the human metabolic network. Nat Biotechnol *31*, 522-529.

Hu, W., Zhang, C., Wu, R., Sun, Y., Levine, A., and Feng, Z. (2010). Glutaminase 2, a novel p53 target gene regulating energy metabolism and antioxidant function. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *107*, 7455-7460.

Izzo, F., Marra, P., Beneduce, G., Castello, G., Vallone, P., De Rosa, V., Cremona, F., Ensor, C.M., Holtsberg, F.W., Bomalaski, J.S., *et al.* (2004). Pegylated arginine deiminase treatment of patients with unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma: results from phase I/II studies. J Clin Oncol *22*, 1815-1822.

Jacque, N., Ronchetti, A.M., Larrue, C., Meunier, G., Birsen, R., Willems, L., Saland, E., Decroocq, J., Maciel, T.T., Lambert, M., *et al.* (2015). Targeting glutaminolysis has antileukemic activity in acute myeloid leukemia and synergizes with BCL-2 inhibition. Blood *126*, 1346-1356.

Jain, M., Nilsson, R., Sharma, S., Madhusudhan, N., Kitami, T., Souza, A.L., Kafri, R., Kirschner, M.W., Clish, C.B., and Mootha, V.K. (2012). Metabolite profiling identifies a key role for glycine in rapid cancer cell proliferation. Science *336*, 1040-1044.

Jiralerspong, S., Palla, S.L., Giordano, S.H., Meric-Bernstam, F., Liedtke, C., Barnett, C.M., Hsu, L., Hung, M.C., Hortobagyi, G.N., and Gonzalez-Angulo, A.M. (2009). Metformin and pathologic complete responses to neoadjuvant chemotherapy in diabetic patients with breast cancer. J Clin Oncol *27*, 3297-3302.

Johnson, B.E., Mazor, T., Hong, C., Barnes, M., Aihara, K., McLean, C.Y., Fouse, S.D., Yamamoto, S., Ueda, H., Tatsuno, K., *et al.* (2014). Mutational analysis reveals the origin and therapy-driven evolution of recurrent glioma. Science *343*, 189-193.

Kamphorst, J.J., Chung, M.K., Fan, J., and Rabinowitz, J.D. (2014). Quantitative analysis of acetyl-CoA production in hypoxic cancer cells reveals substantial contribution from acetate. Cancer Metab *2*, 23.

Kennedy, K.M., Scarbrough, P.M., Ribeiro, A., Richardson, R., Yuan, H., Sonveaux, P., Landon, C.D., Chi, J.T., Pizzo, S., Schroeder, T., *et al.* (2013). Catabolism of exogenous lactate reveals it as a legitimate metabolic substrate in breast cancer. PLoS One *8*, e75154.

Kim, D., Fiske, B.P., Birsoy, K., Freinkman, E., Kami, K., Possemato, R.L., Chudnovsky, Y., Pacold, M.E., Chen, W.W., Cantor, J.R., et al. (2015). SHMT2 drives glioma cell survival in ischaemia but imposes a dependence on glycine clearance. Nature *520*, 363–367.

Kindler, H.L., Burris, H.A., 3rd, Sandler, A.B., and Oliff, I.A. (2009). A phase II multicenter study of L-alanosine, a potent inhibitor of adenine biosynthesis, in patients with MTAP-deficient cancer. Invest New Drugs *27*, 75-81.

Koivunen, P., Lee, S., Duncan, C.G., Lopez, G., Lu, G., Ramkissoon, S., Losman, J.A., Joensuu, P., Bergmann, U., Gross, S., *et al.* (2012). Transformation by the (R)enantiomer of 2-hydroxyglutarate linked to EGLN activation. Nature *483*, 484-488. Kremer, J.C., Prudner, B.C., Lange, S.E., Bean, G.R., Schultze, M.B., Brashears, C.B., Radyk, M.D., Redlich, N., Tzeng, S.C., Kami, K., *et al.* (2017). Arginine Deprivation Inhibits the Warburg Effect and Upregulates Glutamine Anaplerosis and Serine Biosynthesis in ASS1-Deficient Cancers. Cell Rep *18*, 991-1004.

Kroll, W., Loffler, M., and Schneider, F. (1983). Energy parameters, macromolecular synthesis and cell cycle progression of in vitro grown Ehrlich ascites tumor cells after inhibition of oxidative ATP synthesis by oligomycin. Zeitschrift fur Naturforschung Section C: Biosciences *38*, 604-612.

Kroon, E., Krosl, J., Thorsteinsdottir, U., Baban, S., Buchberg, A.M., and Sauvageau, G. (1998). Hoxa9 transforms primary bone marrow cells through specific collaboration with Meis1a but not Pbx1b. EMBO J *17*, 3714-3725.

Kryukov, G.V., Wilson, F.H., Ruth, J.R., Paulk, J., Tsherniak, A., Marlow, S.E., Vazquez, F., Weir, B.A., Fitzgerald, M.E., Tanaka, M., *et al.* (2016). MTAP deletion confers enhanced dependency on the PRMT5 arginine methyltransferase in cancer cells. Science *351*, 1214-1218.

Labuschagne, C.F., van den Broek, N.J., Mackay, G.M., Vousden, K.H., and Maddocks, O.D. (2014). Serine, but not glycine, supports one-carbon metabolism and proliferation of cancer cells. Cell Rep *7*, 1248-1258.

Landau, B.R., Laszlo, J., Stengle, J., and Burk, D. (1958). Certain metabolic and pharmacologic effects in cancer patients given infusions of 2-deoxy-D-glucose. J Natl Cancer Inst *21*, 485-494.

Le, A., Lane, A.N., Hamaker, M., Bose, S., Gouw, A., Barbi, J., Tsukamoto, T., Rojas, C.J., Slusher, B.S., Zhang, H., *et al.* (2012). Glucose-independent glutamine metabolism via TCA cycling for proliferation and survival in B cells. Cell Metab *15*, 110-121.

Lee, J.H., Kim, T.I., Jeon, S.M., Hong, S.P., Cheon, J.H., and Kim, W.H. (2012). The effects of metformin on the survival of colorectal cancer patients with diabetes mellitus. International journal of cancer. Journal international du cancer *131*, 752-759.

Letouze, E., Martinelli, C., Loriot, C., Burnichon, N., Abermil, N., Ottolenghi, C., Janin, M., Menara, M., Nguyen, A.T., Benit, P., *et al.* (2013). SDH mutations establish a hypermethylator phenotype in paraganglioma. Cancer Cell *23*, 739-752.

Lewis, C.A., Parker, S.J., Fiske, B.P., McCloskey, D., Gui, D.Y., Green, C.R., Vokes, N.I., Feist, A.M., Vander Heiden, M.G., and Metallo, C.M. (2014). Tracing compartmentalized NADPH metabolism in the cytosol and mitochondria of mammalian cells. Mol Cell *55*, 253-263.

Locasale, J.W., Grassian, A.R., Melman, T., Lyssiotis, C.A., Mattaini, K.R., Bass, A.J., Heffron, G., Metallo, C.M., Muranen, T., Sharfi, H., *et al.* (2011). Phosphoglycerate dehydrogenase diverts glycolytic flux and contributes to oncogenesis. Nat Genet *43*, 869-874.

Locke, M., Ghazaly, E., Freitas, M.O., Mitsinga, M., Lattanzio, L., Lo Nigro, C., Nagano, A., Wang, J., Chelala, C., Szlosarek, P., *et al.* (2016). Inhibition of the Polyamine Synthesis Pathway Is Synthetically Lethal with Loss of Argininosuccinate Synthase 1. Cell Rep *16*, 1604-1613.

Loffer, M., and Schneider, F. (1982). Further characterization of the growth inhibitory effect of rotenone on in vitro cultured Ehrlich ascites tumour cells. Molecular and cellular biochemistry *48*, 77-90.

Long, Y., Tsai, W.B., Wangpaichitr, M., Tsukamoto, T., Savaraj, N., Feun, L.G., and Kuo, M.T. (2013). Arginine deiminase resistance in melanoma cells is associated with metabolic reprogramming, glucose dependence, and glutamine addiction. Mol Cancer Ther *12*, 2581-2590.

Losman, J.A., and Kaelin, W.G., Jr. (2013). What a difference a hydroxyl makes: mutant IDH, (R)-2-hydroxyglutarate, and cancer. Genes Dev *27*, 836-852.

Losman, J.A., Looper, R.E., Koivunen, P., Lee, S., Schneider, R.K., McMahon, C., Cowley, G.S., Root, D.E., Ebert, B.L., and Kaelin, W.G., Jr. (2013). (R)-2hydroxyglutarate is sufficient to promote leukemogenesis and its effects are reversible. Science *339*, 1621-1625.

Lu, C., Ward, P.S., Kapoor, G.S., Rohle, D., Turcan, S., Abdel-Wahab, O., Edwards, C.R., Khanin, R., Figueroa, M.E., Melnick, A., *et al.* (2012). IDH mutation impairs histone demethylation and results in a block to cell differentiation. Nature *483*, 474-478.

Lubin, M., and Lubin, A. (2009). Selective killing of tumors deficient in methylthioadenosine phosphorylase: a novel strategy. PLoS One *4*, e5735.

Luengo, A., Sullivan, L.B., and Heiden, M.G. (2014). Understanding the complex-I-ty of metformin action: limiting mitochondrial respiration to improve cancer therapy. BMC biology *12*, 82.

Lussey-Lepoutre, C., Hollinshead, K.E., Ludwig, C., Menara, M., Morin, A., Castro-Vega, L.J., Parker, S.J., Janin, M., Martinelli, C., Ottolenghi, C., *et al.* (2015). Loss of succinate dehydrogenase activity results in dependency on pyruvate carboxylation for cellular anabolism. Nat Commun *6*, 8784.

Lycan, T.W., Pardee, T.S., Petty, W.J., Bonomi, M., Alistar, A., Lamar, Z.S., Isom, S., Chan, M.D., Miller, A.A., and Ruiz, J. (2016). A Phase II Clinical Trial of CPI-613 in Patients with Relapsed or Refractory Small Cell Lung Carcinoma. PLoS One *11*, e0164244.

Maddocks, O.D., Berkers, C.R., Mason, S.M., Zheng, L., Blyth, K., Gottlieb, E., and Vousden, K.H. (2013). Serine starvation induces stress and p53-dependent metabolic remodelling in cancer cells. Nature *493*, 542-546.

Marchiq, I., and Pouyssegur, J. (2016). Hypoxia, cancer metabolism and the therapeutic benefit of targeting lactate/H(+) symporters. J Mol Med (Berl) *94*, 155-171.

Mardis, E.R., Ding, L., Dooling, D.J., Larson, D.E., McLellan, M.D., Chen, K., Koboldt, D.C., Fulton, R.S., Delehaunty, K.D., McGrath, S.D., *et al.* (2009). Recurring mutations found by sequencing an acute myeloid leukemia genome. N Engl J Med *361*, 1058-1066.

Marin-Valencia, I., Yang, C., Mashimo, T., Cho, S., Baek, H., Yang, X.L., Rajagopalan, K.N., Maddie, M., Vemireddy, V., Zhao, Z., *et al.* (2012). Analysis of tumor metabolism reveals mitochondrial glucose oxidation in genetically diverse human glioblastomas in the mouse brain in vivo. Cell Metab *15*, 827-837.

Marjon, K., Cameron, M.J., Quang, P., Clasquin, M.F., Mandley, E., Kunii, K., McVay, M., Choe, S., Kernytsky, A., Gross, S., *et al.* (2016). MTAP Deletions in Cancer Create Vulnerability to Targeting of the MAT2A/PRMT5/RIOK1 Axis. Cell Rep *15*, 574-587.

Martinez-Outschoorn, U.E., Peiris-Pages, M., Pestell, R.G., Sotgia, F., and Lisanti, M.P. (2017). Cancer metabolism: a therapeutic perspective. Nat Rev Clin Oncol *14*, 11-31.

Mashimo, T., Pichumani, K., Vemireddy, V., Hatanpaa, K.J., Singh, D.K., Sirasanagandla, S., Nannepaga, S., Piccirillo, S.G., Kovacs, Z., Foong, C., *et al.* (2014). Acetate is a bioenergetic substrate for human glioblastoma and brain metastases. Cell *159*, 1603-1614.

Mattaini, K.R., Brignole, E.J., Kini, M., Davidson, S.M., Fiske, B.P., Drennan, C.L., and Vander Heiden, M.G. (2015). An epitope tag alters phosphoglycerate dehydrogenase structure and impairs ability to support cell proliferation. Cancer Metab *3*, 5. Mavrakis, K.J., McDonald, E.R., 3rd, Schlabach, M.R., Billy, E., Hoffman, G.R., deWeck, A., Ruddy, D.A., Venkatesan, K., Yu, J., McAllister, G., *et al.* (2016). Disordered methionine metabolism in MTAP/CDKN2A-deleted cancers leads to dependence on PRMT5. Science *351*, 1208-1213.

Medes, G., Thomas, A., and Weinhouse, S. (1953). Metabolism of neoplastic tissue. IV. A study of lipid synthesis in neoplastic tissue slices in vitro. Cancer Res *13*, 27-29.

Molenaar, R.J., Botman, D., Smits, M.A., Hira, V.V., van Lith, S.A., Stap, J., Henneman, P., Khurshed, M., Lenting, K., Mul, A.N., *et al.* (2015). Radioprotection of IDH1-Mutated Cancer Cells by the IDH1-Mutant Inhibitor AGI-5198. Cancer Res *75*, 4790-4802.

Moreadith, R.W., and Lehninger, A.L. (1984). The pathways of glutamate and glutamine oxidation by tumor cell mitochondria. Role of mitochondrial NAD(P)+-dependent malic enzyme. J Biol Chem *259*, 6215-6221.

Muller, F.L., Aquilanti, E.A., and DePinho, R.A. (2015). Collateral Lethality: A new therapeutic strategy in oncology. Trends Cancer 1, 161-173.

Muller, F.L., Colla, S., Aquilanti, E., Manzo, V.E., Genovese, G., Lee, J., Eisenson, D., Narurkar, R., Deng, P., Nezi, L., *et al.* (2012). Passenger deletions generate therapeutic vulnerabilities in cancer. Nature *488*, 337-342.

Nahimana, A., Attinger, A., Aubry, D., Greaney, P., Ireson, C., Thougaard, A.V., Tjornelund, J., Dawson, K.M., Dupuis, M., and Duchosal, M.A. (2009). The NAD biosynthesis inhibitor APO866 has potent antitumor activity against hematologic malignancies. Blood *113*, 3276-3286.

Newsholme, E.A., Crabtree, B., and Ardawi, M.S. (1985). The role of high rates of glycolysis and glutamine utilization in rapidly dividing cells. Biosci Rep *5*, 393-400.

Noe, D.A., Rowinsky, E.K., Shen, H.S., Clarke, B.V., Grochow, L.B., McGuire, W.B., Hantel, A., Adams, D.B., Abeloff, M.D., Ettinger, D.S., *et al.* (1990). Phase I and pharmacokinetic study of brequinar sodium (NSC 368390). Cancer Res *50*, 4595-4599.

Okoye-Okafor, U.C., Bartholdy, B., Cartier, J., Gao, E.N., Pietrak, B., Rendina, A.R., Rominger, C., Quinn, C., Smallwood, A., Wiggall, K.J., *et al.* (2015). New IDH1 mutant inhibitors for treatment of acute myeloid leukemia. Nat Chem Biol *11*, 878-886.

Ookhtens, M., Kannan, R., Lyon, I., and Baker, N. (1984). Liver and adipose tissue contributions to newly formed fatty acids in an ascites tumor. Am J Physiol *247*, R146-153.

Ott, P.A., Carvajal, R.D., Pandit-Taskar, N., Jungbluth, A.A., Hoffman, E.W., Wu, B.W., Bomalaski, J.S., Venhaus, R., Pan, L., Old, L.J., *et al.* (2013). Phase I/II study of pegylated arginine deiminase (ADI-PEG 20) in patients with advanced melanoma. Invest New Drugs *31*, 425-434.

Owen, M.R., Doran, E., and Halestrap, A.P. (2000). Evidence that metformin exerts its anti-diabetic effects through inhibition of complex 1 of the mitochondrial respiratory chain. The Biochemical journal *348 Pt 3*, 607-614.

Pacold, M.E., Brimacombe, K.R., Chan, S.H., Rohde, J.M., Lewis, C.A., Swier, L.J., Possemato, R., Chen, W.W., Sullivan, L.B., Fiske, B.P., *et al.* (2016). A PHGDH inhibitor reveals coordination of serine synthesis and one-carbon unit fate. Nat Chem Biol *12*, 452-458.

Pardee, T.S., Lee, K., Luddy, J., Maturo, C., Rodriguez, R., Isom, S., Miller, L.D., Stadelman, K.M., Levitan, D., Hurd, D., *et al.* (2014). A phase I study of the first-in-class antimitochondrial metabolism agent, CPI-613, in patients with advanced hematologic malignancies. Clin Cancer Res *20*, 5255-5264.

Peters, G.J., Nadal, J.C., Laurensse, E.J., de Kant, E., and Pinedo, H.M. (1990). Retention of in vivo antipyrimidine effects of Brequinar sodium (DUP-785; NSC 368390) in murine liver, bone marrow and colon cancer. Biochem Pharmacol *39*, 135-144. Phillips, M.M., Sheaff, M.T., and Szlosarek, P.W. (2013). Targeting arginine-dependent cancers with arginine-degrading enzymes: opportunities and challenges. Cancer Res Treat *45*, 251-262.

Pinheiro, C., Longatto-Filho, A., Azevedo-Silva, J., Casal, M., Schmitt, F.C., and Baltazar, F. (2012). Role of monocarboxylate transporters in human cancers: state of the art. J Bioenerg Biomembr *44*, 127-139.

Piskounova, E., Agathocleous, M., Murphy, M.M., Hu, Z., Huddlestun, S.E., Zhao, Z., Leitch, A.M., Johnson, T.M., DeBerardinis, R.J., and Morrison, S.J. (2015). Oxidative stress inhibits distant metastasis by human melanoma cells. Nature *527*, 186-191.

Pollard, P.J., Briere, J.J., Alam, N.A., Barwell, J., Barclay, E., Wortham, N.C., Hunt, T., Mitchell, M., Olpin, S., Moat, S.J., *et al.* (2005). Accumulation of Krebs cycle intermediates and over-expression of HIF1alpha in tumours which result from germline FH and SDH mutations. Hum Mol Genet *14*, 2231-2239.

Possemato, R., Marks, K.M., Shaul, Y.D., Pacold, M.E., Kim, D., Birsoy, K., Sethumadhavan, S., Woo, H.K., Jang, H.G., Jha, A.K., *et al.* (2011). Functional genomics reveal that the serine synthesis pathway is essential in breast cancer. Nature *476*, 346-350.

Rabinovich, S., Adler, L., Yizhak, K., Sarver, A., Silberman, A., Agron, S., Stettner, N., Sun, Q., Brandis, A., Helbling, D., *et al.* (2015). Diversion of aspartate in ASS1-deficient tumours fosters de novo pyrimidine synthesis. Nature *527*, 379-383.

Rohle, D., Popovici-Muller, J., Palaskas, N., Turcan, S., Grommes, C., Campos, C., Tsoi, J., Clark, O., Oldrini, B., Komisopoulou, E., *et al.* (2013). An inhibitor of mutant IDH1 delays growth and promotes differentiation of glioma cells. Science *340*, 626-630.

Saha, S.K., Parachoniak, C.A., Ghanta, K.S., Fitamant, J., Ross, K.N., Najem, M.S., Gurumurthy, S., Akbay, E.A., Sia, D., Cornella, H., *et al.* (2014). Mutant IDH inhibits HNF-4alpha to block hepatocyte differentiation and promote biliary cancer. Nature *513*, 110-114.

Sakamoto, H., Mashima, T., Sato, S., Hashimoto, Y., Yamori, T., and Tsuruo, T. (2001). Selective activation of apoptosis program by S-p-bromobenzylglutathione cyclopentyl diester in glyoxalase I-overexpressing human lung cancer cells. Clin. Cancer Res. Off. J. Am. Assoc. Cancer Res. *7*, 2513–2518.

Sancho, P., Burgos-Ramos, E., Tavera, A., Bou Kheir, T., Jagust, P., Schoenhals, M., Barneda, D., Sellers, K., Campos-Olivas, R., Grana, O., *et al.* (2015). MYC/PGC-1alpha Balance Determines the Metabolic Phenotype and Plasticity of Pancreatic Cancer Stem Cells. Cell Metab *22*, 590-605.

Schockel, L., Glasauer, A., Basit, F., Bitschar, K., Truong, H., Erdmann, G., Algire, C., Hagebarth, A., Willems, P.H., Kopitz, C., *et al.* (2015). Targeting mitochondrial complex I using BAY 87-2243 reduces melanoma tumor growth. Cancer & metabolism *3*, 11.

Selak, M.A., Armour, S.M., MacKenzie, E.D., Boulahbel, H., Watson, D.G., Mansfield, K.D., Pan, Y., Simon, M.C., Thompson, C.B., and Gottlieb, E. (2005). Succinate links TCA cycle dysfunction to oncogenesis by inhibiting HIF-alpha prolyl hydroxylase. Cancer Cell *7*, 77-85.

Shackelford, D.B., Abt, E., Gerken, L., Vasquez, D.S., Seki, A., Leblanc, M., Wei, L., Fishbein, M.C., Czernin, J., Mischel, P.S., *et al.* (2013). LKB1 inactivation dictates therapeutic response of non-small cell lung cancer to the metabolism drug phenformin. Cancer cell *23*, 143-158.

Shen, L.J., Lin, W.C., Beloussow, K., and Shen, W.C. (2003). Resistance to the antiproliferative activity of recombinant arginine deiminase in cell culture correlates with the endogenous enzyme, argininosuccinate synthetase. Cancer Lett *191*, 165-170. Sonveaux, P., Vegran, F., Schroeder, T., Wergin, M.C., Verrax, J., Rabbani, Z.N., De Saedeleer, C.J., Kennedy, K.M., Diepart, C., Jordan, B.F., *et al.* (2008). Targeting lactate-fueled respiration selectively kills hypoxic tumor cells in mice. J Clin Invest *118*, 3930-3942.

Sousa, C.M., Biancur, D.E., Wang, X., Halbrook, C.J., Sherman, M.H., Zhang, L., Kremer, D., Hwang, R.F., Witkiewicz, A.K., Ying, H., *et al.* (2016). Pancreatic stellate cells support tumour metabolism through autophagic alanine secretion. Nature *536*, 479-483.

Sousa Silva, M., Gomes, R.A., Ferreira, A.E.N., Ponces Freire, A., and Cordeiro, C. (2013). The glyoxalase pathway: the first hundred years... and beyond. Biochem. J. *453*, 1–15.

Stams, W.A., den Boer, M.L., Beverloo, H.B., Meijerink, J.P., Stigter, R.L., van Wering, E.R., Janka-Schaub, G.E., Slater, R., and Pieters, R. (2003). Sensitivity to L-asparaginase is not associated with expression levels of asparagine synthetase in t(12;21)+ pediatric ALL. Blood *101*, 2743-2747.

Sullivan, L.B., Gui, D.Y., Hosios, A.M., Bush, L.N., Freinkman, E., and Vander Heiden, M.G. (2015). Supporting Aspartate Biosynthesis Is an Essential Function of Respiration in Proliferating Cells. Cell *162*, 552-563.

Sullivan, L.B., Gui, D.Y., and Vander Heiden, M.G. (2016). Altered metabolite levels in cancer: implications for tumour biology and cancer therapy. Nat. Rev. Cancer *16*, 680–693.

Svensson, R.U., Parker, S.J., Eichner, L.J., Kolar, M.J., Wallace, M., Brun, S.N., Lombardo, P.S., Van Nostrand, J.L., Hutchins, A., Vera, L., *et al.* (2016). Inhibition of acetyl-CoA carboxylase suppresses fatty acid synthesis and tumor growth of non-small-cell lung cancer in preclinical models. Nat Med *22*, 1108-1119.

Sykes, D.B., Kfoury, Y.S., Mercier, F.E., Wawer, M.J., Law, J.M., Haynes, M.K., Lewis, T.A., Schajnovitz, A., Jain, E., Lee, D., *et al.* (2016). Inhibition of Dihydroorotate Dehydrogenase Overcomes Differentiation Blockade in Acute Myeloid Leukemia. Cell *167*, 171-186 e115.

Szlosarek, P.W., Luong, P., Phillips, M.M., Baccarini, M., Stephen, E., Szyszko, T., Sheaff, M.T., and Avril, N. (2013). Metabolic response to pegylated arginine deiminase in mesothelioma with promoter methylation of argininosuccinate synthetase. J Clin Oncol *31*, e111-113.

Tan, A.S., Baty, J.W., Dong, L.F., Bezawork-Geleta, A., Endaya, B., Goodwin, J., Bajzikova, M., Kovarova, J., Peterka, M., Yan, B., *et al.* (2015a). Mitochondrial genome acquisition restores respiratory function and tumorigenic potential of cancer cells without mitochondrial DNA. Cell Metab *21*, 81-94.

Tan, B., Dong, S., Shepard, R.L., Kays, L., Roth, K.D., Geeganage, S., Kuo, M.S., and Zhao, G. (2015b). Inhibition of Nicotinamide Phosphoribosyltransferase (NAMPT), an Enzyme Essential for NAD+ Biosynthesis, Leads to Altered Carbohydrate Metabolism in Cancer Cells. J Biol Chem *290*, 15812-15824.

Tateishi, K., Iafrate, A.J., Ho, Q., Curry, W.T., Batchelor, T.T., Flaherty, K.T., Onozato, M.L., Lelic, N., Sundaram, S., Cahill, D.P., *et al.* (2016). Myc-Driven Glycolysis Is a Therapeutic Target in Glioblastoma. Clin Cancer Res *22*, 4452-4465.

Tateishi, K., Wakimoto, H., Iafrate, A.J., Tanaka, S., Loebel, F., Lelic, N., Wiederschain, D., Bedel, O., Deng, G., Zhang, B., *et al.* (2015). Extreme Vulnerability of IDH1 Mutant Cancers to NAD+ Depletion. Cancer Cell *28*, 773-784.

Titov, D.V., Cracan, V., Goodman, R.P., Peng, J., Grabarek, Z., and Mootha, V.K. (2016). Complementation of mitochondrial electron transport chain by manipulation of the NAD+/NADH ratio. Science *352*, 231–235.

Tomlinson, I.P., Alam, N.A., Rowan, A.J., Barclay, E., Jaeger, E.E., Kelsell, D., Leigh, I., Gorman, P., Lamlum, H., Rahman, S., *et al.* (2002). Germline mutations in FH predispose to dominantly inherited uterine fibroids, skin leiomyomata and papillary renal cell cancer. Nat Genet *30*, 406-410.

Turcan, S., Fabius, A.W., Borodovsky, A., Pedraza, A., Brennan, C., Huse, J., Viale, A., Riggins, G.J., and Chan, T.A. (2013). Efficient induction of differentiation and growth inhibition in IDH1 mutant glioma cells by the DNMT Inhibitor Decitabine. Oncotarget *4*, 1729-1736.

Turcan, S., Rohle, D., Goenka, A., Walsh, L.A., Fang, F., Yilmaz, E., Campos, C., Fabius, A.W., Lu, C., Ward, P.S., *et al.* (2012). IDH1 mutation is sufficient to establish the glioma hypermethylator phenotype. Nature *483*, 479-483.

Vander Heiden, M.G. (2011). Targeting cancer metabolism: a therapeutic window opens. Nat Rev Drug Discov *10*, 671-684.

Vander Heiden, M.G., and DeBerardinis, R.J. (2017). Understanding the Intersections between Metabolism and Cancer Biology. Cell *168*, 657-669.

Viale, A., Pettazzoni, P., Lyssiotis, C.A., Ying, H., Sanchez, N., Marchesini, M., Carugo, A., Green, T., Seth, S., Giuliani, V., *et al.* (2014). Oncogene ablation-resistant pancreatic cancer cells depend on mitochondrial function. Nature *514*, 628-632.

von Heideman, A., Berglund, A., Larsson, R., and Nygren, P. (2010). Safety and efficacy of NAD depleting cancer drugs: results of a phase I clinical trial of CHS 828 and overview of published data. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol *65*, 1165-1172.

Wagner, A.D., Grothe, W., Haerting, J., Kleber, G., Grothey, A., and Fleig, W.E. (2006). Chemotherapy in advanced gastric cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis based on aggregate data. J Clin Oncol *24*, 2903-2909.

Wakimoto, H., Tanaka, S., Curry, W.T., Loebel, F., Zhao, D., Tateishi, K., Chen, J., Klofas, L.K., Lelic, N., Kim, J.C., *et al.* (2014). Targetable signaling pathway mutations are associated with malignant phenotype in IDH-mutant gliomas. Clin Cancer Res *20*, 2898-2909.

Wang, F., Travins, J., DeLaBarre, B., Penard-Lacronique, V., Schalm, S., Hansen, E., Straley, K., Kernytsky, A., Liu, W., Gliser, C., *et al.* (2013). Targeted inhibition of mutant IDH2 in leukemia cells induces cellular differentiation. Science *340*, 622-626.

Warburg, O. (1956). On the origin of cancer cells. Science 123, 309-314.

Ward, P.S., Patel, J., Wise, D.R., Abdel-Wahab, O., Bennett, B.D., Coller, H.A., Cross, J.R., Fantin, V.R., Hedvat, C.V., Perl, A.E., *et al.* (2010). The common feature of leukemia-associated IDH1 and IDH2 mutations is a neomorphic enzyme activity converting alpha-ketoglutarate to 2-hydroxyglutarate. Cancer Cell *17*, 225-234.

Watson, M., Roulston, A., Belec, L., Billot, X., Marcellus, R., Bedard, D., Bernier, C., Branchaud, S., Chan, H., Dairi, K., *et al.* (2009). The small molecule GMX1778 is a potent inhibitor of NAD+ biosynthesis: strategy for enhanced therapy in nicotinic acid phosphoribosyltransferase 1-deficient tumors. Mol Cell Biol *29*, 5872-5888.

Weinhouse, S. (1956). On respiratory impairment in cancer cells. Science 124, 267-269.

Wheaton, W.W., Weinberg, S.E., Hamanaka, R.B., Soberanes, S., Sullivan, L.B., Anso, E., Glasauer, A., Dufour, E., Mutlu, G.M., Budigner, G.S., *et al.* (2014). Metformin inhibits mitochondrial complex I of cancer cells to reduce tumorigenesis. Elife *3*, e02242.

Wise, D.R., DeBerardinis, R.J., Mancuso, A., Sayed, N., Zhang, X.Y., Pfeiffer, H.K., Nissim, I., Daikhin, E., Yudkoff, M., McMahon, S.B., *et al.* (2008). Myc regulates a transcriptional program that stimulates mitochondrial glutaminolysis and leads to glutamine addiction. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *105*, 18782-18787.

Xiang, Y., Stine, Z.E., Xia, J., Lu, Y., O'Connor, R.S., Altman, B.J., Hsieh, A.L., Gouw, A.M., Thomas, A.G., Gao, P., *et al.* (2015). Targeted inhibition of tumor-specific glutaminase diminishes cell-autonomous tumorigenesis. J Clin Invest *125*, 2293-2306.

Xiao, M., Yang, H., Xu, W., Ma, S., Lin, H., Zhu, H., Liu, L., Liu, Y., Yang, C., Xu, Y., *et al.* (2012). Inhibition of alpha-KG-dependent histone and DNA demethylases by fumarate and succinate that are accumulated in mutations of FH and SDH tumor suppressors. Genes Dev *26*, 1326-1338.

Xu, W., Yang, H., Liu, Y., Yang, Y., Wang, P., Kim, S.H., Ito, S., Yang, C., Wang, P., Xiao, M.T., *et al.* (2011). Oncometabolite 2-hydroxyglutarate is a competitive inhibitor of alpha-ketoglutarate-dependent dioxygenases. Cancer Cell *19*, 17-30.

Yan, H., Parsons, D.W., Jin, G., McLendon, R., Rasheed, B.A., Yuan, W., Kos, I., Batinic-Haberle, I., Jones, S., Riggins, G.J., *et al.* (2009). IDH1 and IDH2 mutations in gliomas. N Engl J Med *360*, 765-773.

Yang, T.S., Lu, S.N., Chao, Y., Sheen, I.S., Lin, C.C., Wang, T.E., Chen, S.C., Wang, J.H., Liao, L.Y., Thomson, J.A., *et al.* (2010). A randomised phase II study of pegylated arginine deiminase (ADI-PEG 20) in Asian advanced hepatocellular carcinoma patients. Br J Cancer *103*, 954-960.

Ye, J., Fan, J., Venneti, S., Wan, Y.W., Pawel, B.R., Zhang, J., Finley, L.W., Lu, C., Lindsten, T., Cross, J.R., *et al.* (2014). Serine catabolism regulates mitochondrial redox control during hypoxia. Cancer Discov *4*, 1406-1417.

Yen, K., Travins, J., Wang, F., David, M.D., Artin, E., Straley, K., Padyana, A., Gross, S., DeLaBarre, B., Tobin, E., *et al.* (2017). AG-221, a First-in-Class Therapy Targeting Acute Myeloid Leukemia Harboring Oncogenic IDH2 Mutations. Cancer Discov.

Yuneva, M., Zamboni, N., Oefner, P., Sachidanandam, R., and Lazebnik, Y. (2007). Deficiency in glutamine but not glucose induces MYC-dependent apoptosis in human cells. J Cell Biol *178*, 93-105.

Zhang, X., Fryknas, M., Hernlund, E., Fayad, W., De Milito, A., Olofsson, M.H., Gogvadze, V., Dang, L., Pahlman, S., Schughart, L.A., *et al.* (2014). Induction of mitochondrial dysfunction as a strategy for targeting tumour cells in metabolically compromised microenvironments. Nat Commun *5*, 3295.

Zheng, L., Mackenzie, E.D., Karim, S.A., Hedley, A., Blyth, K., Kalna, G., Watson, D.G., Szlosarek, P., Frezza, C., and Gottlieb, E. (2013). Reversed argininosuccinate lyase activity in fumarate hydratase-deficient cancer cells. Cancer Metab *1*, 12.

Zu, X.L., and Guppy, M. (2004). Cancer metabolism: facts, fantasy, and fiction. Biochemical and biophysical research communications *313*, 459-465.

·

Chapter 2: Supporting aspartate biosynthesis is an essential function of

respiration in proliferating cells

Authors:

Lucas B. Sullivan^{1,5}, Dan Y. Gui^{1,5}, Aaron M. Hosios¹, Lauren N. Bush¹, Elizaveta Freinkman², David M. Sabatini^{2,3}, Kivanc Birsoy^{2,3}, Matthew G. Vander Heiden^{1,4*}

Affiliations:

¹The Koch Institute for Integrative Cancer Research and Department of Biology, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA 02139, USA ²Whitehead Institute for Biomedical Research, Nine Cambridge Center, Cambridge, Massachusetts 02142, USA ³Howard Hughes Medical Institute, Department of Biology, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA 02139, USA ⁴Dana-Farber Cancer Institute, Boston, MA 02115, USA

⁵Co-first authors

Author Contributions:

L.S. and D.G. performed experiments to determine proliferation rates, NAD+/NADH, metabolite quantifications, and oxygen consumption rates. A.H. performed cell cycle analysis experiments. L.B. performed proliferation rate experiments. E.F. performed LCMS quantification. D.S. and K.B. shared insightful data. L.S., D.G., and M.V.H. designed the study and wrote the manuscript.

A version of this chapter has been published previously:

Sullivan, L. B., Gui, D. Y., Hosios, A. M., Bush, L. N., Freinkman, E. & Vander Heiden, M. G. (2015). Supporting Aspartate Biosynthesis Is an Essential Function of Respiration in Proliferating Cells. Cell *162*, 552–563.

Summary

Mitochondrial respiration is important for cell proliferation, however the specific metabolic requirements provided by respiration to support proliferation have not been defined. Here we show that a major role of respiration in proliferating cells is to provide electron acceptors for *de novo* aspartate synthesis. This finding is consistent with the observation that cells lacking a functional respiratory chain are auxotrophic for pyruvate, which we confirm serves as an exogenous electron acceptor. Further, the requirement for pyruvate can be replaced with an alternative electron acceptor, alpha-ketobutyrate, which provides neither carbon nor ATP to cells. Alpha-ketobutyrate supplementation restores proliferation when respiration is inhibited, suggesting that an alternative electron acceptor can substitute for respiration to support proliferation. We find that electron acceptors are most limiting for producing aspartate, and supplying aspartate enables proliferation of respiration deficient cells in the absence of exogenous electron acceptors. Taken together, these data argue that the major function of respiration in proliferation is pythesis.

Graphical Summary



Introduction

In mammalian cells, mitochondrial respiration allows coupling of nutrient oxidation to ATP production. Respiration involves a series of oxidation-reduction reactions, where ultimately electrons from a reduced substrate are transferred to molecular oxygen as the final electron acceptor. This results in oxidation of consumed nutrients and reduction of molecular oxygen to water. The free energy released from this series of oxidation-reduction reactions is coupled to production of an electrochemical gradient that can be used to drive ATP synthesis, membrane transport, and thermogenesis (Harms and Seale, 2013; Mitchell, 1961; Schleyer et al., 1982).

Supporting bioenergetics is a critical function of respiration in mammalian cells. However, many proliferating cells display increased fermentation, which alone can be sufficient to supply ATP (Gottlieb and Tomlinson, 2005). In contrast to most normai tissues, cancer cells consume increased amounts of glucose and metabolize much of this glucose to lactate even in the presence of ample oxygen (Koppenol et al., 2011; Warburg et al., 1924). It was initially hypothesized that this phenotype, termed aerobic glycolysis or the Warburg effect, was the result of diminished mitochondrial function (Warburg, 1956). However, despite utilizing aerobic glycolysis, most cancer cells also consume oxygen (Weinhouse, 1956; Zu and Guppy, 2004). Notably, in cancer cell lines the primary substrate for oxidation is often not glucose but rather glutamine, one of the most heavily consumed nutrients by cells in culture (Fan et al., 2013; Kovacevic, 1971; Zielke et al., 1984). Hence, it appears that aerobic glycolysis does not replace

mitochondrial respiration, but rather, in rapidly proliferating cells these processes occur in parallel.

Most cells that engage in aerobic glycolysis are not only capable of respiration but also require respiration for proliferation. Exposure of cancer cells in culture to mitochondrial respiration inhibitors blocks proliferation (Harris, 1980; Howell and Sager, 1979; Kroll et al., 1983; Loffer and Schneider, 1982). *In vivo*, maintenance of mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) is required for autochthonous tumor formation (Weinberg et al., 2010) and inhibition of respiration in cancer cells suppresses tumor growth in xenografts (Wheaton et al., 2014; Zhang et al., 2014). These findings argue that mitochondrial respiration is essential for rapid proliferation, but whether respiration is advantageous for proliferation beyond producing ATP is less clear.

Despite the importance of respiration in mammalian cell proliferation, under specific culture conditions proliferation is possible in the absence of mitochondrial respiration. Serial passage in low dose ethidium bromide produces cells devoid of mtDNA (ρ^0 cells) (King and Attardi, 1989, 1996). ρ^0 cells lack a functional mitochondrial electron transport chain (ETC), and these respiration-incompetent cells fail to proliferate unless supraphysiological levels of uridine and pyruvate are present in the culture media (King and Attardi, 1989). The uridine auxotrophy is explained by the fact that the *de novo* pyrimidine biosynthesis enzyme dihydroorotate dehydrogenase (DHODH) transfers electrons directly to the mitochondrial ETC to convert dihydroorotate to orotate. Therefore, loss of electron transport to O₂ prevents this reaction and exogenous uridine is needed to produce pyrimidines (Gregoire et al., 1984). The requirement for pyruvate,

however, was initially unexpected because cells deficient in mtDNA are highly glycolytic and capable of generating large amounts of pyruvate (King and Attardi, 1989).

The fact that supplementation of specific nutrients can substitute for respiration suggests respiration fulfills specific metabolic requirements for proliferating cells. While ATP synthesis via oxidative phosphorylation is often assumed to be the critical output of respiration, neither exogenous uridine nor pyruvate can be oxidized to supply ATP in the absence of respiration. However, other than dihyroorotate to orotate conversion, the metabolic function(s) that become limiting for proliferation in the absence of respiration are unknown.

Here we show that loss of mitochondrial respiration causes proliferating cells to become functionally limited for electron acceptors. This lack of electron acceptors impairs *de novo* aspartate synthesis and inhibits proliferation. Strikingly, this proliferation block can be overcome by supplementing cells with exogenous electron acceptors or by high levels of aspartate. This requirement for respiration to support aspartate synthesis is present in a diverse array of proliferating mammalian cells, including both transformed and non-transformed cells. Taken together our data argue that the most essential metabolic function for proliferation provided by mitochondrial respiration is to provide access to electron acceptors to support aspartate biosynthesis.

Results

Alpha-ketobutyrate can substitute for pyruvate to support proliferation in respiration-incompetent cells.

Cells lacking a functional mitochondrial ETC, including ρ^0 cells that lack mtDNA, require pyruvate for proliferation (King and Attardi, 1989). This suggests that pyruvate substitutes for an essential metabolic function of respiration. We reasoned that better understanding the role of pyruvate in these cells would allow us to gain insight into how respiration supports the metabolic needs of proliferating cells. To eliminate respirationindependent effects of mtDNA depletion, we used 143B p⁰ cells that were repopulated with mtDNA harboring a frame shift deletion in cytochrome B (143B CytB), an essential component of complex III of the ETC (Rana et al., 2000). 143B CytB cells have otherwise wild-type mitochondria, but are respiration-incompetent due to lack of cytochrome B in complex III and, therefore, lack a functional ETC. As a control we utilized 143B p⁰ cells which were repopulated with wild-type mtDNA (143B WT cybrid) and are respiration-competent with a functional ETC. 143B CytB cells are indeed auxotrophic for pyruvate as they failed to proliferate in the absence of pyruvate (Fig 1A). Conversely, 143B WT cybrid cells cultured with or without pyruvate divide at a similar rate (Fig S1A), confirming that pyruvate auxotrophy accompanies a loss of mitochondrial respiration.

Several hypotheses have been proposed to explain pyruvate auxotrophy (Howell and Sager, 1979; King and Attardi, 1996; Morais et al., 1994; van den Bogert et al., 1992). Pyruvate carbon has many metabolic fates including conversion to oxaloacetate via pyruvate carboxylase, malate via malic enzyme, and acetyl-CoA via the pyruvate dehydrogenase complex. Thus, one hypothesis is that pyruvate acts as a carbon

substrate for synthesis of biosynthetic intermediates that are normally dependent on respiration. An alternative hypothesis is that in the absence of a functional ETC, cells cannot adequately oxidize cellular NADH. Hence, pyruvate may be required to function as an exogenous electron acceptor to regenerate NAD+ via the lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) reaction (Fig 1B). Importantly, the continued production of pyruvate from glycolysis requires NAD+ and, therefore, the use of glucose-derived pyruvate as a biosynthetic intermediate requires a source of NAD+ regeneration to maintain redox balance.

In order to decouple the potential roles of pyruvate as a precursor for other metabolites and as an electron acceptor to regenerate NAD+, we sought alternative substrates that could support 143B CytB cell proliferation in the absence of pyruvate. One candidate we identified is the four-carbon metabolite alpha-ketobutyrate (AKB), which, similar to pyruvate, can act as a substrate for LDH or other intracellular dehydrogenases (Fig 1C). While not the preferred substrate for LDH, we confirmed that LDH can utilize AKB to regenerate NAD+ from NADH with reasonable kinetics (Fig S1B). We then tested whether AKB was sufficient to support proliferation of 143B CytB cells in the absence of pyruvate. Indeed, AKB restores proliferation of 143B CytB cells to levels similar to that observed when the cells are cultured in the presence of pyruvate (Fig 1D). Supplementation with AKB does not restore oxygen consumption (Fig S1C), and AKB addition does not alleviate uridine auxotrophy (Fig S1D). Like pyruvate, AKB also does not impact proliferation of 143B WT cybrids (Fig S1E), demonstrating that AKB acts in a manner similar to, and can substitute for, pyruvate to support proliferation of respiration deficient 143B CytB cells.

As electron acceptors, AKB and pyruvate are both expected to regenerate NAD+. To test whether AKB and pyruvate are sufficient to alter the NAD+/NADH ratio in cells, we measured cellular NAD+/NADH ratios in 143B CytB cells cultured in the absence or presence of either pyruvate or AKB. As expected, addition of either pyruvate or AKB is sufficient to increase the cellular NAD+/NADH ratio, consistent with these molecules serving as exogenous electron acceptors (Fig 1E). Given that AKB and pyruvate have different metabolic carbon-fates, we hypothesized that AKB is used predominantly as an electron acceptor and not as a carbon substrate in other metabolic pathways. If metabolized by LDH, or other dehydrogenases that use NADH to reduce the alphaketone to a hydroxyl and regenerate NAD+, the expected product is alphahydroxybutyrate (AHB) (Fig 1C). To test whether this is the fate of AKB in 143B CytB cells under conditions where this metabolite is required for proliferation, we quantitatively measured the consumption of AKB and excretion of AHB in the media of 143B CytB cells cultured in the absence of pyruvate. We found that the consumption of AKB matched the excretion of AHB (Fig 1F). Since AKB and AHB are both four-carbon metabolites that differ only by oxidation state, and levels of these metabolites in the culture media are negligible when AKB is not added, this result strongly suggests that AKB only acts as an electron acceptor and does not directly contribute carbon to metabolism. Since AKB is sufficient to replace pyruvate in supporting 143B CytB cell proliferation, the pyruvate auxotrophy of these respiration incompetent cells is best explained as a requirement for exogenous electron acceptors. Taken together, these data suggest that access to exogenous electron acceptors provided by respiration (O_2) , pyruvate, or AKB are required to support proliferation.



Figure 1. Cytochrome B Mutant 143B Cybrid Cells are Auxotrophic for Electron Acceptors that can Regenerate NAD+.

(A) Proliferation rate of 143B CytB cells was determined in the presence or absence of pyruvate. (left) Cell counts, normalized to cell number at t=0 when media conditions were applied, were assessed over time and used to calculate proliferation rate (right). (B) Pyruvate is a substrate of lactate dehydrogenase (LDH), accepting electrons from NADH to produce NAD+ and lactate. (C) Alpha-ketobutyrate (AKB) can also act as an electron acceptor from NADH and yield NAD+ and alpha-hydroxybutyrate (AHB). (D) Proliferation rate for 143B CytB cells in the presence or absence of AKB was determined as in (A). (E) Intracellular ratio of NAD+/NADH was determined in 143B CytB cells in untreated media or in the presence of pyruvate (Pyr) or AKB. (F) The concentration of AKB and AHB in the media of 143B CytB cells cultured in the presence of AKB was determined over time by GCMS analysis. Values in all figure panels denote mean ± standard error of the mean (SEM), n=3. See also Figure S1.

Inhibition of respiration causes auxotrophy for electron acceptors.

Generation of 143B CytB cells involves a selection process that might result in additional uncharacterized changes that alter the metabolic requirements provided by respiration. To test whether parental cells with a functional ETC have the same requirements for respiration, we treated wild-type 143B cells (143B) with an array of respiration inhibitors. Given the known DHODH requirement for respiration and the finding that AKB can substitute for pyruvate as an electron acceptor, this and all subsequent experiments were performed in the presence of uridine and in the absence of pyruvate. Inhibitors of mitochondrial complex I, complex III, complex IV, and ATP synthase were all sufficient to suppress proliferation and most resulted in decreased cell count over time (Fig 2A). Exposure to ETC inhibitors at these doses decreased oxygen consumption (Fig S2) and, thus, decreased access to electron acceptors. To test the hypothesis that respiration is necessary for proliferation in these cells because it provides access to electron acceptors, we tested if AKB supplementation could restore proliferation. In all cases, AKB supplementation rescued proliferation, with proliferation rates comparable to that observed in untreated cells (Fig 2A). To confirm that AKB also acts as an electron acceptor in this context, we measured the NAD+/NADH ratio in cells treated with ETC inhibitors in the absence or presence of AKB. ETC inhibitors all resulted in a decreased cellular NAD+/NADH ratio in the absence of AKB (Fig 2B). Treatment with AKB restored NAD+/NADH, while having no effect on O₂ consumption, confirming that AKB is sufficient to increase oxidized cofactor pools (Fig 2B, S2).

To determine whether a similar dependence on respiration exists in other proliferating cells, we treated a panel of genetically diverse cell lines including both transformed and

non-transformed cells with three representative respiration inhibitors: rotenone (complex I inhibitor), antimycin (complex III inhibitor), and oligomycin (ATP synthase inhibitor). In all cell lines tested, treatment with any of these inhibitors blocked proliferation and addition of AKB was sufficient to restore proliferation (Fig 2C). Taken together, these data suggest that the ability to transfer electrons to oxygen is a primary function of respiration to support proliferation.



Figure 2. Proliferation of Respiration-Inhibited Cells is Restored by Exogenous Electron Acceptors.

(A) The proliferation rate of 143B cells was determined in media with or without AKB supplementation in the absence (Untr) or in the presence of the mitochondrial respiration inhibitors rotenone (Rot), phenformin (Phen), antimycin (Ant), myxothiazol (Myxo), azide (N₃), or oligomycin (Oligo). (B) The ratio of NAD+/NADH was determined in 143B cells with or without AKB supplementation in the absence or presence of respiration inhibitors as in A. (C) The proliferation rate of A172, H1299, HeLa, U87, FL5.12, and MEF cell lines was determined with or without AKB supplementation in the absence or presence of rotenone, antimycin, or oligomycin. Values in all figure panels denote mean ± standard error of the mean (SEM), n=3. See also Figure S2.

The use of oxygen as a terminal electron acceptor by mitochondrial respiration is well described. However, this role for oxygen is classically considered in the context of enabling NADH oxidation by the ETC to produce a membrane potential across the mitochondrial inner membrane and support ATP synthesis. Notably, reduction of AKB allows regeneration of NAD+ but does not support ATP production, arguing that mitochondrial ATP production is not required for proliferation. To further test this idea, we utilized oligomycin, a specific ATP synthase inhibitor, and the ionophore carbonyl cyanide-4-(trifluoromethoxy)phenylhydrazone (FCCP), an uncoupler of the mitochondrial membrane potential. In normal respiration, electrons from NADH are transferred to the ETC and then ultimately to oxygen to generate an electrochemical proton gradient across the mitochondrial inner membrane, which can drive ATP synthesis. As an ATP synthase inhibitor oligomycin does not directly inhibit components of the ETC, but rather slows ETC electron transfer to oxygen by hyperpolarizing the mitochondrial membrane potential (Fig 3A) (Brand and Nicholls, 2011). Thus, treatment with oligomycin alone decreases oxygen consumption (Fig S2C). However, addition of the uncoupling agent FCCP can restore the ability to transfer electrons from the ETC to oxygen in the presence of oligomycin by relieving membrane hyperpolarization without reversing inhibition of ATP synthase function (Fig 3A). Therefore, if providing access to electron acceptors is the essential function of respiration independent of ATP production, restoring oxygen consumption with FCCP should restore proliferation of oligomycin treated cells. To test this, we compared the proliferation rate of 143B cells cultured in oligomycin in the absence or presence of FCCP. Consistent with the hypothesis, FCCP addition increased proliferation of oligomycin treated cells (Fig 3B). Also in agreement with the hypothesis, FCCP increased both oxygen consumption and the NAD+/NADH ratio (Fig 3C and Fig 3D). Since FCCP and oligomycin act independently, FCCP addition
does not restore mitochondrial ATP production. These data argue that providing access to electron acceptors, rather than supporting mitochondrial ATP production, is a limiting function of mitochondrial respiration for supporting proliferation.



Figure 3. Oxygen Utilization in the Absence of Mitochondrial ATP Production is Sufficient for Cell Proliferation.

(A) Schematic illustrating the effects of oligomycin and FCCP on mitochondrial membrane potential and ATP synthesis. Oligomycin treatment inhibits ATP synthase, resulting in a hyperpolarized mitochondrial membrane. This hyperpolarization inhibits proton pumping and thereby inhibits ETC activity resulting in decreased NADH oxidation and O₂ consumption (left). Treatment with FCCP in addition to oligomycin relieves the hyperpolarization of the mitochondrial membrane allowing restoration of NADH oxidation and mitochondrial O₂ consumption without restoring ATP production. (right). (B) Proliferation rate of 143B cells treated with oligomycin in the presence or absence of FCCP treatment. (C) Mitochondrial oxygen consumption rate of 143B cells treated with oligomycin with or without FCCP. (D) Intracellular NAD+/NADH ratio in oligomycin treated 143B cells treated with oligomycin in the presence or absence of FCCP. Values in all figure panels denote mean ± standard error of the mean (SEM), n=3 (B, D), n=5 (C).

Electron acceptor insufficiency causes inhibition of nucleotide biosynthesis.

To gain mechanistic insight into why electron acceptors are required for proliferation, we characterized the phenotype of respiration incompetent cells under conditions where access to electron acceptors is limiting. Analysis of DNA content in non-proliferating 143B CytB cells without AKB suggested that these cells do not arrest at a specific stage of the cell cycle (Fig 4A). Surprisingly, despite complete cessation of proliferation for over 72 hours these cells remained viable and a substantial fraction of the cells had a DNA content between 2N and 4N suggesting that some cells were unable to progress through S-phase. Furthermore, compared to cells proliferating in the presence of AKB, the non-proliferating population showed a subtle accumulation of cells with a DNA content less than 4N. An inability to generate sufficient nucleotides to support DNA synthesis can prevent progression through S-phase (Lunt et al., 2015). To determine if a deficiency in nucleotide synthesis contributes to the inability to proliferate in the absence of AKB, we quantified nucleotide pools in 143B CytB cells in the presence and absence of AKB using liquid chromatography mass spectrometry (LCMS). Because pyrimidine nucleotide pools are confounded by excess uridine supplemented in the media, we focused analysis on purine nucleotides. Compared to AKB replete cells, cells cultured without AKB showed increased levels of the purine nucleotide inosine-5'monophosphate (IMP) (Fig 4B). IMP is a precursor of both guanine-5'-monophosphate (GMP) and adenine-5'-monophosphate (AMP). Despite an increase in IMP, both GMP and AMP levels were decreased in cells without AKB supplementation (Fig 4B). To determine whether the deficiency of purine nucleotides is functionally significant, we supplemented 143B CytB cells with exogenous adenine, guanine, and hypoxanthine. Using nucleotide salvage pathways, these nucleobases are converted to AMP, GMP,

and IMP, respectively. Whereas hypoxanthine had no effect on proliferation and guanine supplementation was somewhat toxic, supplementation with adenine restored proliferation for one doubling, and alleviated the subtle accumulation of cells with DNA content less than 4N (Fig 4C, S3A). These data suggest that loss of respiration impairs adenine nucleotide synthesis, and that adenine nucleotide deficiency partially explains the inability of cells to proliferate in the absence of electron acceptors.

Both the AMP/IMP ratio and the GMP/IMP ratio dramatically decrease when AKB is withdrawn from cells cultured in the presence of this exogenous electron acceptor (Fig S3B). This decrease in the AMP/IMP and GMP/IMP ratios suggests an inability to convert IMP to either AMP or GMP. Conversion of IMP to GMP consumes an NAD+ by inosine 5'monophosphate dehydrogenase (IMPDH), and, thus, this reaction may be inhibited by decreased NAD+ availability (Fig 4D). In contrast, conversion of IMP to AMP does not directly require oxidation but instead consumes aspartate (Fig 4D). This suggests the possibility that decreased AMP production could be downstream of an aspartate deficiency. Importantly, an underlying aspartate deficiency could explain the transitory nature of adenine rescue; adenine can only restore proliferation to those cells in a phase of cell cycle where adenine is limiting and fails to compensate for other roles that aspartate might play in cell growth and division.





(A) Analysis of DNA content by propidium iodide staining and flow cytometry of 143B CytB cells cultured with our without AKB supplementation. (B) LCMS quantification of purine nucleotide levels in 143B CytB cells cultured with or without AKB supplementation. (C) Cell doublings were measured over time of 143B Cytb cells cultured in media that was not or was supplemented with AKB, adenine, hypoxanthine, or guanine. (D) Schematic illustrating the use of IMP for GMP and AMP synthesis. Synthesis of GMP uses NAD+, whereas synthesis of AMP requires aspartate. Values in (B) and (C) denote mean ± standard error of the mean (SEM), n=3. See also Figure S3.

Aspartate synthesis is inhibited by electron acceptor insufficiency.

In most tumor cells in culture, carbon for *de novo* aspartate synthesis is supplied by anaplerotic glutamine (DeBerardinis et al., 2007; Hensley et al., 2013). Glutamine is converted to glutamate, which enters the TCA cycle upon conversion to alphaketoglutarate by glutamate dehydrogenase (GDH) or transamination (Fig 5A). While GDH uses NAD+ as a co-substrate, the glutamate transaminases utilize alphaketoacids, such as pyruvate, as co-substrates. Regardless of which pathway produces alpha-ketoglutarate from glutamate, conversion of a carbon-nitrogen single bond to a carbon-oxygen double bond necessitates that an electron pair is transferred to an electron acceptor. Reductive synthesis of aspartate by reductive carboxylation of alphaketoglutarate requires high levels of alpha-ketoglutarate, (Fendt et al., 2013), and electron acceptors are needed to maintain increased alpha-ketoglutarate pools. Oxidative synthesis of aspartate from alpha-ketoglutarate requires three additional oxidation reactions requiring net transfer of two electron pairs, thus imposing a further requirement for additional electron acceptors to produce aspartate from alphaketoglutarate (Fig 5A). Given that both aspartate synthesis pathways utilize electron acceptors, we reasoned that electron acceptor deficiency in respiration-inhibited cells could limit aspartate production and result in aspartate deficiency.

To test this possibility, we used gas chromatography mass spectrometry (GCMS) to measure the electron acceptor dependency of glutamate, aspartate, and TCA cycle metabolite levels in cells. In 143B CytB cells, which metabolize glutamine by reductive carboxylation (Fig S4)(Mullen et al., 2014; Mullen et al., 2012) glutamate levels are only modestly lower upon AKB withdrawal, whereas pool sizes of TCA cycle metabolites are

drastically decreased (Fig 5B). Aspartate was also dramatically decreased in these cells, supporting the hypothesis that aspartate limitation may explain the observed AMP/IMP imbalance in cells with electron acceptor insufficiency. In wild-type 143B cells, which normally produce aspartate by oxidative TCA cycle metabolism (Fig S4), treatment with the respiration inhibitors rotenone, antimycin, and oligomycin yielded similar results, with decreases in both TCA metabolites and aspartate, but not glutamate (Fig 5C). In all cases, treatment with AKB restored aspartate to levels comparable to, or higher than, untreated cells. These data demonstrate that lack of available electron acceptors restricts aspartate biosynthesis.



Figure 5. Electron Acceptor Insufficiency Suppresses TCA Metabolite and Aspartate Levels.

(A) Schematic detailing the TCA cycle reaction routes for the biosynthesis of aspartate from glutamine. (B) GCMS quantification of TCA cycle metabolites, glutamate, and aspartate from 143B CytB cells cultured with or without AKB. (C) GCMS quantification of TCA metabolites, glutamate, and aspartate from 143B cells cultured with or without AKB in the presence or absence of the indicated mitochondrial inhibitors. Ion counts are relative to untreated 143B cells, which is denoted by the dashed grey line in each panel. Values in (B) and (C) denote mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM), n=3. See also Figure S4.

Aspartate restores proliferation in cells with electron acceptor insufficiency.

To determine whether the absence of electron acceptors affects cell proliferation because of an effect on aspartate biosynthesis, we tested whether exogenous aspartate could replace the requirement for exogenous electron acceptors. Strikingly, in the absence of exogenous electron acceptors, supplementation with supra-physiological levels of aspartate was capable of supporting exponential growth of 143B CytB cells (Fig 6A). Given the decrease in other TCA cycle intermediates observed following electron acceptor withdrawal, we also questioned whether other TCA cycle intermediates, or their cell-permeable derivatives, could restore proliferation of these cells. None were able to restore proliferation to a similar degree as aspartate (Fig S5A, B). Respiration-competent 143B WT cybrid cells proliferated at similar rates in the presence or absence of aspartate (Fig S5C). Importantly, aspartate does not function as an exogenous electron acceptor as it neither increases mitochondrial oxygen consumption, nor does it affect the NAD+/NADH ratio in 143B CytB cells (Fig S5D and E). These data imply that aspartate is not an electron acceptor, but rather is itself the biosynthetic demand that becomes limiting for proliferation in electron acceptor deficient cells.

Measurement of purine monophosphates shows that treatment of 143B CytB cells with aspartate relieves the accumulation of IMP and restores AMP pools (Fig S5F). This is consistent with the hypothesis that in cells with insufficient electron acceptors, aspartate is limiting for adenine nucleotide synthesis. Interestingly, GMP levels are not restored by aspartate treatment, consistent with the conversion of IMP to GMP being dependent on NAD+, which is not restored by aspartate (Fig S5E). Indeed, GMP levels were lower in aspartate treated cells, likely as a result of decreased IMP availability (Fig S5F).

To determine whether aspartate is sufficient to restore proliferation in wild-type cells where respiration is inhibited, wild-type 143B cells were treated with various respiration inhibitors with or without aspartate supplementation. Proliferation was restored in response to all ETC inhibitors when cells were supplemented with high levels of aspartate (Fig 6B). Aspartate supplementation also rescued ETC inhibitor-induced proliferation decreases in all other cell lines tested (Fig 6C). Taken together, these data support a model where a major metabolic requirement for proliferating cells fulfilled by respiration is providing access to electron acceptors in the form of oxygen. This access to electron acceptors is required to support *de novo* aspartate biosynthesis and in the absence of mitochondrial respiration, the demand for oxygen can be met through supplementation of other electron acceptors such as pyruvate or AKB. Alternatively, if the demand for aspartate can be met exogenously, electron acceptors become dispensable for proliferation. Surprisingly, this implies that the major function of respiration in proliferating cells is to support *de novo* aspartate synthesis (Fig 6D).



Figure 6. Aspartate is the Key Biosynthetic Precursor Provided by Respiration.

(A) Proliferation rate of 143B CytB cells determined in the presence or absence of aspartate. (B) The proliferation rate of 143B cells cultured with or without aspartate in the presence of the mitochondrial respiration inhibitors rotenone (Rot), phenformin (Phen), antimycin (Ant), myxothiazol (Myxo), azide (N₃), or oligomycin (Oligo). (C) The proliferation rate of A172, H1299, HeLa, U87, FL5.12, and MEF cells cultured with or without aspartate in the presence of rotenone, antimycin, or oligomycin. (D) Schematic detailing the role of respiration and exogenous electron acceptors in aspartate biosynthesis. The conversion of nutrients into aspartate requires the removal of electrons and therefore requires access to electron acceptors, which can be supplied by respiration (O_2) or exogenous electron acceptors such as AKB. Maintenance of aspartate pools supports nucleotide and protein biosynthesis. Values in all figure panels denote mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM), n=3. See also Figure S5.

Discussion

In this study we examine the role of mitochondrial respiration in proliferative metabolism. Whereas respiration is primarily an ATP-producing catabolic process in non-proliferating cells, in proliferating cells respiration serves a crucial anabolic role by providing access to electron acceptors to support aspartate synthesis. Furthermore, mitochondrial ATP production appears dispensable in proliferating cells with access to sufficient glucose. Proliferating cells have different metabolic requirements than non-proliferating cells (Lunt and Vander Heiden, 2011); yet, the components of the metabolic network in both proliferating and non-proliferating cells are largely the same (Hu et al., 2013). During cell proliferation these same network components must take on distinct roles to balance the contrasting anabolic and catabolic needs of the cell. While respiration likely supports ATP production in addition to aspartate biosynthesis in many contexts, our finding that respiration is specifically required for aspartate biosynthesis in proliferating cells highlights a distinct anabolic role for respiration.

All cells must perform thermodynamically unfavorable processes. One solution for accomplishing this is to harness the free-energy of nutrient oxidation. The source of electron donors for oxidation can vary widely across species from inorganic material for chemolithotrophic bacteria to reduced carbon for most heterotrophs including mammalian cells. In all cases, nutrient oxidation requires net transfer of electrons to a terminal electron acceptor. In mammalian cells, substrates for nutrient oxidation include carbohydrates, lipids, and amino acids. Various metabolic pathways, including the TCA cycle, are employed for nutrient oxidation with electrons transferred initially to electron accepting cofactors such as NAD+ or FAD. These reactions yield NADH or FADH₂,

respectively, and result in production of intermediates with more oxidized carbon. The electrons from the reduced cofactors are transferred to the ETC, which uses O_2 as a terminal electron acceptor to produce water and facilitate ATP production. Importantly, ATP production through this process intimately couples the oxidation of carbon substrates to O_2 consumption.

In contexts where mammalian cells cannot utilize O₂ as a terminal electron acceptor, cells are unable to regenerate oxidized cofactors via the ETC. Cells can ferment pyruvate to lactate to regenerate NAD+; however, because the glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) step of glycolysis consumes NAD+, use of glucose-derived pyruvate for lactate fermentation does not net yield NAD+. Thus, in the absence of access to exogenous electron acceptors, in order to maintain redox balance and sustain glycolytic ATP production all glucose carbon metabolized via glycolysis past the GAPDH step must be excreted as lactate. While fermentation can produce sufficient ATP for proliferation, it is a redox neutral pathway. Consequently, in the absence of exogenous electron acceptors cells cannot net synthesize molecules that are more oxidized than the nutrients consumed. Thus, losing oxygen as an electron acceptor results in the inability to remove electrons from consumed carbon substrates.

To divide, proliferating cells must duplicate all cell components, some of which are more oxidized than the nutrients consumed. This suggests that net removal of electrons from carbon is an intrinsic anabolic requirement to support production of oxidized molecules, such as nucleotides, for biomass accumulation. This need to oxidize nutrients to generate biomass may result in electron acceptor insufficiency and limit proliferation even in the presence of oxygen. Notably, the NAD+/NADH ratio in normoxic cancer cells

is more reduced than previously assumed (Hung et al., 2011; Zhao et al., 2015), consistent with oxidation capacity being constrained. Because the NAD+/NADH ratio and the pyruvate/lactate ratio are tightly coupled in cells (Williamson et al., 1967), a low NAD+/NADH ratio is expected to drive increased net pyruvate to lactate conversion. This raises the possibility that the Warburg effect is a reflection of electron acceptor insufficiency.

In our study, we find that electron acceptors are most limiting for *de novo* aspartate synthesis. While cells in culture are exposed to atmospheric oxygen, oxygen availability in animal tissues is much lower (Bertout et al., 2008). Thus, it may be advantageous for cells to utilize less oxidative pathways when electron acceptors become more limiting. The need for electron acceptors is decreased when metabolic pathways that fix CO₂ are used for *de novo* aspartate synthesis. For instance, pyruvate carboxylation produces oxaloacetate that can be transaminated to form aspartate. Alternatively, reductive alphaketoglutarate carboxylation can generate isocitrate, which can be isomerized to citrate, cleaved to form oxaloacetate, and transaminated to produce aspartate. In both cases, fully oxidized carbon is incorporated to produce aspartate without directly requiring net removal of electrons. However, pyruvate and alpha-ketoglutarate are themselves oxidized relative to the major nutrients glucose and glutamine, imposing a need for electron acceptors to produce these carboxylation pathway substrates. Furthermore, the ability to maintain increased levels of pyruvate or alpha-ketoglutarate to support pyruvate carboxylation or reductive isocitrate dehydrogenase metabolism is compromised in electron acceptor deficient cells as illustrated by the dramatic fall in alpha-ketoglutarate levels when respiration is inhibited (Fig 5B, 5C). Therefore, regardless of the biosynthesis pathway used, electron acceptor insufficiency will limit aspartate synthesis.

Beyond its role as an amino acid in proteins, aspartate is required for conversion of IMP to AMP in *de novo* purine synthesis and provides the carbon backbone for *de novo* pyrimidines synthesis. Thus, aspartate deficiency will impair protein, purine nucleotide, and pyrimidine nucleotide synthesis. Notably, aspartate is inefficiently transported into most mammalian cells (Birsoy, et al., cosubmitted with this manuscript), with supraphysiological concentrations required to restore growth in electron acceptor deficient cells. The concentration of aspartate in blood is around 10 mM, among the lowest levels of all circulating amino acids (Mayers and Vander Heiden, 2015). Additionally, aspartate aminotransferase (AST) is among the most abundant enzymes in the liver, suggesting that circulating aspartate levels may be actively maintained at low levels. Given the critical role of aspartate in biosynthesis and the challenges associated with obtaining aspartate from the blood, access to electron acceptors for aspartate synthesis may be a requirement for proliferation in many tumors. Consistent with this idea, pharmacologic inhibition of ETC activity inhibits tumor growth in several cancer models (Shackelford et al., 2013; Wheaton et al., 2014; Zhang et al., 2014). Additionally, while ρ^0 cells are unable to form xenografts, reconstituting mtDNA in these cells restores tumorigenicity (Hayashi et al., 1992). This requirement for mtDNA appears so stringent that, in one study, injected p^0 cells formed tumors only after acquiring mtDNA from the host (Tan et al., 2015). While p⁰ cells are also expected to be pyrimidine-limited due to loss of DHODH activity, genetic loss of complex I, which blocks respiration but not DHODH, also impairs tumorigenesis (Park et al., 2009).

Beyond loss of aspartate biosynthesis, we find loss of ETC activity affects the NAD+/NADH ratio. This redox change will also influence other pathways. For example,

NAD+ is integral to sirtuin and PARP activity, and thus, loss of ETC activity may perturb signaling pathways that involve these enzymes (Canto and Auwerx, 2011). Additionally, mitochondrial ETC activity impacts apoptosis (Newmeyer and Ferguson-Miller, 2003; Wallace, 2012), processes that depend on the mitochondrial membrane potential (Chen et al., 2014; Geissler et al., 2000), and levels of reactive oxygen species in cells (Schieber and Chandel, 2014). Nevertheless, exogenous aspartate addition is sufficient to restore proliferation of cells that otherwise stop proliferating or die when ETC activity is impaired. Thus, a primary role for mitochondrial respiration in cell proliferation must be to provide access to electron acceptors in support of aspartate synthesis.

Experimental Procedures

Cell Culture

143B, A172, H1299, HeLa, U87 and immortalized MEF cells were cultured in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM) (Gibco) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) and penicillin-streptomycin. FL5.12 cells were cultured in the same medium and supplemented with 5 μg/mL recombinant mouse IL-3 (R&D Systems). 143B cybrid cell lines (WT Cybrid and CytB) were cultured in DMEM with 10% FBS, penicillin-streptomycin, and 0.1 mg/mL uridine. All cells were incubated at 37°C with 5% CO₂.

Proliferation Rates

Adherent cell lines growing in log phase were trypsinized, counted, and plated onto 6 well dishes (Corning) in 2 mL complete DMEM and incubated overnight. Initial seeding density was 20,000 cells per well for 143B, A172, H1299, HeLa, 143B WT Cybrid, and MEFs and 30,000 cells for 143B CytB and U87 cells. The following day, one plate of cells was counted to determine starting cell number at the time of treatment. Cells were washed 2 times with 2 mL phosphate buffered saline (PBS) and 4 mL media premixed with the indicated metabolites or compounds was added. FL5.12 cells, a suspension cell line, were washed 2 times in PBS and added directly to IL-3-containing media with the indicated metabolites or compounds. Proliferation rates were measured in DMEM without pyruvate containing 10% dialyzed FBS, penicillin-streptomycin, and 0.1 mg/mL uridine, unless otherwise noted. For all conditions the seeding densities used allowed exponential proliferation for 4 days and final cell counts were measured 4 days after treatment. Cells were counted using Cellometer Auto T4 Plus Cell Counter (Nexcelom Bioscience). Proliferation rate was determined using the following formula:

Proliferation Rate (Doublings per day) = (log₂ (Final cell count (day 5)/Initial cell count (day 1))/4 (days)

Concentrations of all metabolites and compounds added to culture media for each cell line are included as a table in supplemental methods (Table S1).

Mitochondrial Oxygen Consumption

Oxygen consumption rates were determined using a Seahorse Bioscience Extracellular Flux Analyzer (XF24). Cells were plated in Seahorse Bioscience 24 well plates at 60,000 cells per well in 100 μ l complete DMEM, allowed to attach for 1 hour, and 500 μ l

complete DMEM was added before overnight incubation. The following day cells were washed 2 times in assay media: DMEM without phenol red or pyruvate containing 0.5% dialyzed FBS and 0.1 mg/mL uridine at pH 7.4 and incubated in 500 μ L of the same media. Oxygen consumption measurements were compared to basal measurements or following injection of the compound (AKB, rotenone, antimycin), or between wells cultured overnight in their treatment conditions (aspartate, oligomycin, FCCP). These measurements were then subtracted from oxygen consumption measurements following addition of high dose rotenone and antimycin treatment (2 μ M each) to determine the mitochondria specific oxygen consumption rate. Following measurements, cell number was determined, averaged, and the mitochondrial oxygen consumption rates normalized to 100,000 cells.

Lactate Dehydrogenase Assay

Immediately prior to the start of the assay 100 μ l of a reaction buffer containing 50 mM HEPES-KOH pH 7.5, 20 mM KCl, 2 mM MgCl₂, 1 mM DTT, 180 μ M NADH, 1 mM alphaketobutyrate (when used) was combined with LDH (Sigma) (when added) in 96-well plates. Lactate dehydrogenase activity was assayed by monitoring disappearance of NADH absorbance at 340 nm over time.

Purine Nucleotide Metabolite Extraction and LCMS Analysis

143B CytB cells were seeded at 400,000 cells/well in 6 well dishes overnight. The following day, cells were washed 2 times in PBS and media was changed to proliferation assay media with or without the indicated treatments. After 15 hours, polar metabolites

were extracted from cells using 250 μ of ice cold 80% methanol. After scraping the cells, 250 μ l of chloroform was added before vortexing for 10 min at 4 °C and centrifugation for 10 min at 4 °C at 16,000g, 40 μ l of the top, water-methanol layer was transferred into a LCMS tube prior to sample analysis. A Dionex UltiMate 3000 ultra-high performance liquid chromatography system connected to a Q Exactive benchtop Orbitrap mass spectrometer, equipped with an Ion Max source and a HESI II probe (Thermo Fisher Scientific) was used to quantify metabolites. Samples were separated by chromatography by injecting 10 μ l of sample on a SeQuant ZIC-pHILIC Polymeric column (2.1 × 150 mm 5 μ M, EMD Millipore). Flow rate was set to 150 μ l/min, temperatures were set to 25 °C for column compartment and 4 °C for autosampler sample tray. Mobile Phase A consisted of 20 mM ammonium carbonate, 0.1% ammonium hydroxide. Mobile Phase B was 100% acetonitrile. The mobile phase gradient (%B) was set in the following protocol: 0-20 min.: linear gradient from 80% to 20% B; 20-20.5 min.: linear gradient from 20% to 80% B; 20.5-28 min.: hold at 80% B. Mobile phase was introduced into the ionization source set to the following parameters: sheath gas = 40, auxiliary gas = 15, sweep gas = 1, spray voltage = -3.1kV, capillary temperature = 275 °C, S-lens RF level = 40, probe temperature = 350 °C. Metabolites were monitored using full scan in negative mode in the range of 285-700 m/z, with the resolution set at 140,000, the AGC target at 106, and the maximum injection time at 250 msec. Relative quantitation of metabolites was performed with XCalibur QuanBrowser 2.2 (Thermo Fisher Scientific) using a 5 ppm mass tolerance and referencing an inhouse retention time library of chemical standards.

Amino Acid and TCA cycle Metabolite Extraction and GCMS Analysis

143B and 143B CytB cells were seeded at 400,000 cells/well in 6 well dishes overnight. The following day, cells were washed 2 times in PBS and media was changed to proliferation assay media with or without the indicated treatments. After 8 hours, polar metabolites were extracted using 80% methanol in water with 1 µg norvaline standard added per sample. Soluble content was then dried under nitrogen gas. Polar samples were derivatized and measured as detailed in (Lewis et al., 2014). Relative metabolite abundances were determined by integrating ion peak area (Metran) and normalized to norvaline internal extraction standard.

Cell Cycle Distribution Measurements

143B CytB cells were incubated in untreated media or media containing AKB or 100 μ M adenine for 78 hours before being washed with PBS, trypsinized, pelleted, and resuspended in 500 μ L PBS. Cells were fixed by adding 4.5 mL 70% ethanol and incubated at 4°C overnight. The following day cells were pelleted and resuspended in 1 mL PBS + 0.1% (v/v) Triton X-100. RNase A and then propidium iodide (PI) were added to 0.2 mg/mL and 20 μ g/mL, respectively. Samples were incubated at 37°C for 15 minutes and filtered into a flow cytometry tube. DNA content was measured by flow cytometry (BD FACS Canto II) and analyzed (FACS Diva Software).

Measurement of NAD+/NADH

NAD+/NADH measurements were done using a modified version of manufacturer instructions supplied with the NAD/NADH Glo Assay (Promega). Cells were plated as done for proliferation assays and treated as indicated prior to preparation of cell extracts

6 hours after treatment. For extraction, cells were washed 3 times in ice cold PBS, extracted in 100 μ L ice cold lysis buffer (1% Dodecyltrimethylammonium bromide (DTAB) in 0.2 N NaOH diluted 1:1 with PBS), and immediately frozen at -80°C. To measure NADH, 20 μ L of sample was moved to PCR tubes and incubated at 75°C for 30 min where basic conditions selectively degrade NAD+. To measure NAD+, 20 μ L of the samples was moved to PCR tubes containing 20 μ L lysis buffer and 20 μ L 0.4 N HCI and incubated at 60°C for 15 min, where acidic conditions selectively degrade NADH. Following incubations, samples were allowed to equilibrate to room temperature and then quenched by neutralizing with 20 μ L 0.25 M Tris in 0.2 N HCI (NADH) or 20 μ L 0.5 M Tris base (NAD+). Manufacturer instructions were followed thereafter to measure NAD+/NADH.

Statistical Analysis

Data are presented as the mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM). Sample size (n) indicates experimental replicates from a single representative experiment, the results of all experiments were validated by independent repetitions. Statistical significance was determined using a two-tailed Welch's t test where significance is $p \le 0.05$.

Supplemental Figures



Figure S1. AKB can Function as a Substrate for LDH and does not Restore Oxygen Consumption or Replace Uridine Auxotrophy in Respiration Incompetent Cells, Related to Figure 1.

(A) Proliferation of 143B WT cybrid cells in the presence or absence of pyruvate. (B) The ability of lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) to use AKB as a substrate was assessed by changes in NADH absorbance (at 340 nm) in the presence or absence of AKB and LDH as indicated. (C) Mitochondrial oxygen consumption rate of 143B WT cybrid and 143B CytB cells in the presence or absence of AKB. (D) Proliferation rate of 143B CytB cells cultured in the presence of AKB was determined with or without uridine supplementation. (E) Proliferation of 143B WT cybrid cells was determined in the presence or absence of AKB. (F) Viability was determined by propidium iodide exclusion for 143B WT cybrid and HeLa cells cultured in complete DMEM or DMEM without glucose, glutamine, or pyruvate, in the presence or absence of pyruvate or AKB supplementation as indicated. Values in all figures denote mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM), n=3 (A, B, D-F), n=5 (C).



Figure S2. Mitochondrial Oxygen Consumption is Inhibited by Respiration Inhibitors and is not Restored by AKB, Related to Figure 2.

Mitochondrial oxygen consumption rate of untreated 143B cells or 143B cells treated with rotenone (A), antimycin (B), or oligomycin (C), with or without AKB treatment. Values in all figures denote mean \pm SEM, n=5.



Figure S3. The Effect of Adenine on DNA Content and the Effect of AKB on Purine Nucleotide Ratios, Related to Figure 4.

(A) Analysis of DNA content by propidium iodide staining and flow cytometry of 143B CytB cells without AKB supplementation and with adenine supplementation. (B) Relative ion count ratios of AMP to IMP and GMP to IMP in 143B CytB cells with or without AKB supplementation. (C) LCMS quantification of SAICAR levels in 143B CytB cells cultured with or without AKB supplementation. Values denote mean \pm SEM, n=3.



Figure S4. Aspartate is Derived from Glutamine by Reductive Carboxylation in 143B CytB cells and Oxidative TCA Metabolism in 143B cells, Related to Figure 5.

(A) Schematic detailing the pathways used to produce alpha-ketoglutarate from glutamine. Abbreviations: Gln, glutamine; Glu, glutamic acid; AKG, alpha-ketoglutaric acid. (B) Schematic showing expected aspartate labeling patterns if synthesized from glutamine using oxidative TCA metabolism or reductive carboxylation as indicated.



Figure S5. Aspartate Supplementation Restores Adenine Nucleotide Levels and Supports Proliferation Without Affecting NAD+/NADH or Oxygen Consumption, Related to Figure 6. (A) Proliferation of 143B CytB cells determined after supplementation with the indicated concentrations of TCA cycle intermediates or aspartic acid. (B) Proliferation of 143B CytB cells was determined after supplementing with the indicted concentrations of methyl ester derivatives of TCA cycle intermediates or aspartate. (C) Proliferation of 143B WT cybrid cells was determined in the presence or absence of aspartate. (D) Mitochondrial oxygen consumption rate was determined in 143B WT Cybrid and 143B CytB cells in the presence or absence of aspartate. (E) Intracellular ratio of NAD+/NADH measured in 143B CytB cells cultured in standard media (Untr) or in media supplemented with AKB or aspartate (Asp). (F) LCMS quantification of purine nucleotide levels in 143B CytB cells without or with aspartate supplementation. (G) LCMS quantification of SAICAR levels in 143B CytB cells cultured without or with aspartate supplementation. Values in all figures denote mean \pm SEM, n=3 (A-C, E-G), n=5 (D). *** represents p \leq 0.001, N.S. indicates the measured values were not statistically different (p > 0.05).

References

Bertout, J.A., Patel, S.A., and Simon, M.C. (2008). The impact of O2 availability on human cancer. Nature reviews Cancer *8*, 967-975.

Brand, M.D., and Nicholls, D.G. (2011). Assessing mitochondrial dysfunction in cells. The Biochemical journal *435*, 297-312.

Canto, C., and Auwerx, J. (2011). NAD+ as a signaling molecule modulating metabolism. Cold Spring Harbor symposia on quantitative biology *76*, 291-298.

Chen, W.W., Birsoy, K., Mihaylova, M.M., Snitkin, H., Stasinski, I., Yucel, B., Bayraktar, E.C., Carette, J.E., Clish, C.B., Brummelkamp, T.R., *et al.* (2014). Inhibition of ATPIF1 ameliorates severe mitochondrial respiratory chain dysfunction in mammalian cells. Cell reports *7*, 27-34.

DeBerardinis, R.J., Mancuso, A., Daikhin, E., Nissim, I., Yudkoff, M., Wehrli, S., and Thompson, C.B. (2007). Beyond aerobic glycolysis: transformed cells can engage in glutamine metabolism that exceeds the requirement for protein and nucleotide synthesis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *104*, 19345-19350.

Fan, J., Kamphorst, J.J., Mathew, R., Chung, M.K., White, E., Shlomi, T., and Rabinowitz, J.D. (2013). Glutamine-driven oxidative phosphorylation is a major ATP source in transformed mammalian cells in both normoxia and hypoxia. Molecular systems biology *9*, 712.

Fendt, S.M., Bell, E.L., Keibler, M.A., Olenchock, B.A., Mayers, J.R., Wasylenko, T.M., Vokes, N.I., Guarente, L., Vander Heiden, M.G., and Stephanopoulos, G. (2013). Reductive glutamine metabolism is a function of the alpha-ketoglutarate to citrate ratio in cells. Nature communications *4*, 2236.

Geissler, A., Krimmer, T., Bomer, U., Guiard, B., Rassow, J., and Pfanner, N. (2000). Membrane potential-driven protein import into mitochondria. The sorting sequence of cytochrome b(2) modulates the deltapsi-dependence of translocation of the matrixtargeting sequence. Molecular biology of the cell *11*, 3977-3991.

Gottlieb, E., and Tomlinson, I.P. (2005). Mitochondrial tumour suppressors: a genetic and biochemical update. Nature reviews Cancer *5*, 857-866.

Gregoire, M., Morais, R., Quilliam, M.A., and Gravel, D. (1984). On auxotrophy for pyrimidines of respiration-deficient chick embryo cells. European journal of biochemistry / FEBS *142*, 49-55.

Harms, M., and Seale, P. (2013). Brown and beige fat: development, function and therapeutic potential. Nature medicine *19*, 1252-1263.

Harris, M. (1980). Pyruvate blocks expression of sensitivity to antimycin A and chloramphenicol. Somatic cell genetics *6*, 699-708.

Hayashi, J., Takemitsu, M., and Nonaka, I. (1992). Recovery of the missing tumorigenicity in mitochondrial DNA-less HeLa cells by introduction of mitochondrial DNA from normal human cells. Somatic cell and molecular genetics *18*, 123-129.

Hensley, C.T., Wasti, A.T., and DeBerardinis, R.J. (2013). Glutamine and cancer: cell biology, physiology, and clinical opportunities. The Journal of clinical investigation *123*, 3678-3684.

Howell, N., and Sager, R. (1979). Cytoplasmic genetics of mammalian cells: conditional sensitivity to mitochondrial inhibitors and isolation of new mutant phenotypes. Somatic cell genetics *5*, 833-845.

Hu, J., Locasale, J.W., Bielas, J.H., O'Sullivan, J., Sheahan, K., Cantley, L.C., Vander Heiden, M.G., and Vitkup, D. (2013). Heterogeneity of tumor-induced gene expression changes in the human metabolic network. Nature biotechnology *31*, 522-529.

Hung, Y.P., Albeck, J.G., Tantama, M., and Yellen, G. (2011). Imaging cytosolic NADH-NAD(+) redox state with a genetically encoded fluorescent biosensor. Cell metabolism *14*, 545-554.

King, M.P., and Attardi, G. (1989). Human cells lacking mtDNA: repopulation with exogenous mitochondria by complementation. Science *246*, 500-503.

King, M.P., and Attardi, G. (1996). Isolation of human cell lines lacking mitochondrial DNA. Methods in enzymology *264*, 304-313.

Koppenol, W.H., Bounds, P.L., and Dang, C.V. (2011). Otto Warburg's contributions to current concepts of cancer metabolism. Nature reviews Cancer *11*, 325-337.

Kovacevic, Z. (1971). The pathway of glutamine and glutamate oxidation in isolated mitochondria from mammalian cells. The Biochemical journal *125*, 757-763.

Kroll, W., Loffler, M., and Schneider, F. (1983). Energy parameters, macromolecular synthesis and cell cycle progression of in vitro grown Ehrlich ascites tumor cells after inhibition of oxidative ATP synthesis by oligomycin. Zeitschrift fur Naturforschung Section C: Biosciences *38*, 604-612.

Lewis, C.A., Parker, S.J., Fiske, B.P., McCloskey, D., Gui, D.Y., Green, C.R., Vokes, N.I., Feist, A.M., Vander Heiden, M.G., and Metallo, C.M. (2014). Tracing compartmentalized NADPH metabolism in the cytosol and mitochondria of mammalian cells. Molecular cell *55*, 253-263.

Loffer, M., and Schneider, F. (1982). Further characterization of the growth inhibitory effect of rotenone on in vitro cultured Ehrlich ascites tumour cells. Molecular and cellular biochemistry *48*, 77-90.

Lunt, S.Y., Muralidhar, V., Hosios, A.M., Israelsen, W.J., Gui, D.Y., Newhouse, L., Ogrodzinski, M., Hecht, V., Xu, K., Acevedo, P.N., *et al.* (2015). Pyruvate kinase isoform expression alters nucleotide synthesis to impact cell proliferation. Molecular cell *57*, 95-107.

Lunt, S.Y., and Vander Heiden, M.G. (2011). Aerobic glycolysis: meeting the metabolic requirements of cell proliferation. Annual review of cell and developmental biology *27*, 441-464.

Mayers, J.R., and Vander Heiden, M.G. (2015). Famine versus feast: understanding the metabolism of tumors in vivo. Trends in biochemical sciences *40*, 130-140.

Mitchell, P. (1961). Coupling of phosphorylation to electron and hydrogen transfer by a chemi-osmotic type of mechanism. Nature *191*, 144-148.

Morais, R., Zinkewich-Peotti, K., Parent, M., Wang, H., Babai, F., and Zollinger, M. (1994). Tumor-forming ability in athymic nude mice of human cell lines devoid of mitochondrial DNA. Cancer research *54*, 3889-3896.

Mullen, A.R., Hu, Z., Shi, X., Jiang, L., Boroughs, L.K., Kovacs, Z., Boriack, R., Rakheja, D., Sullivan, L.B., Linehan, W.M., *et al.* (2014). Oxidation of alpha-ketoglutarate is required for reductive carboxylation in cancer cells with mitochondrial defects. Cell reports *7*, 1679-1690.

Mullen, A.R., Wheaton, W.W., Jin, E.S., Chen, P.H., Sullivan, L.B., Cheng, T., Yang, Y., Linehan, W.M., Chandel, N.S., and DeBerardinis, R.J. (2012). Reductive carboxylation supports growth in tumour cells with defective mitochondria. Nature *481*, 385-388.

Newmeyer, D.D., and Ferguson-Miller, S. (2003). Mitochondria: releasing power for life and unleashing the machineries of death. Cell *112*, 481-490.

Park, J.S., Sharma, L.K., Li, H., Xiang, R., Holstein, D., Wu, J., Lechleiter, J., Naylor, S.L., Deng, J.J., Lu, J., *et al.* (2009). A heteroplasmic, not homoplasmic, mitochondrial DNA mutation promotes tumorigenesis via alteration in reactive oxygen species generation and apoptosis. Human molecular genetics *18*, 1578-1589.

Rana, M., de Coo, I., Diaz, F., Smeets, H., and Moraes, C.T. (2000). An out-of-frame cytochrome b gene deletion from a patient with parkinsonism is associated with impaired complex III assembly and an increase in free radical production. Annals of neurology *48*, 774-781.

Schieber, M., and Chandel, N.S. (2014). ROS function in redox signaling and oxidative stress. Current biology : CB *24*, R453-462.

Schleyer, M., Schmidt, B., and Neupert, W. (1982). Requirement of a membrane potential for the posttranslational transfer of proteins into mitochondria. European journal of biochemistry / FEBS *125*, 109-116.

Shackelford, D.B., Abt, E., Gerken, L., Vasquez, D.S., Seki, A., Leblanc, M., Wei, L., Fishbein, M.C., Czernin, J., Mischel, P.S., *et al.* (2013). LKB1 inactivation dictates

therapeutic response of non-small cell lung cancer to the metabolism drug phenformin. Cancer cell 23, 143-158.

Tan, A.S., Baty, J.W., Dong, L.F., Bezawork-Geleta, A., Endaya, B., Goodwin, J., Bajzikova, M., Kovarova, J., Peterka, M., Yan, B., *et al.* (2015). Mitochondrial genome acquisition restores respiratory function and tumorigenic potential of cancer cells without mitochondrial DNA. Cell metabolism *21*, 81-94.

van den Bogert, C., Spelbrink, J.N., and Dekker, H.L. (1992). Relationship between culture conditions and the dependency on mitochondrial function of mammalian cell proliferation. Journal of cellular physiology *152*, 632-638.

Wallace, D.C. (2012). Mitochondria and cancer. Nature reviews Cancer 12, 685-698.

Warburg, O. (1956). On the origin of cancer cells. Science 123, 309-314.

Warburg, O., Posener, K., and Negelein, E. (1924). On the metabolism of carcinoma cells. Biochem Z *152*, 309-344.

Weinberg, F., Hamanaka, R., Wheaton, W.W., Weinberg, S., Joseph, J., Lopez, M., Kalyanaraman, B., Mutlu, G.M., Budinger, G.R., and Chandel, N.S. (2010). Mitochondrial metabolism and ROS generation are essential for Kras-mediated tumorigenicity. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *107*, 8788-8793.

Weinhouse, S. (1956). On respiratory impairment in cancer cells. Science 124, 267-269.

Wheaton, W.W., Weinberg, S.E., Hamanaka, R.B., Soberanes, S., Sullivan, L.B., Anso, E., Glasauer, A., Dufour, E., Mutlu, G.M., Budigner, G.S., *et al.* (2014). Metformin inhibits mitochondrial complex I of cancer cells to reduce tumorigenesis. Elife *3*, e02242.

Williamson, D.H., Lund, P., and Krebs, H.A. (1967). The redox state of free nicotinamideadenine dinucleotide in the cytoplasm and mitochondria of rat liver. The Biochemical journal *103*, 514-527.

Zhang, X., Fryknas, M., Hernlund, E., Fayad, W., De Milito, A., Olofsson, M.H., Gogvadze, V., Dang, L., Pahlman, S., Schughart, L.A., *et al.* (2014). Induction of mitochondrial dysfunction as a strategy for targeting tumour cells in metabolically compromised microenvironments. Nature communications *5*, 3295.

Zhao, Y., Hu, Q., Cheng, F., Su, N., Wang, A., Zou, Y., Hu, H., Chen, X., Zhou, H.M., Huang, X., *et al.* (2015). SoNar, a Highly Responsive NAD(+)/NADH Sensor, Allows High-Throughput Metabolic Screening of Anti-tumor Agents. Cell metabolism *21*, 777-789.

Zielke, H.R., Zielke, C.L., and Ozand, P.T. (1984). Glutamine: a major energy source for cultured mammalian cells. Federation proceedings *43*, 121-125.

Zu, X.L., and Guppy, M. (2004). Cancer metabolism: facts, fantasy, and fiction. Biochemical and biophysical research communications *313*, 459-465.

Chapter 3: Environment Dictates Dependence on Mitochondrial Complex I for NAD+ and Aspartate Production and Determines Cancer Cell Sensitivity

to Metformin

Authors:

Dan Y. Gui^{1,5}, Lucas B. Sullivan^{1,5}, Alba Luengo¹, Aaron M. Hosios¹, Lauren N. Bush¹, Nadege Gitego¹, Shawn M. Davidson¹, Elizaveta Freinkman², Craig J. Thomas³, Matthew G. Vander Heiden^{1,4}*

Affiliations:

¹The Koch Institute for Integrative Cancer Research and Department of Biology, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA 02142, USA ²Whitehead Institute for Biomedical Research, Nine Cambridge Center, Cambridge, MA 02142, USA ³National Institutes of Health (NIH) Chemical Genomics Center, National Center for

Advancing Translational Sciences, NIH, Bethesda, Maryland, USA ⁴Dana-Farber Cancer Institute, Boston, MA 02115, USA

⁵Co-first Authors

Author Contributions:

D.Y.G. and L.B.S. performed experiments to determine proliferation rates, oxygen consumption measurements, NAD+/NADH ratio measurements, and metabolite measurements. A.L. performed xenograft experiments and assisted with writing the manuscript. A.M.H. performed immunoblotting experiments. L.N.B. and N.G. performed proliferation rate experiments. S.M.D. provided preliminary data and technical expertise. E.F. performed LCMS experiments. C.J.T. provided critical supplies and experimental design. D.Y.G., L.B.S., and M.G.V.H. designed the study and wrote the manuscript.

A version of this chapter has been published previously:

Gui, D. Y., Sullivan, L. B., Luengo, A., Hosios, A. M., Bush, L. N., Gitego, N., Davidson, S. M., Freinkman, E., Thomas, C. J. & Vander Heiden, M. G. Environment Dictates Dependence on Mitochondrial Complex I for NAD+ and Aspartate Production and Determines Cancer Cell Sensitivity to Metformin. *Cell Metab.* **24**, 716–727 (2016).

Summary

Metformin use is associated with reduced cancer mortality, but how metformin impacts cancer outcomes is controversial. While metformin can act cell autonomously to inhibit tumor growth, the doses of metformin that inhibit proliferation in tissue culture are much higher than what has been described in vivo. Here, we show that environment drastically alters sensitivity to metformin and other complex I inhibitors. We find that complex I supports proliferation by regenerating NAD+, and metformin's anti-proliferative effect is due to loss of NAD+/NADH homeostasis and inhibition of aspartate biosynthesis. However, complex I is only one of many inputs that determine cellular NAD+/NADH ratio, and dependency on complex I is dictated by the activity of other pathways that affect NAD+ regeneration and aspartate levels. This suggests that cancer drug sensitivity and resistance are not intrinsic properties of cancer cells, and demonstrates that environment can dictate sensitivity to therapies that impact cell metabolism.

Graphical Summary



Introduction

Metformin is a safe and effective anti-hyperglycemic agent that is commonly used by hundreds of millions of people worldwide to treat type 2 diabetes. Because of its widespread use, an abundance of epidemiological data is available for how metformin might influence other disease states. Retrospective studies have found that taking metformin is associated with improved cancer outcomes, with reductions in cancer incidence and with decreased cancer mortality observed across many tumor types (Evans et al., 2005; Gandini et al., 2014; He et al., 2012; Lee et al., 2012; Zhu et al., 2015). These findings have resulted in studies examining the anti-tumorigenic properties of metformin and other biguanides on cancer cell lines and in mouse models of cancer, as well as clinical trials exploring potential roles for metformin in cancer therapy. Systemic treatment with the biguanides metformin and phenformin can suppress tumor growth in xenograft and autochthonous tumor models (Buzzai et al., 2007; Huang et al., 2008; Shackelford et al., 2013; Wheaton et al., 2014). Metformin may also increase the pathological complete response rate in breast cancer patients receiving neoadjuvant chemotherapy (Jiralerspong et al., 2009). Whether the benefit of metformin in these different settings is attributable to direct action on the tumor is controversial (Birsoy et al., 2012; Foretz et al., 2014). Further, in a recent trial, metformin failed to improve outcomes in patients when added to standard pancreatic cancer therapy (Kordes et al., 2015), highlighting that the factors that determine which tumors are likely to respond to metformin are not known.

The molecular targets of metformin in cells and tissues have only recently come into focus (Luengo et al., 2014; Pernicova and Korbonits, 2014). Metformin can impair
respiration by inhibition of the glycerol-phosphate shuttle (Madiraju et al., 2014), and *in vitro* biochemistry studies have shown that metformin directly inhibits mitochondrial complex I (NADH dehydrogenase), also resulting in decreased mitochondrial respiration (Bridges et al., 2014; El-Mir et al., 2000; Owen et al., 2000; Wheaton et al., 2014). Consistent with these molecular targets, cell culture studies have found that metformin causes increased glucose consumption, increased lactate production, and decreased mitochondrial glucose oxidation (Andrzejewski et al., 2014; Fendt et al., 2013). Supporting a role for complex I as an important target of metformin in cancer, expression of a metformin resistant yeast analog of complex I (NDI1) makes cells insensitive to metformin in culture and resistant to the anti-tumor growth effects of metformin in xenograft models (Birsoy et al., 2014; Wheaton et al., 2014). Additionally, other complex I inhibitors have shown efficacy as anti-tumor agents (Schockel et al., 2015; Zhang et al., 2014). Together these data support the hypothesis that tumor autonomous inhibition of complex I and respiration play an important role in the anti-tumorigenic effect of metformin.

A major barrier for translating findings pertaining to metformin action in cultured cells to the clinic is a substantial inconsistency in the doses of metformin required to inhibit proliferation *in vivo* versus *in vitro*. Inhibition of cancer cell proliferation *in vitro* generally requires metformin doses that vastly exceed those achievable *in vivo* (Birsoy et al., 2012; Foretz et al., 2014; Pollak, 2014). Metformin concentrations required to inhibit cancer cell proliferation *in vitro* range from 1 to 50 mM, while plasma metformin levels in patients and in mice are in the micromolar range (Graham et al., 2011; He and Wondisford, 2015; Memmott et al., 2010). Indeed, even the maximum tolerable plasma

concentration of metformin reported for humans, around 400 μ M (Dell'Aglio et al., 2009) is still well below the doses used in most studies to decrease proliferation in culture.

In this study, we provide an explanation for the substantial discrepancy between the effective metformin concentration *in vivo* and *in vitro*. We find that metabolic environment is a major determinant of complex I dependency, and hence, differences in environment alone can dramatically alter sensitivity to metformin and other complex I inhibitors. Complex I supports proliferation through NAD+ regeneration to maintain cellular NAD+/NADH balance and to allow aspartate synthesis. However, dependency on complex I is directly dictated by the activity of alternative pathways that produce and consume NAD+, which change based on environmental factors. We show that alternative NAD+ utilizing pathways modulates complex I dependency and metformin sensitivity in a predictable manner. Further, we show that perturbing NAD+/NADH balance by modulating complex I activity modulates aspartate levels in a titratable manner both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. These data indicate that the anti-proliferative effects of metformin are caused by a decrease in the intracellular NAD+/NADH ratio and aspartate levels and suggest that environment can alter dependency on metabolic drug targets.

Results

Pyruvate suppresses the anti-proliferative effects of complex I inhibition

Mirroring the discrepancy between metformin effective concentration *in vivo* and *in vitro*, we observed that for all cell lines tested, the choice of culture media dramatically alters metformin sensitivity. We cultured a diverse group of cancer cell lines in two different standard cell culture media, Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM) and Roswell Park Memorial Institute 1640 medium (RPMI), which both fully support proliferation of the cells examined (Figure 1A, B). Consistent with previous reports, cells cultured in DMEM require up to 10 mM metformin to partially inhibit proliferation (Figure 1A) (Foretz et al., 2014). In contrast, cells cultured in RPMI are much more sensitive to metformin, with lower metformin doses inhibiting proliferation (Figure 1B). While the doses of metformin tested were still higher than what is generally achievable in vivo, these data directly suggest that metabolic environment alone is sufficient to dictate metformin sensitivity.

To better understand the differential effects of metformin in the different culture media, we examined how the media compositions differ. A binary difference is the presence of 1 mM pyruvate in DMEM and the absence of pyruvate in RPMI. To test whether pyruvate concentration could be a determinant of metformin sensitivity, we examined the antiproliferative effect of metformin on cells cultured in DMEM without pyruvate. Strikingly, cells cultured in DMEM without pyruvate exhibit increased sensitivity to metformin, suggesting that pyruvate suppresses the anti-proliferative effect of metformin (Figure 1C). Consistent with this hypothesis, cells cultured in RPMI supplemented with 1 mM pyruvate (RPMI + Pyruvate) are less sensitive to metformin (Figure 1D). These data indicate that pyruvate availability is a crucial environmental variable that can alter sensitivity to the anti-proliferative effects of metformin.

Interestingly, addition of 1 mM pyruvate to RPMI made cells more resistant to metformin than cells cultured in DMEM with 1 mM pyruvate, further highlighting that environment can influence drug sensitivity. To better understand environmental determinants other than pyruvate that impact metformin sensitivity, we decreased the glucose concentration of DMEM to match RPMI (11 mM), or added aspartate to DMEM at the same concentration as that found in RPMI (150 μ M) (Figure S1A, B). Lowering glucose, or addition of aspartate both affected metformin sensitivity to a degree, although the magnitude of effect was much smaller than that observed with pyruvate and was variable across cell lines. Thus, further experiments focused on understanding the influence of pyruvate on metformin sensitivity were performed using DMEM without pyruvate, unless otherwise noted.



Figure 1. Pyruvate suppresses the antiproliferative effects of metformin.

Proliferation rates for A549, H1299, MDA-MB231, HeLa, and 143B cells in media treated with the indicated concentrations of metformin. Cells were cultured in DMEM (A), RPMI 1640 (B), DMEM without pyruvate (C), and RPMI 1640 supplemented with 1 mM pyruvate (D). Values denote mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM). *n*=3. See also Figure S1.

Pyruvate modulates complex I dependency by providing an alternative pathway for NAD+ regeneration

It has been classically described that respiration-deficient cells are pyruvate auxotrophs (King and Attardi, 1989). In the absence of respiration, pyruvate can support proliferation by acting as an electron acceptor to regenerate NAD+ and allow aspartate synthesis (Birsoy et al., 2015; Sullivan et al., 2015). We hypothesized that a similar model could explain why pyruvate blocks the anti-proliferative effects of metformin.

While it is generally accepted that metformin is a mitochondrial inhibitor; the mechanism by which it inhibits mitochondrial activity is controversial. Some reports suggest that metformin acts primarily as an inhibitor of complex I, while recent work has implicated metformin as a mitochondrial glycerol phosphate dehydrogenase (mGPD) inhibitor that disrupts the glycerol phosphate shuttle in the liver (Madiraju et al., 2014). Since both complex I inhibition and mGPD inhibition could lead to NAD+ deficiency, both mechanisms are consistent with pyruvate restoring NAD+ to block metformin's anti-proliferative effect. Nevertheless, to distinguish between these two mechanisms in the cancer cells studied, we assessed complex I-mediated or glycerol-3-phosphate shuttle-mediated oxygen consumption in saponin-permeabilized cells. Whereas metformin dramatically inhibits oxygen consumption when permeabilized cells are supplied with pyruvate and malate as substrates for complex I, oxygen consumption from glycerol-3-phosphate is not disrupted by metformin (Fig 2A and S2A). These data argue that metformin inhibits electron transport chain from mitochondrial complex I but not from the glycerol-3-phosphate shuttle in these cells.

Previous studies have shown that compounds that inhibit respiration by hyperpolarizing the mitochondrial membrane potential, such as the ATP synthase inhibitor oligomycin, also decrease the NAD+/NADH ratio (Sullivan et al., 2015). In contrast to direct electron transport chain inhibition, under these circumstances, proliferation defects caused by these inhibitors can be restored by adding a mitochondrial uncoupler such as the ionophore carbonyl cyanide-4-(trifluoromethoxy)phenylhydrazone (FCCP) (Sullivan et al., 2015). While proliferation inhibition by oligomycin is reversed by FCCP, proliferation inhibition due to metformin is not reversed by FCCP, further supporting that metformin acts as an inhibitor of electron transport and not by causing mitochondrial hyperpolarization (Figure S2B).

To determine if the ability of pyruvate to restore proliferation is specific to metformin or generalizable to other complex I inhibitors, we treated cells in the presence or absence of pyruvate with the complex I inhibitors rotenone, phenformin, and piericidin A. While cells were generally resistant to these inhibitors in the presence of pyruvate, in the absence of pyruvate, cells exhibited increased sensitivity to the anti-proliferative effects of complex I inhibition (Figure 2B-C, S2C). Importantly, the presence or absence of pyruvate minimally alters proliferation rate in the absence of complex I inhibitors. Taken together, these data suggest that exogenous pyruvate does not alter the intrinsic proliferation rate of cells in culture, but rather, pyruvate decreases cellular dependence on complex I activity to support proliferation.

When complex I is inhibited, electrons from NADH cannot be transferred to molecular oxygen as an electron acceptor to form water and regenerate NAD+. However, in the presence of exogenous pyruvate, cells can regenerate NAD+ via conversion of pyruvate

to lactate (Figure 2D). Thus, when excess pyruvate is available in the environment, cells can utilize this orthogonal pathway to maintain the NAD+/NADH ratio in the absence of complex I activity. Consistent with this idea, addition of the lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) inhibitor GSK2837808A, which partially inhibits pyruvate to lactate conversion, restores metformin sensitivity to cells cultured in pyruvate containing media (Figure S2D). Additionally, we cultured cells in media with a range of lactate to pyruvate ratios. In the absence of metformin, cells grew at a similar rate regardless of the lactate to pyruvate ratio supplied. Conversely, in the presence of metformin, increasing the lactate to pyruvate ratio significantly decreased proliferation rate (Figure S2E). These data support the hypothesis that net pyruvate to lactate conversion is required to suppress metformin effects on proliferation.

To further test this hypothesis, we treated cells with metformin and other complex I inhibitors at doses that inhibited proliferation in pyruvate-free media but did not markedly affect proliferation in pyruvate containing media. Under these conditions, we measured mitochondrial oxygen consumption and found that exposure to metformin decreases mitochondrial oxygen consumption (Figure 2E-F). Importantly, while the presence of pyruvate suppresses the anti-proliferative effect of these drugs, it does not restore mitochondrial oxygen consumption (Figure 2E-F). In contrast, while treatment with metformin decreases NAD+/NADH ratio in the absence of pyruvate, supplementation with pyruvate restores the NAD+/NADH ratio under these conditions (Figure 2G-H). We repeated these experiments with other complex I inhibitors including rotenone and piercidin A, and obtained similar results (Fig 2I-L, S2F-G). These results are consistent with a model where complex I activity is dispensable in environmental contexts in which NAD+ can be regenerated through orthogonal pathways. Of note, proliferation rate in

such contexts is not correlated with oxygen consumption or, by extension, with mitochondrial ATP production.

.



Figure 2. Complex I activity is dispensable when exogenous pyruvate is available to act as an electron acceptor.

(A) Mitochondrial oxygen consumption of A549 cells following permeabilization by saponin, addition of pyruvate and malate, addition of either metformin or vehicle, and addition of antimycin as indicated. Proliferation rates for A549 and HeLa cells treated with indicated dose of complex I inhibitor rotenone in DMEM (B) or DMEM without pyruvate (C). (D) Schematic illustrating how oxygen allows cells to regenerate NAD+ from NADH via complex I activity and the site of action of complex I inhibitors. Exogenous pyruvate provides an alternate way to regenerate NAD+ through lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) activity. Mitochondrial oxygen consumption rates of A549 (E) and HeLa (F) cells treated with the indicated concentrations of metformin and pyruvate. Intracellular NAD+/NADH ratios of A549 (G) and HeLa (H) cells treated with the indicated concentrations of metformin and pyruvate. Mitochondrial oxygen consumption rates of A549 (I) and HeLa (J) cells treated with the indicated concentrations of rotenone and pyruvate. Intracellular NAD+/NADH ratios of A549 (G) and HeLa (H) cells treated with the indicated concentrations of rotenone and pyruvate. Intracellular NAD+/NADH ratios of A549 (G) and HeLa (H) cells treated with the indicated concentrations of pyruvate. Intracellular NAD+/NADH ratios of A549 (K) and HeLa (L) cells treated with the indicated concentrations of rotenone and pyruvate. Values denote mean \pm SEM. *n*=5 (A, E-F, I-J) *n*=3 (B, G-H, K-L). See also Figure S2.

Modulating pathways that alter NAD+/NADH homeostasis changes complex I dependency

The observation that pyruvate can maintain the NAD+/NADH ratio despite complex I inhibition demonstrates that orthogonal pathways can influence the NAD+/NADH ratio. Further, the activity of orthogonal NAD+ modulating pathways should alter complex 1 dependency and, thus, modify metformin sensitivity in a titratable way. Consistent with this notion, we show that increasing pyruvate to lactate conversion by titrating the concentration of exogenous pyruvate in the environment decreases metformin sensitivity in a dose dependent manner (Figure 3A). To generalize this finding, we tested if changing the activity of other orthogonal NAD+/NADH modulating pathways could also alter complex I dependence and metformin sensitivity. Poly(ADP-ribose) polymerases (PARPs) are a family of proteins that use NAD+ to transfer ADP-ribose groups onto proteins (Figure 3B), and PARP activity is reported to be a major consumption pathway for NAD+ (Pillai et al., 2005). Blocking PARP activity increases intracellular NAD+ (Bai et al., 2011; Pirinen et al., 2014); thus, we tested if altering PARP activity could change complex I dependence. A549 and HeLa cells were treated with increasing amounts of the PARP inhibitor 3-aminobenzamide (Fang et al., 2014) in the presence of metformin. Metformin was added at approximately the IC_{50} dose for each cell line in DMEM in the absence of pyruvate. Since blocking NAD+ consumption will decrease the need for NAD+ regeneration, a PARP inhibitor is expected to decrease complex I dependency, and as predicted, addition of 3-aminobenzamide decreased metformin sensitivity (Figure 3C).

Another input into cellular NAD+/NADH homeostasis is NAD+ synthesis. Recent data have shown that the NAD+ salvage pathway is frequently upregulated in cancer and providing nicotinamide mononucleotide (NMN) increases NAD+ biosynthesis (Canto et al., 2012; Gomes et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2011) (Figure 3D). This predicts that NMN treatment may decrease complex I dependency, and indeed, we found that treating cells with NMN also decreased metformin sensitivity (Figure 3E).

Next, we reasoned that other redox reaction pairs that use NAD+/NADH as cofactors should also modulate cellular NAD+/NADH balance. When cells are exposed to duroquinone, the intracellular reductase NQO1 converts duroquinone to reduced durohydroquinone and, in the process, consumes NADH to produce NAD+ (Merker et al., 2006) (Figure 3F). Thus, providing cells with duroquinone allows for an orthogonal source of NAD+ regeneration and is predicted to decrease complex I dependency. Consistent with this, we found that addition of duroquinone dose-dependently decreases metformin sensitivity (Figure 3G).

To verify that these orthogonal pathways modulate NAD+/NADH in the expected manner, NAD+/NADH was measured after the respective treatments, and indeed, all treatments restored the NAD+/NADH ratio as predicted (Figure S3A). Next, we investigated whether the orthogonal NAD+/NADH modulators affected NAD+ and NADH levels as would be predicted by their mechanism of action. We found that, as expected, 3-aminobenzamide, NMN, and duroquinone all raised NAD+ levels (Figure S3B). Additionally, in HeLa cells, consistent with the expected effects of modulating enzymes that influence the production or consumption of NAD+ but not net cycling NADH back to NAD+, neither 3-aminobenzamide nor NMN significantly changed NADH levels, while

duroquinone, which can regenerate NAD+ from NADH, decreased NADH levels (Figure S3C). Similar results were observed in A549 cells, although there were small decreases in NADH in NMN treated cells (Figure S3C). These data are consistent with NMN having an outsized effect on NAD+/NADH ratio relative to its effect on proliferation. How NMN causes decreased NADH levels in A549 cells is unknown, however it suggests that other feedback regulation of NAD+ synthesis may exist in cells.



Figure 3. Altering cellular NAD+/NADH ratio titrates dependency on complex I activity.

(A) Proliferation rates for A549, H1299, MDA-MB231, HeLa, and 143B cells treated with 1 mM metformin and supplemented with the indicated amounts of pyruvate. (B) Schematic illustrating how poly(ADP-ribose) polymerases (PARPs) consume NAD+. (C) Proliferation rates of A549 and HeLa cells treated with metformin at the indicated concentration in media supplemented with the indicated concentration PARP inhibitor 3-aminobenzamide (3-AB). (D) Schematic illustrating how nicotinamide mononucleotide (NMN) supplementation can increase NAD+ synthesis by nicotinamide mononucleotide adenylyltransferase (NMNAT) activity. (E) Proliferation rates of metformin treated A549 and HeLa cells supplemented with the indicated concentration of NMN. (F) Schematic illustrating how duroquinone can oxidize NADH to yield NAD+ and durohydroquinone by the activity of NAD(P)H dehydrogenase, quinone 1 (NQO1). (G) Proliferation rates of metformin treated A549 and HeLa cells supplemented with the indicated concentration of duroquinone. Values denote mean \pm SEM. *n*=3. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001. See also Figure S3.

Changes in NAD+/NADH ratio correlate with the anti-proliferative effects of metformin

Our data indicate that while complex I activity is dispensable in the presence of pyruvate, complex I is important for maintenance of cellular NAD+/NADH ratio in the absence of pyruvate. We treated cells with a large range of metformin doses and found that in pyruvate-free media, decreasing complex I activity by increasing metformin concentration decreases both the NAD+/NADH ratio (Figure 4A) and proliferation rate (Figure 4B) in a dose dependent manner. Plotting the effects of metformin on NAD+/NADH ratio and proliferation rate reveals a striking correlation between the two phenotypes (Figure 4C). In metformin-treated A549 cells, an NAD+/NADH ratio less than three is associated with a dramatic decrease in cell proliferation, whereas an NAD+/NADH ratio greater than six is associated with maximal rates of cell proliferation. Interestingly, this relationship between the NAD+/NADH ratio and proliferation rate is also observed in A549 cells treated with other complex I inhibitors either in the presence or absence of pyruvate. In HeLa cells, although the absolute NAD+/NADH ratio that supports proliferation differs from that of A549 cells, a similar correlation between NAD+/NADH ratio and proliferation is observed that is also generalizable to other complex I inhibitors.

We next investigated the effect of metformin on the ATP/AMP ratio as this has also been proposed to be a mechanism by which metformin affects cell proliferation. Again, we treated cells with a large range of metformin doses and found that in pyruvate-free media, decreasing complex I activity also decreases the ATP/AMP ratio (Figure S4A). Interestingly, this decrease in the ATP/AMP ratio is also reversed by pyruvate (Figure

S4B). Previous work has shown that maintaining NAD+/NADH balance is required for proliferation in order to support *de novo* aspartate biosynthesis (Birsoy et al., 2015; Sullivan et al., 2015); however, an abundance of literature implicates activation of AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) from a decreased ATP/AMP ratio as being a key modulator of metformin's anti-proliferative effect (Foretz et al., 2014; Hardie, 2015; Li et al., 2015; Pernicova and Korbonits, 2014). Thus, we sought to distinguish whether the NAD+/NADH correlation with proliferation inhibition under metformin treatment was downstream of effects on aspartate or the ATP/AMP ratio.



Figure 4. NAD+/NADH ratio tracks with proliferation rate in metformin treated cells. Intracellular NAD+/NADH ratios (A) and proliferation rates (B) were measured after treatment with metformin at the indicated doses in A549 cells and HeLa cells. Proliferation rates and NAD+/NADH ratios were plotted independent of metformin concentrations to determine the relationship between NAD+/NADH ratio and proliferation rate in A549 cells and HeLa cells, respectively (C). Values denote mean ± SEM. n=3. See also Figure S4. Treating cells with a titration of metformin showed that metformin dose-dependently decreases intracellular aspartate levels (Figure 5A). The decrease in aspartate levels strongly correlates with metformin's effect on cellular NAD+/NADH ratio (Figure 5B). Addition of pyruvate, which increases cellular NAD+/NADH ratio, restores cellular aspartate levels, and addition of aspartate alone is sufficient to reverse the anti-proliferative effects of metformin (Figure 5C and D). An important anabolic role of aspartate is to support synthesis of purines, including the conversion of IMP to AMP. Consistent with metformin causing nucleotide insufficiency downstream of decreased aspartate levels, we found that in the presence of metformin the IMP/AMP ratio is dramatically elevated and that this elevation is reversed by addition of aspartate (Figure 5E).

To show that the ability of aspartate to rescue metformin toxicity is downstream of the effects of metformin on NAD+/NADH, we verified that addition of aspartate does not change the cellular NAD+/NADH ratio (Figure S5A). Interestingly, we observed that ATP/AMP levels are also partially restored by aspartate (Figure S5B). However, comparing the proliferation rate with ATP/AMP ratio we observe that the degree to which aspartate restores proliferation rate is outsized relative to its effect on ATP/AMP ratio, suggesting that the effect of metformin on aspartate via changing NAD+/NADH is at least, in part, orthogonal to its effect on ATP/AMP ratio (Figure S5C). Indeed, given that there are no known pathways to generate ATP from aspartate in the absence of complex I activity, it is mechanistically unclear how aspartate can directly alter the ATP/AMP ratio, suggesting that perhaps ATP/AMP ratio changes are downstream of changes in proliferation rate, rather than a direct effect of changes in NAD+/NADH.

We next explored the relationship between the anti-proliferative effects of metformin, and AMPK signaling and mechanistic target of rapamycin complex I (mTORC1) signaling. We studied a panel of cell lines including A549 cells that are null for the upstream AMPK activator liver kinase B1 (LKB1). In H1299 and MDA-MB231 with intact LKB1, an increase in phosphorylation of the AMPK substrate acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACC) upon metformin treatment is not reversed with pyruvate or aspartate supplementation (Figure S5D), further suggesting that changes in AMPK signaling and ATP/AMP ratio cannot fully explain the growth inhibitory effects of metformin (Griss et al., 2015). We did not observe any consistent trends in AMPK or mTORC1 signaling across cell lines with respect to metformin (Figure S5D). These data suggest that effects on these signaling pathways cannot account for all of the anti-proliferative effects of metformin in these cells.



Figure 5. The antiproliferative effects of metformin are suppressed by exogenous aspartate.

(A) Intracellular aspartate levels were measured after treatment with metformin at the indicated doses in A549 cells. (B) Aspartate levels and NAD+/NADH ratios were plotted independent of metformin concentrations to determine the relationship between NAD+/NADH ratio and aspartate levels in A549 cells. (C) Intracellular aspartate levels in A549 cells treated with the indicated doses of metformin and pyruvate. (D) Proliferation rates of A549 treated with the indicated doses of metformin and exogenous aspartate. (E) Normalized IMP/AMP ratio in A549 treated with the indicated with the indicated doses of metformin and exogenous aspartate. Values denote mean ± SEM. n=3. See also Figure S5.

Metformin treatment decreases NAD+ and aspartate levels in tumors and slows tumor growth

Finally, we sought to explore whether our findings regarding the anti-proliferative effects of metformin were relevant in vivo. For these studies A549 cells were xenografted into nude mice. When the tumors reached 50 mm³ the mice were randomized into three groups and treated with once a day oral gavage with vehicle, metformin at 500 mg/kg, or metformin at 1500 mg/kg. Increasing dosages of metformin dose-dependently inhibited tumor growth (Figure 6A). Measurement of plasma metformin concentration confirmed that the levels achieved with these doses are therapeutically relevant and expected to be tolerable in humans (Dell'Aglio et al., 2009) (Figure 6B), Further, we showed that escalating doses of metformin resulted in an increase in the tumor concentration of metformin (Figure 6C). NADH levels were too low to detect in tumors; however, NAD+ levels dose-dependently decreased in tumors with increasing doses of metformin (Figure 6D). We also assessed whether intratumoral ATP/AMP ratios were effected by metformin and found that while metformin appeared to decrease the ATP/AMP ratio in some tumors, the effect was neither statistically significant nor dose dependent. (Figure S6A). Finally, intratumoral aspartate levels decreased with increasing doses of metformin (Figure 6E). Taken together these data suggest that there is a correlation between metformin treatment at therapeutically relevant doses and tumor growth inhibition. In addition, the degree of tumor growth inhibition correlates with both intratumoral NAD+ and aspartate levels.



Figure 6. Metformin slows tumor growth and decreases intratumoral NAD+ and aspartate levels. (A) A549 xenografts in nude mice were treated with vehicle or the indicated doses of metformin, once a day by oral gavage. (B) Serum and (C) tumor metformin concentrations measured in material from mice treated for 10 days at the indicated dose of metformin, with tissue harvested 2 hours after the last dose. Relative intratumoral (D) NAD+ and (E) aspartate levels after 10 days of vehicle or metformin treatment at the indicated dose. Relative NAD+ and aspartate levels are shown as NAD+ and aspartate total ion counts (TIC) normalized to leucine TIC. Values denote mean \pm SEM. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01. Related to Figure S6.

Discussion

Recent data suggests that a primary function of respiration in support of proliferation is to provide electron acceptors and regenerate oxidized cofactors (Birsoy et al., 2015; Sullivan et al., 2015). Extending this idea, we show that the anti-proliferative effect of metformin tracks with its effect on cellular NAD+/NADH ratio. Further, while there are correlations between ATP/AMP ratio and the cellular NAD+/NADH ratio, we find the downstream anti-proliferative effects of metformin track more consistently with its effect on NAD+/NADH ratio and intracellular aspartate. Importantly, we find that altering the metabolic environment in a way that influences NAD+/NADH homeostasis is sufficient to change cellular dependency on complex I and, by extension, alter metformin sensitivity. In contexts where cells are allowed to regenerate NAD+ by alternative pathways, complex I dependency is low. However, in other environmental contexts, including those found in vivo with A549 xenografts, complex I activity appears to be important for maintaining cellular NAD+/NADH homeostasis. Treatments with metformin at therapeutically relevant doses are sufficient to alter intratumoral NAD+ levels and intratumoral aspartate levels. While our data does not rule out the possibility of other whole body metabolic anti-tumor effects of metformin, our findings show that the cell autonomous anti-proliferative effects of metformin are, at least in part, mediated by its effect on NAD+/NADH homeostasis and aspartate levels and further support that complex I itself can be a cancer target.

The sensitivity of cancer cells to a drug is typically considered to be a cell intrinsic property, with efficacy matched directly to ability to inhibit a protein target in a specific

genetic context. In many cases, the degree to which the direct drug target is inhibited is an effective proxy and predictor for downstream effects on proliferation. In contrast to this paradigm, we find that for metformin and other complex I inhibitors, the environmental context can decouple the biological effect of decreased proliferation from inhibition of the drug target. We show that inhibition of complex I activity, as measured by oxygen consumption, is a poor predictor of the anti-proliferative effects of metformin. Indeed, while media supplementation of pyruvate does not change metformin action as a complex I inhibitor, it is sufficient to alter the effective anti-proliferative dose of metformin by approximately two orders of magnitude. While variable sensitivity to biguanides has been attributed to specific genetic events (Buzzai et al., 2007; Cuyas et al., 2015; Shackelford et al., 2013) or to factors that alter drug uptake (Chen et al., 2015; Chen et al., 2010; Goswami et al., 2014; Madera et al., 2015; Nies et al., 2011; Shu et al., 2007), our data suggest that the metabolic environment is an additional determinant of drug sensitivity independent of cell intrinsic factors.

These findings indicate that considering environmental context is critical for *in vitro* screening of drugs targeting metabolism. Indeed, had metformin not been identified to promote cancer survival in patients taking this drug for diabetes, *in vitro* studies in DMEM would have concluded that clinically unachievable doses are required for metformin to have an effect on cancer cells. These results highlight the importance of considering environmental context for determining the potential efficacy of newly developed drugs.

A major barrier to extrapolating preclinical data on the anti-tumorigenic effects of metformin has been the large inconsistency in dosing between tissue culture and tumor

models. Showing that metabolic environment is a crucial determinant of complex I dependency begins to explain this discrepancy. Indeed, cellular sensitivity to metformin in DMEM without pyruvate is within a few fold of what has been observed to have clinical benefit in patients. Additionally, due to dose limiting toxicity in animals, it is impossible to achieve high enough doses to determine the *in vivo* tumor autonomous IC50 and because other environmental factors also influence complex I sensitivity, comparing the effects of metformin in DMEM without pyruvate to the effects in tumors may not be the best comparison.

Standard in vitro tissue culture is a poor mimic for the metabolic environment of tumors (Davidson et al., 2016; Mayers and Vander Heiden, 2015). Given the dramatic differences in oxygen and nutrient availability in culture versus tumors, electron acceptors are likely to be more limited in vivo, thus increasing dependence on pathways that regenerate NAD+ (Sullivan et al., 2015). One notable example regarding metformin and nutrient availability involves recent work showing that serine limitation increases in vivo metformin sensitivity (Gravel et al., 2014). Serine levels in vivo are much lower than what is found in vitro and de novo serine biosynthesis requires multiple NAD+ consuming redox reactions, likely impinging on cellular NAD+/NADH homeostasis and potentially partially explaining its interaction with metformin sensitivity. Additionally, given other differences in waste disposal and carbon dioxide levels, there are other environmental influences on the cellular NAD+/NADH ratio that are not accounted for in vitro. A better understanding of NAD+/NADH homeostasis in tumors will be critical for identifying contexts in which metformin therapy may be most impactful and for developing combination therapies that increase the efficacy of metformin in cancer. Developing culture systems that better mimic the *in vivo* metabolic environment could

also be important for identifying cancer targets that might otherwise be missed. Regardless, our findings highlight that consideration of the metabolic environment is critical for the development of cancer therapies that target metabolism.

Experimental Procedures

Cell Culture

A549, H1299, MDA-MB231, HeLa, and 143B cells were cultured in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM) (Corning) with or without pyruvate or in Roswell Park Memorial Institute 1640 Media (RPMI) (Corning) as indicated. In all cases media was supplemented with 10% dialyzed fetal bovine serum (Sigma) and penicillin-streptomycin (Corning). Cells were cultured at 37°C with 5% CO₂.

Proliferation Rates

Cell were plated in replicate in 6 well dishes (Corning), with an initial seeding density of 20,000 cells per well for A549, H1299, HeLa, and 143B and an initial seeding density of 40,000 cells for MDA-MB231. After seeding, cells were allowed to settle overnight and one 6 well dish was counted to determine starting cell number prior to treatment. For the remaining dishes, cells were washed twice in phosphate buffered saline (PBS), and 4 mL of media containing the indicated treatment was added. For pyruvate titration experiments, media was changed daily to maintain a constant pyruvate concentration.

Cell counts were determined four days after initial treatment using a Cellometer Auto T4 Plus Cell Counter (Nexcelom Bioscience) (Sullivan et al., 2015). Proliferation rate was calculated based on the following formula:

Proliferation Rate (Doublings per day) = $(Log_2(Final cell count (day 5)/Initial cell count (day 1))/4 (days)$

Mitochondrial Oxygen Consumption

Oxygen consumption rates (OCR) were measured using a Seahorse Bioscience Extracellular Flux Analyzer (XF24). Cells were plated in Seahorse Bioscience 24-well plates at a seeding density of 50,000 cells per well in 100 µl of DMEM without pyruvate. After a 1 hour incubation, an additional 500 μ of DMEM was added with or without metformin and/or pyruvate before overnight incubation. The next day, cells were washed twice in DMEM without phenol red containing 0.5% dialyzed FBS at pH 7.4 containing treatments, and were then incubated in 500 μ l of the same media with the corresponding treatments. OCR measurements were determined 24 hours after metformin and/or pyruvate treatment. Mitochondrial OCR was calculated by taking the total OCR and subtracting the residual OCR following addition of high dose rotenone and antimycin (2 µM each). Following the OCR measurements, cells from each well were counted using a Cellometer Auto T4 Plus Cell Counter (Nexcelom Bioscience) and used to normalized OCR per 100,000 cells. For determining complex I and mGPD dependent oxygen consumption, cells were seeded at 100,000 cells per well, incubated overnight, and prior to measurement media was changed to mitochondrial assay buffer (70 mM sucrose, 220 mM mannitol, 10 mM KH₂PO₄, 5 mM MgCl₂, 2 mM HEPES, 1 mM EGTA, 0.2 % (w/v) fatty acid free BSA, pH 7.2) supplemented with 10 mM ADP. The first

injection contained saponin (50 μ g/mL final) to permeabilize cells and OCR was monitored until intracellular metabolites diffused out and OCR stabilized. Respiration substrates of complex I (10 mM pyruvic acid and 2 mM malic acid) or mGPD (10 mM glycerol-3-phosphate) were then injected until respiration was induced and stabilized followed by injection of metformin (1 mM final) or vehicle. Mitochondrial OCR was determined by subtracting OCR after addition of 2 μ M antimycin from the experimental OCR measurements.

Measurement of NAD+/NADH

Cells were plated in 6-well dishes at 20,000 cells per well, allowed to adhere overnight, washed twice in PBS, and cultured in 4 ml of the indicated treatment media for 24 hours. Cells were then washed three times in ice cold PBS and extracted in 100 μ L of ice cold lysis buffer (1% Dodecyltrimethylammonium bromide (DTAB) in 0.2 N NaOH diluted 1:1 with PBS), and immediately frozen at -80°C. NAD+/NADH ratio was measured using a modified version of instructions provided with the NAD/NADH Glo Assay Kit (Promega). For NADH measurement, 20 μ L of the freshly thawed lysate was transferred to PCR tubes and incubated at 75°C for 30 minutes which allows for base-mediated degradation of NAD+. For NAD+ measurement, 20 μ L of the freshly thawed lysate was transferred to PCR tubes containing 20 μ L lysis buffer and 20 μ L 0.4 N HCI. NAD+ samples were incubated at 60°C for 15 minutes, where acidic conditions result in selective degradation of NADH. Following respective incubations, samples were allowed to equilibrate to room temperature for 8 minutes and then quenched with the respective neutralizing solution with 20 μ L 0.25 M Tris in 0.2 N HCI (NADH) or 20 μ L 0.5 M Tris base (NAD+). Following

sample prep, manufacturer instructions were used for enzyme-linked luminescence based NAD+ and NADH measurement (Sullivan et al., 2015).

Aspartate measurement by GCMS

Cells were seeded in 6 well dishes and incubated overnight to allow the cells to adhere. Following incubation cells were washed twice in PBS and media containing the indicated treatments was added. After overnight treatment, aspartate was extracted using 80% methanol in water with 1 µg norvaline standard added per sample. The extracted content was dried under nitrogen gas, derivatized, and measured as detailed in (Lewis et al., 2014).

Polar Metabolite Quantification by LCMS

Measurements were as described previously (Sullivan et al., 2015). Briefly, metabolites were first extracted using ice cold 80% methanol and chloroform. Relative metabolites abundances were measured using a Dionex UltiMate 3000 ultra-high performance liquid chromatography system connected to a Q Exactive benchtop Orbitrap mass spectrometer, equipped with an Ion Max source and a HESI II probe (Thermo Fisher Scientific). To quantify metabolite abundance from resulting chromatogram XCalibur QuanBroswer 2.2 (Thermo Fisher Scientific) was used in conjunction with in-house retention time library of chemical standards.

Immunoblotting

Cells were treated with metformin, pyruvate, and aspartate for 24 hrs, washed with cold PBS, and lysed with cold RIPA buffer containing cOmplete Mini protease inhibitors (Roche) and phosSTOP phosphatase inibitors (Roche). Protein concentration was quantified by BCA Protein Assay (Pierce) using BSA as a standard. Samples were resolved by SDS-PAGE using standard techniques, and protein was detected with the following antibodies: 4EBP1 (total and S65), ACC (total and pS79), Raptor (pS792) and S6K (total and S6K-pT389) from Cell Signalling Technologies, and Raptor (total) from Millipore.

Xenografts

Two million A549 cells were injected into flanks of nu/nu mice (088; Charles River Laboratories). Tumor volume was measured by caliper in two dimensions and volumes were estimated using the equation $V = (\pi/6)(L^*W^2)$. The tumors were permitted to grow to 50mm³, after which the animals were randomly assigned to a treatment or vehicle group. Vehicle, 500 mg/kg, or 1500 mg/kg metformin were dosed via oral gavage daily for 10 days. The vehicle consisted of 0.1% (w/v) Tween 80 and 0.5% (w/v) methylcellulose. The tumors and plasma samples were collected 2 hours after the final dosage on day 10, and metformin and metabolite concentrations were quantified by LCMS.

Statistical Analysis

Data are presented as the mean ± standard error of the mean (SEM). Sample size (n) indicates experimental replicates from a single representative experiment; the results of

experiments were validated by independent repetitions. Statistical significance was determined using an unpaired two-tailed t test with Welch's correction where significance was determined as $p \le 0.05$.

Supplemental Figures



Figure S1. The antiproliferative effect of metformin is influenced by media composition, related to Figure 1. Proliferation rates for A549, HeLa, and 143B cells in media treated with the indicated concentrations of metformin. Cells were cultured in DMEM without pyruvate or RPMI 1640 with the indicated concentration of glucose (A) or with addition of RPMI levels of aspartate (150 μ M) (B). Values denote mean \pm SEM. *n*=3.



Figure S2. Conversion of pyruvate to lactate is required to restore proliferation upon complex I inhibition, related to Figure 2.(A) Mitochondrial oxygen consumption of A549 cells following permeabilization by saponin, addition of glycerol-3-phosphate (G3P), addition of either metformin or vehicle and addition of antimycin as indicated. (B) Proliferation rates for A549 and HeLa cells treated with oligomycin or metformin in the presence or absence of FCCP. (C) Proliferation rates for A549 and HeLA cells in DMEM or DMEM without pyruvate treated with the indicated doses of the complex I inhibitors phenformin or piericidin A. (D) Proliferation rates for A549 and HeLa cells cultured in DMEM with pyruvate treated as indicated with metformin and the LDH inhibitor GSK2837808A. (E) Proliferation rates for A549 and HeLa cells with and without metformin in the presence of the indicated amounts of pyruvate and lactate in the media. (F) Mitochondrial oxygen consumption rates for A549 and HeLa cells treated with the indicated concentrations of piericidin A and pyruvate. (G) Intracellular NAD+/NADH ratios of A549 and HeLa cells treated with the indicated concentrations of piericidin A and pyruvate. Values denote mean \pm SEM. *n*=5 (A,F), *n*=3 (B-E, G). *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01.



Figure S3. Treatment with compounds that alter NAD+/NADH metabolism result in altered NAD+/NADH ratio, related to Figure 3.(A) Intracellular NAD+/NADH ratios of A549 and HeLa cells treated with 3- aminobenzamide (3-AB), nicotinamide mononucleotide (NMN), and duroquinone (duro). Normalized intracellular levels of NAD+ (B) and NADH (C) in A549 and HeLa cells treated with 3-AB, NMN, and duro. Values denote mean \pm SEM. *n*=3. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001.



Figure S4. ATP/AMP ratio is affected by metformin treatment, related to Figure 4.(A) Intracellular ATP/AMP ratios were measured after treatment with metformin at the indicated doses in A549 cells. (B) Intracellular ATP/AMP ratios were measured in A549 cells with the indicated doses of metformin and pyruvate. Values denote mean \pm SEM. n=3.







Figure S5. Aspartate suppression of the anti-proliferative effects of metformin is downstream of changes in cellular NAD+/NADH, and does not correlate with AMPK or mTORC1 signaling, related to Figure 5. Intracellular NAD+/NADH ratio (A) and ATP/AMP ratio (B) in A549 cells treated with the indicated doses of metformin and aspartate. (C) Proliferation rate and relative ATP/AMP ratios of A549 cells were plotted independent of treatment condition, cells treated with the indicated concentration of metformin and aspartate are highlighted in red. (D) Western blot for P-ACC, P-Raptor, P-S6K, P- 4EBP,1 from cell lysates from A549, H1299, MDA-MB231, and 143B cells treated with metformin in the presence or absence of either pyruvate or exogenous aspartate. Values denote mean ± SEM. *n*=3 (A-C).


Figure S6. Intratumoral ATP/AMP ratios following metformin treatment, related to Figure **6.**Relative intratumoral ATP/AMP ratio was measured following 10 days of vehicle or metformin treatment at the indicated dose with tissue harvested 2 hours after the last dose. N.S. indicates p > 0.05.

References

Andrzejewski, S., Gravel, S.P., Pollak, M., and St-Pierre, J. (2014). Metformin directly acts on mitochondria to alter cellular bioenergetics. Cancer & metabolism *2*, 12.

Bai, P., Canto, C., Oudart, H., Brunyanszki, A., Cen, Y., Thomas, C., Yamamoto, H., Huber, A., Kiss, B., Houtkooper, R.H., et al. (2011). PARP-1 inhibition increases mitochondrial metabolism through SIRT1 activation. Cell Metab *13*, 461-468.

Birsoy, K., Possemato, R., Lorbeer, F.K., Bayraktar, E.C., Thiru, P., Yucel, B., Wang, T., Chen, W.W., Clish, C.B., and Sabatini, D.M. (2014). Metabolic determinants of cancer cell sensitivity to glucose limitation and biguanides. Nature *508*, 108-112.

Birsoy, K., Sabatini, D.M., and Possemato, R. (2012). Untuning the tumor metabolic machine: Targeting cancer metabolism: a bedside lesson. Nature medicine *18*, 1022-1023.

Birsoy, K., Wang, T., Chen, W.W., Freinkman, E., Abu-Remaileh, M., and Sabatini, D.M. (2015). An Essential Role of the Mitochondrial Electron Transport Chain in Cell Proliferation Is to Enable Aspartate Synthesis. Cell *162*, 540-551.

Bridges, H.R., Jones, A.J., Pollak, M.N., and Hirst, J. (2014). Effects of metformin and other biguanides on oxidative phosphorylation in mitochondria. The Biochemical journal *462*, 475-487.

Buzzai, M., Jones, R.G., Amaravadi, R.K., Lum, J.J., DeBerardinis, R.J., Zhao, F., Viollet, B., and Thompson, C.B. (2007). Systemic treatment with the antidiabetic drug metformin selectively impairs p53-deficient tumor cell growth. Cancer research *67*, 6745-6752.

Canto, C., Houtkooper, R.H., Pirinen, E., Youn, D.Y., Oosterveer, M.H., Cen, Y., Fernandez-Marcos, P.J., Yamamoto, H., Andreux, P.A., Cettour-Rose, P., et al. (2012). The NAD(+) precursor nicotinamide riboside enhances oxidative metabolism and protects against high-fat diet-induced obesity. Cell Metab *15*, 838-847.

Chen, E.C., Liang, X., Yee, S.W., Geier, E.G., Stocker, S.L., Chen, L., and Giacomini, K.M. (2015). Targeted disruption of organic cation transporter 3 attenuates the pharmacologic response to metformin. Mol Pharmacol *88*, 75-83.

Chen, L., Pawlikowski, B., Schlessinger, A., More, S.S., Stryke, D., Johns, S.J., Portman, M.A., Chen, E., Ferrin, T.E., Sali, A., et al. (2010). Role of organic cation transporter 3 (SLC22A3) and its missense variants in the pharmacologic action of metformin. Pharmacogenet Genomics *20*, 687-699.

Cuyas, E., Fernandez-Arroyo, S., Corominas-Faja, B., Rodriguez-Gallego, E., Bosch-Barrera, J., Martin-Castillo, B., De Llorens, R., Joven, J., and Menendez, J.A. (2015). Oncometabolic mutation IDH1 R132H confers a metformin-hypersensitive phenotype. Oncotarget *6*, 12279-12296.

Davidson, S.M., Papagiannakopoulos, T., Olenchock, B.A., Heyman, J.E., Keibler, M.A., Luengo, A., Bauer, M.R., Jha, A.K., O'Brien, J.P., Pierce, K.A., et al. (2016). Environment Impacts the Metabolic Dependencies of Ras-Driven Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. Cell metabolism.

Dell'Aglio, D.M., Perino, L.J., Kazzi, Z., Abramson, J., Schwartz, M.D., and Morgan, B.W. (2009). Acute metformin overdose: examining serum pH, lactate level, and metformin concentrations in survivors versus nonsurvivors: a systematic review of the literature. Annals of emergency medicine *54*, 818-823.

El-Mir, M.Y., Nogueira, V., Fontaine, E., Averet, N., Rigoulet, M., and Leverve, X. (2000). Dimethylbiguanide inhibits cell respiration via an indirect effect targeted on the respiratory chain complex I. The Journal of biological chemistry *275*, 223-228.

Evans, J.M., Donnelly, L.A., Emslie-Smith, A.M., Alessi, D.R., and Morris, A.D. (2005). Metformin and reduced risk of cancer in diabetic patients. Bmj *330*, 1304-1305.

Fang, E.F., Scheibye-Knudsen, M., Brace, L.E., Kassahun, H., SenGupta, T., Nilsen, H., Mitchell, J.R., Croteau, D.L., and Bohr, V.A. (2014). Defective mitophagy in XPA via PARP-1 hyperactivation and NAD(+)/SIRT1 reduction. Cell *157*, 882-896.

Fendt, S.M., Bell, E.L., Keibler, M.A., Davidson, S.M., Wirth, G.J., Fiske, B., Mayers, J.R., Schwab, M., Bellinger, G., Csibi, A., et al. (2013). Metformin decreases glucose oxidation and increases the dependency of prostate cancer cells on reductive glutamine metabolism. Cancer research *73*, 4429-4438.

Foretz, M., Guigas, B., Bertrand, L., Pollak, M., and Viollet, B. (2014). Metformin: from mechanisms of action to therapies. Cell Metab *20*, 953-966.

Gandini, S., Puntoni, M., Heckman-Stoddard, B.M., Dunn, B.K., Ford, L., DeCensi, A., and Szabo, E. (2014). Metformin and cancer risk and mortality: a systematic review and meta-analysis taking into account biases and confounders. Cancer prevention research *7*, 867-885.

Gomes, A.P., Price, N.L., Ling, A.J., Moslehi, J.J., Montgomery, M.K., Rajman, L., White, J.P., Teodoro, J.S., Wrann, C.D., Hubbard, B.P., et al. (2013). Declining NAD(+) induces a pseudohypoxic state disrupting nuclear-mitochondrial communication during aging. Cell *155*, 1624-1638.

Goswami, S., Yee, S.W., Stocker, S., Mosley, J.D., Kubo, M., Castro, R., Mefford, J.A., Wen, C., Liang, X., Witte, J., et al. (2014). Genetic variants in transcription factors are associated with the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of metformin. Clin Pharmacol Ther *96*, 370-379.

Graham, G.G., Punt, J., Arora, M., Day, R.O., Doogue, M.P., Duong, J.K., Furlong, T.J., Greenfield, J.R., Greenup, L.C., Kirkpatrick, C.M., et al. (2011). Clinical pharmacokinetics of metformin. Clinical pharmacokinetics *50*, 81-98.

Gravel, S.P., Hulea, L., Toban, N., Birman, E., Blouin, M.J., Zakikhani, M., Zhao, Y., Topisirovic, I., St-Pierre, J., and Pollak, M. (2014). Serine deprivation enhances antineoplastic activity of biguanides. Cancer research *74*, 7521-7533.

Griss, T., Vincent, E.E., Egnatchik, R., Chen, J., Ma, E.H., Faubert, B., Viollet, B., DeBerardinis, R.J., and Jones, R.G. (2015). Metformin Antagonizes Cancer Cell Proliferation by Suppressing Mitochondrial-Dependent Biosynthesis. PLoS Biol *13*, e1002309.

Hardie, D.G. (2015). Molecular Pathways: Is AMPK a Friend or a Foe in Cancer? Clin Cancer Res *21*, 3836-3840.

He, L., and Wondisford, F.E. (2015). Metformin action: concentrations matter. Cell Metab *21*, 159-162.

He, X., Esteva, F.J., Ensor, J., Hortobagyi, G.N., Lee, M.H., and Yeung, S.C. (2012). Metformin and thiazolidinediones are associated with improved breast cancer-specific survival of diabetic women with HER2+ breast cancer. Annals of oncology : official journal of the European Society for Medical Oncology / ESMO *23*, 1771-1780.

Huang, X., Wullschleger, S., Shpiro, N., McGuire, V.A., Sakamoto, K., Woods, Y.L., McBurnie, W., Fleming, S., and Alessi, D.R. (2008). Important role of the LKB1-AMPK pathway in suppressing tumorigenesis in PTEN-deficient mice. The Biochemical journal *412*, 211-221.

Jiralerspong, S., Palla, S.L., Giordano, S.H., Meric-Bernstam, F., Liedtke, C., Barnett, C.M., Hsu, L., Hung, M.C., Hortobagyi, G.N., and Gonzalez-Angulo, A.M. (2009). Metformin and pathologic complete responses to neoadjuvant chemotherapy in diabetic patients with breast cancer. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology *27*, 3297-3302.

King, M.P., and Attardi, G. (1989). Human cells lacking mtDNA: repopulation with exogenous mitochondria by complementation. Science *246*, 500-503.

Kordes, S., Pollak, M.N., Zwinderman, A.H., Mathot, R.A., Weterman, M.J., Beeker, A., Punt, C.J., Richel, D.J., and Wilmink, J.W. (2015). Metformin in patients with advanced pancreatic cancer: a double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled phase 2 trial. The Lancet. Oncology *16*, 839-847.

Lee, J.H., Kim, T.I., Jeon, S.M., Hong, S.P., Cheon, J.H., and Kim, W.H. (2012). The effects of metformin on the survival of colorectal cancer patients with diabetes mellitus. International journal of cancer. Journal international du cancer *131*, 752-759.

Lewis, C.A., Parker, S.J., Fiske, B.P., McCloskey, D., Gui, D.Y., Green, C.R., Vokes, N.I., Feist, A.M., Vander Heiden, M.G., and Metallo, C.M. (2014). Tracing

compartmentalized NADPH metabolism in the cytosol and mitochondria of mammalian cells. Mol Cell *55*, 253-263.

Li, W., Saud, S.M., Young, M.R., Chen, G., and Hua, B. (2015). Targeting AMPK for cancer prevention and treatment. Oncotarget *6*, 7365-7378.

Luengo, A., Sullivan, L.B., and Heiden, M.G. (2014). Understanding the complex-I-ty of metformin action: limiting mitochondrial respiration to improve cancer therapy. BMC biology *12*, 82.

Madera, D., Vitale-Cross, L., Martin, D., Schneider, A., Molinolo, A.A., Gangane, N., Carey, T.E., McHugh, J.B., Komarck, C.M., Walline, H.M., et al. (2015). Prevention of tumor growth driven by PIK3CA and HPV oncogenes by targeting mTOR signaling with metformin in oral squamous carcinomas expressing OCT3. Cancer prevention research *8*, 197-207.

Madiraju, A.K., Erion, D.M., Rahimi, Y., Zhang, X.M., Braddock, D.T., Albright, R.A., Prigaro, B.J., Wood, J.L., Bhanot, S., MacDonald, M.J., et al. (2014). Metformin suppresses gluconeogenesis by inhibiting mitochondrial glycerophosphate dehydrogenase. Nature *510*, 542-546.

Mayers, J.R., and Vander Heiden, M.G. (2015). Famine versus feast: understanding the metabolism of tumors in vivo. Trends Biochem Sci *40*, 130-140.

Memmott, R.M., Mercado, J.R., Maier, C.R., Kawabata, S., Fox, S.D., and Dennis, P.A. (2010). Metformin prevents tobacco carcinogen--induced lung tumorigenesis. Cancer prevention research *3*, 1066-1076.

Merker, M.P., Audi, S.H., Bongard, R.D., Lindemer, B.J., and Krenz, G.S. (2006). Influence of pulmonary arterial endothelial cells on quinone redox status: effect of hyperoxia-induced NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase 1. American journal of physiology. Lung cellular and molecular physiology *290*, L607-619.

Nies, A.T., Hofmann, U., Resch, C., Schaeffeler, E., Rius, M., and Schwab, M. (2011). Proton pump inhibitors inhibit metformin uptake by organic cation transporters (OCTs). PloS one *6*, e22163.

Owen, M.R., Doran, E., and Halestrap, A.P. (2000). Evidence that metformin exerts its anti-diabetic effects through inhibition of complex 1 of the mitochondrial respiratory chain. The Biochemical journal *348 Pt 3*, 607-614.

Pernicova, I., and Korbonits, M. (2014). Metformin--mode of action and clinical implications for diabetes and cancer. Nature reviews. Endocrinology *10*, 143-156.

Pillai, J.B., Isbatan, A., Imai, S., and Gupta, M.P. (2005). Poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase-1-dependent cardiac myocyte cell death during heart failure is mediated by NAD+ depletion and reduced Sir2alpha deacetylase activity. The Journal of biological chemistry *280*, 43121-43130. Pirinen, E., Canto, C., Jo, Y.S., Morato, L., Zhang, H., Menzies, K.J., Williams, E.G., Mouchiroud, L., Moullan, N., Hagberg, C., et al. (2014). Pharmacological Inhibition of poly(ADP-ribose) polymerases improves fitness and mitochondrial function in skeletal muscle. Cell Metab *19*, 1034-1041.

Pollak, M. (2014). Overcoming Drug Development Bottlenecks With Repurposing: Repurposing biguanides to target energy metabolism for cancer treatment. Nature medicine *20*, 591-593.

Schockel, L., Glasauer, A., Basit, F., Bitschar, K., Truong, H., Erdmann, G., Algire, C., Hagebarth, A., Willems, P.H., Kopitz, C., et al. (2015). Targeting mitochondrial complex I using BAY 87-2243 reduces melanoma tumor growth. Cancer & metabolism *3*, 11.

Shackelford, D.B., Abt, E., Gerken, L., Vasquez, D.S., Seki, A., Leblanc, M., Wei, L., Fishbein, M.C., Czernin, J., Mischel, P.S., et al. (2013). LKB1 inactivation dictates therapeutic response of non-small cell lung cancer to the metabolism drug phenformin. Cancer cell *23*, 143-158.

Shu, Y., Sheardown, S.A., Brown, C., Owen, R.P., Zhang, S., Castro, R.A., lanculescu, A.G., Yue, L., Lo, J.C., Burchard, E.G., et al. (2007). Effect of genetic variation in the organic cation transporter 1 (OCT1) on metformin action. The Journal of clinical investigation *117*, 1422-1431.

Sullivan, L.B., Gui, D.Y., Hosios, A.M., Bush, L.N., Freinkman, E., and Vander Heiden, M.G. (2015). Supporting Aspartate Biosynthesis Is an Essential Function of Respiration in Proliferating Cells. Cell *162*, 552-563.

Wang, B., Hasan, M.K., Alvarado, E., Yuan, H., Wu, H., and Chen, W.Y. (2011). NAMPT overexpression in prostate cancer and its contribution to tumor cell survival and stress response. Oncogene *30*, 907-921.

Wheaton, W.W., Weinberg, S.E., Hamanaka, R.B., Soberanes, S., Sullivan, L.B., Anso, E., Glasauer, A., Dufour, E., Mutlu, G.M., Budinger, G.R., et al. (2014). Metformin inhibits mitochondrial complex I of cancer cells to reduce tumorigenesis. eLife *3*.

Zhang, X., Fryknas, M., Hernlund, E., Fayad, W., De Milito, A., Olofsson, M.H., Gogvadze, V., Dang, L., Pahlman, S., Schughart, L.A., et al. (2014). Induction of mitochondrial dysfunction as a strategy for targeting tumour cells in metabolically compromised microenvironments. Nat Commun *5*, 3295.

Zhu, N., Zhang, Y., Gong, Y.I., He, J., and Chen, X. (2015). Metformin and lung cancer risk of patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: A meta-analysis. Biomedical reports *3*, 235-241.

151

.

Chapter 4: Discussion and Future Directions

Discussion

In order to satisfy the metabolic requirements of proliferation, cancer cells must simultaneously balance the catabolic and anabolic demands of maintaining homeostasis and acquiring biomass, respectively. Because proliferating cancer cells have this distinct additional anabolic burden compared to most other cells in normal tissues, this is a potential metabolic vulnerability that can be targeted for cancer therapy. In order to better understand how the mammalian metabolic network supports proliferative metabolism, we examined how mitochondrial respiration supports proliferation.

For non-proliferating cells, respiration is typically considered as an ATP-producing catabolic process that is important to maintain homeostasis. In contrast, we find that in proliferating cells, respiration serves a crucial anabolic role by providing access to electron acceptors to support aspartate synthesis (Sullivan et al., 2015). Indeed, we find that mitochondrial ATP production appears dispensable for supporting proliferation in cells with access to sufficient glucose. While in many proliferative contexts respiration likely supports both ATP production and aspartate biosynthesis, our finding that respiration is specifically required for aspartate biosynthesis for proliferation as opposed to ATP production highlights a distinct anabolic role for respiration.

Defining this anabolic role for respiration sheds some light on a potentially targetable vulnerability of proliferative metabolism. Proliferating cells require respiration for access

to electron acceptors to maintain a high NAD+/NADH ratio, as this ability to oxidize nutrients is needed by cells for aspartate synthesis. However, with respect to catabolism the NAD+/NADH ratio inversely correlates with energy charge, such that a low NAD+/NADH ratio favors ATP production. Thus, while respiration is seen as an essential process in most tissues, because the redox ratio needed for respiration to support ATP production is disparate for from what is needed for oxidative biosynthesis, there may exist a therapeutic window for respiration inhibitors in targeting cancer.

Consistent with this possibility, recently an abundance of clinical data has shown that the use of the mitochondrial complex I inhibitor, metformin, is associated with improved cancer outcomes, with reductions in cancer incidence and with decreased cancer mortality observed across many tumor types (Evans et al., 2005; Gandini et al., 2014; He et al., 2012; Lee et al., 2012; Zhu et al., 2015). We extend these findings by showing that the anti-proliferative effects of metformin tracks with its effect on cellular NAD+/NADH ratio (Gui et al., 2016). Furthermore, altering the metabolic environment to externally perturb the cellular NAD+/NADH ratio and aspartate levels, modulates the antiproliferative efficacy of metformin in predictable ways. These findings highlight inhibiting mitochondrial respiration, NAD+/NADH homeostasis and/or decreasing aspartate availability as possible approaches to target cancer metabolism. Additionally, as these factors are related and will be affected by available nutrients and access to electron acceptors that keep the NAD+/NADH ratio in a range that allows proliferation, the metabolic environment can be an additional determinant of whether cells are sensitive to drugs that aim to target these pathways. Since some existing chemotherapies can target metabolism in ways that may affect these pathways, considering environment may inform how best to deploy existing therapies in patients.

Future Directions

The findings in this thesis offer some insight into how respiration and NAD+/NADH ratio support proliferative metabolism and suggest some considerations for how best to target metabolism for cancer therapy. However, major questions regarding the role of respiration and NAD+/NADH homeostasis in supporting proliferative metabolism remain, as discussed below.

Targeting respiration to limit electron acceptor and aspartate availability in vivo

Chapter 2 of this thesis, as well as corroborating work from others (Birsoy et al. 2015), offers evidence that when respiration is inhibited in tissue culture, electron acceptors availability and aspartate availability can be limiting for proliferation. However, as highlighted in Chapter 3 of this thesis, there is no one universal proliferative metabolism, and metabolic dependencies can be modulated by factors such as environment. Importantly, whether targeting respiration ever limits electron acceptor availability or aspartate availability for proliferation in tumor metabolic environments remains an open question.

Standard tissue culture for cancer cells is a poor mimic for the metabolic environment of tumors for a variety of reasons, most notably in supplying non-physiological levels of many nutrients to cells (Davidson et al., 2016; Mayers and Vander Heiden, 2015). With respect to oxygen availability, while cells in culture are exposed to atmospheric oxygen, oxygen availability in animal tissues is much lower (Bertout et al., 2008). The concentration of aspartate in blood is around 10 μ M, among the lowest levels of all circulating amino acids (Mayers and Vander Heiden, 2015). Some tissue culture media

contains aspartate, but aspartate is not permeable in most cells, thus, it unlikely to be taken up from extracellular source in most tissues at physiological concentrations of this amino acid. Thus, it would be reasonable to predict that cells in tumors may be more limited for electron acceptors than cells in vitro.

While it is not known whether electron transport activity (ETC) is required in vivo to provide electron acceptor availability, it has been shown that pharmacologic inhibition of ETC activity inhibits tumor growth in several cancer models (Shackelford et al., 2013; Wheaton et al., 2014; Zhang et al., 2014). In Chapter 3 we show that decreased proliferation following metformin treatment correlated with decreased aspartate and NAD+ levels. However, whether the decrease in aspartate and NAD+ are causative for inhibiting proliferation as opposed to correlative is currently unknown. Adding another layer of complexity to the question is the observation that many cancers have decreased mitochondrial respiratory capacity compared to normal tissues. There are also familial cancer syndromes, where mitochondrial enzymes including fumarate hydratase and succinate dehydrogenase are deleted as tumor suppressors leading to decreased respiratory activity. The fact that tumors can proliferate with decreased or minimal mitochondrial respiratory capacity suggests that there may be contexts where electron acceptors and/or aspartate are not limiting. An alternative possibility is that in some tumor contexts, alternative metabolic pathways other than respiration exist for cells to access electron acceptors or aspartate. In either event, understanding how tumor cells either bypass or satisfy the requirement for electron acceptors and/or aspartate will lead to important insights into proliferative metabolism in general.

Interactions between de novo fatty acid synthesis, access to electron acceptors, and aspartate availability

The metabolic network is highly interconnected, and here we discuss the potentially underappreciated interplay between fatty acid synthesis and electron acceptor availability. When electron acceptors are limiting, such as when cells are exposed to decreased oxygen tension, it may be advantageous for cells to utilize less oxidative pathways for synthesizing aspartate. One important pathway for de novo aspartate synthesis with decreased electron acceptor demand is reductive aspartate synthesis. For reductive aspartate synthesis, alpha-ketoglutarate is reductively carboxylated at the isocitrate dehydrogenase (IDH) step to generate isocitrate. Isocitrate is subsequently isomerized to form citrate. Next, citrate is cleaved by the enzyme ACLY to form oxaloacetate and acetyl-coA, and oxaloacetate is subsequently transaminated to produce aspartate.

Consistent with the possibility that reductive aspartate synthesis is an important adaptive metabolic pathway, reductive carboxylation of alpha-ketoglutarate increases under hypoxia and in other contexts of electron acceptor insufficiency including as a result of genetic defects in mitochondrial respiration (Fendt et al., 2013; Metallo et al., 2011; Mullen et al., 2011; Wise et al., 2011). Activation of HIF, a physiological response to hypoxia, also drives reductive carboxylation of alpha-ketoglutarate (Gamiero et al., 2013). Additionally, recent work suggests that tumors may engage in increased reductive alpha-ketoglutarate carboxylation relative to the same cancer cells grown in culture, consistent with conditions of decreased oxygen availability favouring reductive carboxylation (Davidson et al., 2016).

Reductive carboxylation of alpha-ketoglutarate to produce fatty acids is accompanied by increased reductive aspartate synthesis (Mullen et al., 2014; Sullivan et al., 2015); however, the use of this pathway has been primarily investigated from the perspective of its role in de novo lipid synthesis. Whereas, in normoxia cells primarily use oxidized glucose carbons for *de novo* lipid synthesis, under hypoxia reductive carboxylation of alpha-ketoglutarate (from glutamine) accounts for upwards of 80% of the carbons in *de novo* synthesized lipids (Metallo et al., 2011). This dramatic change in the *de novo* lipid biosynthetic pathway under hypoxia suggests a possible adaptive role. Lipids are not necessarily intrinsically limiting during hypoxia for cells in culture, because most cells are capable of scavenging the lipids which are abundant in tissue culture media (Bensaad et al., 2014; Kamphorst et al., 2013). The fact that lipids accumulate during hypoxia is another long standing observation arguing against fatty acid limitation in standard culture conditions, even under hypoxia (Gordon et al., 1977).

An alternative possibility for explaining the change in lipid metabolism under hypoxia is that *de novo* lipid synthesis via reductive carboxylation, may be an important adaptation to electron acceptor insufficiency independent of the net production of lipids. Both reductive aspartate synthesis and lipid synthesis via reductive carboxylation requires the ACLY step where citrate is cleaved to form oxaloacetate and acetyl-CoA. Since, reductive carboxylation flux through IDH is governed by the alpha-ketoglutarate to citrate ratio (Fendt et al., 2013), it is possible that lipid production may drive citrate cleavage by consuming acetyl-CoA. In this scenario, lipid production would increase reductive flux through IDH in order to drive reductive aspartate synthesis. In this model, lipid synthesis would have an adaptive role in by favoring a more electron acceptor efficient pathway to

acquire aspartate. Understanding the extent by which *de novo* lipid synthesis is influenced by electron acceptor insufficiency and uncovering other unrecognized connections between disparate metabolic pathways may reveal insight into how to better therapeutically target the metabolism of proliferating cancer cells.

Revisiting the Warburg Effect

Warburg's observation that cancer cells have dramatically increased glucose consumption and lactate production, even in the presence of oxygen was one of the first cancer phenotypes identified (Warburg et al., 1924). Since Warburg's observation there have been countless hypotheses regarding the potential functions of the Warburg effect ranging from supporting rapid ATP synthesis to supporting cellular signalling. However, almost a hundred years later, the function of the Warburg effect is still an open question (Liberti and Locasale, 2016).

One of the key mysteries regarding the Warburg effect is the paradox of why cells continue lactate fermentation of glucose even in the presence of oxygen. Oxidative metabolism of glucose yields far more ATP per molecule of glucose than lactic acid fermentation. Thus, at first glance aerobic glycolysis appears to be a highly inefficient pathway for glucose consumption. However, when considering the question of metabolic efficiency it is important to define both what nutrient substrates are available and/or limiting as well as define which products require optimization to produce.

While all cells must satisfy ATP demands for both survival and proliferation, ATP may not be limiting for proliferation. Thus, cancer cell metabolism is not necessarily optimized

for ATP yield per glucose consumed. Furthermore, among nutrients, glucose may also not be limiting, and in an environment where glucose is not limiting, glucose utilization would not have to be "efficient."

In this thesis we identify that solving the bioenergetics problem of balancing NAD+/NADH homeostasis is required for cellular proliferation independent of ATP generation. Indeed, in Chapter 3 of this thesis we show that under certain environmental conditions cellular NAD+/NADH ratio directly correlates with proliferation rate, while neither ATP levels nor energy charge (ATP/AMP ratio) correlate with proliferation rate. This suggests that there are at least some contexts where the NAD+/NADH ratio is more limiting for proliferation than ATP levels. Under these conditions, to support continued proliferation, cellular metabolism would need to maximize the NAD+/NADH ratio even at the expense of ATP production.

Interestingly, the Warburg effect allows cells to maintain a high NAD+/NADH ratio by decreasing NADH production from pyruvate oxidation and increasing NAD+ production by lactic acid fermentation. Thus, if proliferating cells were more limited for NAD+ regeneration than ATP production, aerobic glycolysis would be the more "efficient" pathway for supporting proliferative metabolism. Importantly, while we have defined some contexts where the NAD+/NADH ratio is more limiting for proliferation than ATP, as previously discussed, it remains an open question the extent to which electron acceptor availability for maintaining NAD+/NADH ratio is ever limiting in tumors. Answering this question may be the key to finally unraveling one of the primary mysteries surrounding the Warburg effect.

Closing thoughts

Understanding how metabolic reprogramming contributes to tumor development and how metabolic liabilities can be exploited to treat cancer is far from complete. Nevertheless, chemotherapies targeting metabolism have been effective cancer treatments for decades, and the success of these therapies provides evidence that a therapeutic window to target malignant metabolism exists. New insights into the differential metabolic dependencies of tumors have suggested new therapeutic strategies to exploit altered metabolism, and many are being evaluated in pre-clinical models or clinical trials. A better understanding of cancer metabolism will inform future strategies for targeting the metabolic requirements of cancers.

References

Bensaad, K., Favaro, E., Lewis, C.A., Peck, B., Lord, S., Collins, J.M., Pinnick, K.E., Wigfield, S., Buffa, F.M., Li, J.-L., et al. (2014). Fatty acid uptake and lipid storage induced by HIF-1a contribute to cell growth and survival after hypoxia-reoxygenation. Cell Rep. *9*, 349–365.

Bertout, J.A., Patel, S.A., and Simon, M.C. (2008). The impact of O2 availability on human cancer. Nature reviews Cancer *8*, 967-975.

Birsoy, K., Wang, T., Chen, W.W., Freinkman, E., Abu-Remaileh, M., and Sabatini, D.M. (2015). An Essential Role of the Mitochondrial Electron Transport Chain in Cell Proliferation Is to Enable Aspartate Synthesis. Cell *162*, 540-551.

Davidson, S.M., Papagiannakopoulos, T., Olenchock, B.A., Heyman, J.E., Keibler, M.A., Luengo, A., Bauer, M.R., Jha, A.K., O'Brien, J.P., Pierce, K.A., et al. (2016). Environment Impacts the Metabolic Dependencies of Ras-Driven Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. Cell Metab. *23*, 517–528.

Evans, J.M., Donnelly, L.A., Emslie-Smith, A.M., Alessi, D.R., and Morris, A.D. (2005). Metformin and reduced risk of cancer in diabetic patients. Bmj *330*, 1304-1305.

Fendt, S.-M., Beli, E.L., Keibler, M.A., Olenchock, B.A., Mayers, J.R., Wasylenko, T.M., Vokes, N.I., Guarente, L., Vander Heiden, M.G., and Stephanopoulos, G. (2013). Reductive glutamine metabolism is a function of the α-ketoglutarate to citrate ratio in cells. Nat. Commun. *4*, 2236.

Gameiro, P.A., Yang, J., Metelo, A.M., Pérez-Carro, R., Baker, R., Wang, Z., Arreola, A., Rathmell, W.K., Olumi, A., López-Larrubia, P., et al. (2013). In vivo HIF-mediated reductive carboxylation is regulated by citrate levels and sensitizes VHL-deficient cells to glutamine deprivation. Cell Metab. *17*, 372–385.

Gandini, S., Puntoni, M., Heckman-Stoddard, B.M., Dunn, B.K., Ford, L., DeCensi, A., and Szabo, E. (2014). Metformin and cancer risk and mortality: a systematic review and meta-analysis taking into account biases and confounders. Cancer prevention research *7*, 867-885.

Gui, D.Y., Sullivan, L.B., Luengo, A., Hosios, A.M., Bush, L.N., Gitego, N., Davidson, S.M., Freinkman, E., Thomas, C.J., and Vander Heiden, M.G. (2016). Environment Dictates Dependence on Mitochondrial Complex I for NAD+ and Aspartate Production and Determines Cancer Cell Sensitivity to Metformin. Cell Metab. *24*, 716–727.

Gordon, G.B., Barcza, M.A., and Bush, M.E. (1977). Lipid accumulation of hypoxic tissue culture cells. Am. J. Pathol. *88*, 663–678.

He, X., Esteva, F.J., Ensor, J., Hortobagyi, G.N., Lee, M.H., and Yeung, S.C. (2012). Metformin and thiazolidinediones are associated with improved breast cancer-specific survival of diabetic women with HER2+ breast cancer. Annals of oncology : official journal of the European Society for Medical Oncology / ESMO *23*, 1771-1780.

Kamphorst, J.J., Cross, J.R., Fan, J., de Stanchina, E., Mathew, R., White, E.P., Thompson, C.B., and Rabinowitz, J.D. (2013). Hypoxic and Ras-transformed cells support growth by scavenging unsaturated fatty acids from lysophospholipids. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *110*, 8882–8887.

Lee, J.H., Kim, T.I., Jeon, S.M., Hong, S.P., Cheon, J.H., and Kim, W.H. (2012). The effects of metformin on the survival of colorectal cancer patients with diabetes mellitus. International journal of cancer. Journal international du cancer *131*, 752-759.

Liberti, M.V., and Locasale, J.W. (2016). The Warburg Effect: How Does it Benefit Cancer Cells? Trends Biochem. Sci. *41*, 211–218.

Mayers, J.R., and Vander Heiden, M.G. (2015). Famine versus feast: understanding the metabolism of tumors in vivo. Trends Biochem. Sci. *40*, 130–140.

Metallo, C.M., Gameiro, P.A., Bell, E.L., Mattaini, K.R., Yang, J., Hiller, K., Jewell, C.M., Johnson, Z.R., Irvine, D.J., Guarente, L., et al. (2011). Reductive glutamine metabolism by IDH1 mediates lipogenesis under hypoxia. Nature *481*, 380–384.

Mullen, A.R., Wheaton, W.W., Jin, E.S., Chen, P.-H., Sullivan, L.B., Cheng, T., Yang, Y., Linehan, W.M., Chandel, N.S., and DeBerardinis, R.J. (2011). Reductive carboxylation supports growth in tumour cells with defective mitochondria. Nature *481*, 385–388.

Mullen, A.R., Hu, Z., Shi, X., Jiang, L., Boroughs, L.K., Kovacs, Z., Boriack, R., Rakheja, D., Sullivan, L.B., Linehan, W.M., et al. (2014). Oxidation of alpha-ketoglutarate is required for reductive carboxylation in cancer cells with mitochondrial defects. Cell Rep. *7*, 1679–1690.

Shackelford, D.B., Abt, E., Gerken, L., Vasquez, D.S., Seki, A., Leblanc, M., Wei, L., Fishbein, M.C., Czernin, J., Mischel, P.S., *et al.* (2013). LKB1 inactivation dictates therapeutic response of non-small cell lung cancer to the metabolism drug phenformin. Cancer cell *23*, 143-158

Sullivan, L.B., Gui, D.Y., Hosios, A.M., Bush, L.N., Freinkman, E., and Vander Heiden, M.G. (2015). Supporting Aspartate Biosynthesis Is an Essential Function of Respiration in Proliferating Cells. Cell *162*, 552–563.

Warburg, O., Posener, K., and Negelein, E. (1924). On the metabolism of carcinoma cells. Biochem Z *152*, 309-344.

Wheaton, W.W., Weinberg, S.E., Hamanaka, R.B., Soberanes, S., Sullivan, L.B., Anso, E., Glasauer, A., Dufour, E., Mutlu, G.M., Budigner, G.S., *et al.* (2014). Metformin inhibits mitochondrial complex I of cancer cells to reduce tumorigenesis. Elife *3*, e02242.

Wise, D.R., Ward, P.S., Shay, J.E.S., Cross, J.R., Gruber, J.J., Sachdeva, U.M., Platt, J.M., DeMatteo, R.G., Simon, M.C., and Thompson, C.B. (2011). Hypoxia promotes isocitrate dehydrogenase-dependent carboxylation of a-ketoglutarate to citrate to support cell growth and viability. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *108*, 19611–19616.

Zhang, X., Fryknas, M., Hernlund, E., Fayad, W., De Milito, A., Olofsson, M.H., Gogvadze, V., Dang, L., Pahlman, S., Schughart, L.A., *et al.* (2014). Induction of mitochondrial dysfunction as a strategy for targeting tumour cells in metabolically compromised microenvironments. Nat Commun *5*, 3295.

Zhu, N., Zhang, Y., Gong, Y.I., He, J., and Chen, X. (2015). Metformin and lung cancer risk of patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: A meta-analysis. Biomedical reports *3*, 235-241.